

Role of DAXX and CAF-1 in targeting histone H3.3 into X chromosome and repetitive elements

Hatem Salem

► To cite this version:

Hatem Salem. Role of DAXX and CAF-1 in targeting histone H3.3 into X chromosome and repetitive elements. Cellular Biology. Université de Strasbourg, 2019. English. NNT: 2019STRAJ105. tel-03510306

HAL Id: tel-03510306 https://theses.hal.science/tel-03510306

Submitted on 4 Jan 2022

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.





UNIVERSITÉ DE STRASBOURG

ÉCOLE DOCTORALE des Sciences de la Vie et de la Santé IGBMC – CNRS UMR 7104 – Inserm U 1258

THÈSE présentée par : Hatem SALEM

Soutenue le : 20 décembre 2019

Pour obtenir le grade de : **Docteur de l'université de Strasbourg** Discipline : Sciences de la Vie et de la Santé Spécialité : Aspects Moléculaires et Cellulaires de la Biologie

Role de DAXX et de CAF-1 dans le ciblage de l'histone H3.3 au chromosome X et aux elements répétés

THÈSE dirigée par : Dr HAMICHE Ali	Directeur de Recherche CNRS, IGBMC, Illkirch	
RAPPORTEURS : Dr THIRIET Christophe Dr GROISMAN Regina	Chargé de Recherche CNRS, Université de Nantes Chargé de Recherche INSERM, Institut Gustave Roussy	
EXAMINATEUR : Dr BOUCHER Philippe	Professeur à l'Université de Strasbourg	

This Thesis is dedicated to my Parents...!

«A **scientific truth** does not triumph by convincing its opponents and making them see the light, but rather because its opponents eventually die and a new generation grows up that is familiar with it *»*

Max Planck

ACKNOWLEGMENTS

First and foremost, praises and thanks to God, the Almighty, for everything.

I would like to express my deep and sincere gratitude to my supervisor Dr. Ali Hamiche, for giving me the opportunity to join his lab and providing invaluable guidance throughout this thesis. His dynamism, vision, sincerity and motivation have deeply inspired me. It was a great privilege and honour to work and study under his guidance. I am extremely grateful for what you have offered me Ali.

Also, I express my thanks to Dr. Christian Bronner, for his guidance and for helping me during my thesis.

I am extending my thanks to Dr. Christophe Thiriet, Dr. Regina Groisman and Professor Philippe Boucher for their acceptance to be members in my thesis jury and for their valuable time spent to critically read and comment on my thesis work.

My Special thanks to Dr. Khalid Ouararhni and Dr. Christophe Papin for helping me to finish my work by teaching me the methodology and carry out the research and to present the research works as clearly as possible.

I would like to say thanks to my friends and laboratory colleagues, Dr. Abdulkhaleg, Dr. Arslan, Dr. Phillipe. Dr. Catherine, Alexia, Isabel, Dimitra for everything.

I am extremely grateful to the Libyan higher education ministry and Biotechnology Research Centre (BTRC), Libya.

Thanks for the "Affaires Culturelles Bureau" of the Libyan Embassy in Paris for their efforts to facilitate my staying in France, during my study, and for their kind collaboration.

Finally, my thanks go to all the people who have supported me to complete the research work directly or indirectly.

List of Abbreviations

5caC	5-carboxylcytosine
5fC	5-formylcytosine
5hmC	5-hydroxymethylcytosine
5mC	5-methylcytosine
ATP	Adenosine TriPhosphate
ATRX	Alpha-Thalassemia/mental Retardation syndrome, X-linked
BER	Base Excision Repair
Cabin1	Calcineurin-binding protein 1
CENP-A	CENtromeric Protein A
CAF-1	Chromatin Assembly Factor 1
ChIP-seq	Chromatin Immunoprecipitation - sequencing
CHD	CHromodomain-helicase-DNA-binding protein
cds	Coding DNA sequence
cDNA	Complementary DeoxyRibonucleic Acid
cKI	Conditional Knock-In
DAXX	Death domain-Associated protein 6
DNA	DeoxyRibonucleic Acid
DIPG	Diffuse Intrinsic Pontine Glioma
DBD	DNA-Binding Domain
DNMT	DNA-MethylTransferase
ES	Embryonic Stem Cell
ESC	Embryonic Stem Cell
ERV	Endogenous RetroVirus
EZH1/2	Enhancer of Zeste Homolog 1 or 2
EGFR	Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor
EMT	Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition
FBS	Fetal Bovine Serum
FCS	Fetal Calf Serum
FGF	Fibroblast Growth Factor
HAS	Helicase/SANT-Associated
HP1	Heterochromatin Protein 1
HGG	High-Grade Glioma
HAT	Histone AcetylTransferase
HIRA	Histone cell cycle RegulAtor 1
HDAC	Histone DeAcetylTransferase
HKDM	Histone Lysine DeMethylase
KDM	Histone Lysine DeMethylase

HKMT	Histone Lysine MethylTransferase
HRP	HorseRadish Peroxidase
ISWI	Imitation SWItch
lgG	Immunoglobulin G
IP	ImmunoPrecipitation
INO80	Inositol requiring 80
IAP	Intracisternal A-Particle
KAP1	KRAB-Associated Protein 1
LTR	Log Terminal Repeats
LINE	Long Interspersed Nuclear Elements
mRNA	Messenger RiboNucleic Acid
MBD	Methyl-CpG-binding domain protein
MMR	MisMatch Repair
MEF	Mouse Embryonic Fibroblasts
mESC	Mouse Embryonic Stem Cell
MYCN	N-myc proto-oncogene protein
	Nucleosome Remodeling and Deacetylase/Histone
NuRD/HDAC	DeACetylase
ORF	Open Reading Frame
PHGG	Pediatric High-Grade Glioma
RD/RI	Replication Dependent/Replication Independent
RD/RI	Replication Dependent/Replication Independent

Summary in french

Rôle de DAXX et de CAF-1 dans le ciblage de l'histone H3.3 au chromosome X et aux éléments répétés

Résumé

L'histone chaperonne DAXX cible H3.3 à l'hétérochromatine péricentrique et télomérique de manière indépendante de la réplication. Le mécanisme qui assure un recrutement approprié de DAXX dans la région hétérochromatique est largement inconnu. En utilisant des approches protéomiques et biochimiques, nous montrons qu'en plus du complexe ATRX/H3.3 bien connu, DAXX forme un complexe alternatif avec CAF-1, ADNP, HP1 et Trim28. DAXX interagit physiquement avec l'extrémité C-terminale de la sous-unité CAF1-p150 via son domaine N-terminal. Le domaine SIM de DAXX s'est avéré essentiel pour cibler DAXX sur les PML-NB, pour le recrutement de CAF-1 à l'hétérochromatine. Nos données génomiques ont également révélé que DAXX cible les éléments répétitifs et le chromosomes X. L'inactivation de DAXX entraîne un appauvrissement majeur de CAF-1 des SINEs et LINEs du chromosome X. Nos données indiquent une nouvelle fonction de DAXX et de CAF-1 dans le ciblage de H3.3 sur le chromosome X.

Introduction

Les organismes eucaryotes sont fréquemment pluricellulaires et différenciés, ainsi les cellules sont spécialisées et n'expriment qu'une partie de l'information dont elles disposent. Pour assurer le contrôle de l'information génétique, la cellule a développé des moyens d'organisation spatiale de l'ADN très sophistiqués. Il est généralement admis que cette organisation sous forme de chromatine détermine les compétences de l'ADN à toutes les fonctions biologiques. Le nucléosome constitue l'unité structurale de base de la chromatine. Il est composé d'un fragment d'ADN de 147 paires de bases enrouler autour d'un octamère des quatre histones (H2A, H2B, H3 et H4) (Luger et al, 1997). D'un point de vue fonctionnel, les nucléosomes peuvent réguler de nombreux processus cellulaires en contrôlant l'accessibilité de certaines protéines à leurs séquences cibles sur l'ADN (Beato et Eisfeld, 1997). Pour moduler cette fonction, la cellule utilise différentes stratégies incluant la méthylation de l'ADN, les modifications d'histones, le remodelage dépendant de l'ATP de la chromatine, les chaperons d'histones et enfin les variants d'histones (Henikoff et Ahmad, 2005 ; Narlika et al, 2002 ; Polo et Almouzni, 2006).

Le remplacement des histones canoniques par des variants est aujourd'hui considéré comme un des mécanismes fondamentaux de l'organisation et la régulation du génome. Les variants

sont des isoformes non allélique des histones conventionnels capables de les substituer au sein du nucléosome, ce qui génère un nouveau nucléosome aux propriétés structurales et à la stabilité modifiée. Ainsi, des analyses biophysiques ont montré par exemple qu'un nucléosome contenant les variants H3.3 et H2A.Z est significativement moins stable qu'un nucléosome contenant H2A ou H3 (Jin et Felsenfeld, 2007). Cette déstabilisation engendrée par les variants pourrait être à l'origine de changements locaux de la structure chromatinienne, ce qui pourrait avoir des répercussions transcriptionnelles. De plus, les variations de séquences introduites chez les variants pourraient favoriser le recrutement de partenaires protéiques spécifiques capables de modifier également la structure chromatinienne.

A ce jour, il a été mis en évidence des variants pour les histones H2A, H2B et H3. Au nombre de quatre, les variants de H3 présentent une diversité de fonction tout à fait remarquable : trois fortement similaire H3.1, H3.2 et H3.3, et un isoforme plus divergent CENPA (Sarma et Reinberg, 2005).

Le variant H3.3 est exprimée chez les métazoaires et diffère de la forme canonique par quatre acides aminés dont trois sont localisés au sein du domaine globulaire. Ces trois résidus semblent suffisants pour induire un mécanisme différent de déposition au cours du cycle cellulaire. En effet, H3.1 et H3.2 sont incorporés spécifiquement au cours de la phase S alors que H3.3 peut aussi être incorporé durant la phase G1 (Ahmad et Henikoff, 2002). H3.3 peut être déposé hors de la phase S par une voie d'assemblage indépendante de la réplication au sein de région génomique où l'activité induit une perte de nucléosome (Ahmad et Henikoff, 2002 ; Mito et al, 2005 et 2007 ; Schwartz et Ahmad, 2005). Les machineries de déposition impliquées dans l'assemblage de la chromatine indépendant ou dépendant de la réplication ne sont pas encore complètement caractérisées. La machinerie principalement identifiée chez l'homme pour la déposition dépendante de la réplication de H3.1 est le complexe CAF-1, alors que pour H3.3 le complexe impliqué dans la déposition indépendante de la réplication est composé soit de la protéine HirA (Tagami et al, 2004) ou de la protéine Daxx (Drané et al, 2010).

Résultats

Purification du complexe e-DAXX et identification de ses partenaires protéiques associés Des travaux antérieurs du laboratoire ont montré que l'histone chaperonne DAXX forme un complexe stable avec le facteur de remodelage de la chromatine ATRX qui cible H3.3 vers des foyers hétérochromatiques tels que les péricentromes et les télomères. Cependant, il reste à déterminer comment DAXX exerce sa fonction au niveau de ces régions. Pour mieux comprendre la fonction de DAXX, nous avons sauvé les lignées de fibroblastes embryonnaires (MEF) de souris knock-out (Daxx-/-) avec DAXX marqué par une étiquette en C-terminal contenant les épitopes Flag et HA (e-DAXX) en utilisant la transduction rétrovirale (Drane et al., 2010). Comme attendu, les modèles d'expression e-DAXX montrent une coloration spécifique dans tout le nucléoplasme, formant de nombreux points correspondant à la coloration DAPI des foyers hétérochromatiques et des corps de la PML (PML-NBs) (Fig. 1A). Le complexe DAXX marqué par les épitopes Flag et HA a ensuite été purifié par double immunoaffinité à partir d'un extrait nucléaire soluble de MEF par immunoprécipitations séquentielles avec un anticorps anti-Flag suivi d'un anticorps anti-HA (Drane et al., 2010). Les protéines associées à DAXX ont été séparées sur des gels à gradient de polyacrylamide contenant 4 à 12 % de SDS, puis colorées à l'argent (Fig.1B, panneau supérieur). Les analyses par immuno-blotting et spectrométrie de masse ont permis d'identifier ATRX et H3.3 comme des composants spécifiques du complexe DAXX (Figs. 1B panneau inférieur, 1C) comme nous l'avons montré précédemment (Drane et al., 2010). De manière surprenante, d'autres partenaires inattendus ont été trouvé dans ce complexe, tels que le complexe spécifique H3.1 CAF-1 (p150, p60 et p48), le marqueur spécifique de l'hétérochromatine HP1, l'ubiquitine ligase Trim28, l'ubiquitine hydrolase USP7 et le facteur de transcription potentiel ADNP (Figs. 1B, 1C). Pour éliminer la possibilité que nous ayons purifié un mélange de complexes de prédéposition H3.3 et H3.1, nous avons analysé davantage la teneur en H3.1 de la bande H3.3 par spectrométrie de masse. Les analyses par spectrométrie de masse ont révélé que le complexe nucléaire associé à DAXX contient principalement du H3.3 puisque le rapport H3.3/H3.1 a été trouvé égal à 20/1 (Fig 1C). Pour mieux comprendre la composition du complexe, nous avons soumis le complexe e-DAXX à une séparation sur gradient de glycérol (15% à 35%, Fig. 2A). Les expériences d'immunoblotting ont montré que les protéines associées à DAXX se fractionnaient en au moins deux complexes macromoléculaires. Dans le complexe de poids moléculaire inférieur (LMWC), DAXX est associé à ATRX et H3.3 (Fig. 2A, B). Dans le complexe de haut poids moléculaire (HMWC), DAXX et H3,3 sont associés au complexe d'assemblage de la chromatine CAF-1, à HP1 et à ADNP et à d'autres protéines (Fig. 2B). Ces expériences montrent que DAXX appartient à au moins deux complexes macromoléculaires différents spécifiques de H3.3. Dans notre étude précédente, réalisée sur des cellules HeLa, nous avions observé que deux des trois sous-unités CAF-1 (p150 et p60) étaient hautement spécifiques du complexe e-H3.1, alors que la troisième sous-unité (p46/48) était un composant commun aux complexes e-H3.1 et e-H3.3 (Drane et al., 2010). Dans la présente étude, réalisée sur des cellules MEF, nous avons trouvé de façon surprenante que CAF-1 fait partie du complexe DAXX-ATRX-H3.3.

DAXX interagit physiquement in vitro avec CAF-1

DAXX est une protéine acide (pI 4.6) contenant un domaine riche en résidus acides glutamiques et d'acide aspartiques incorporé dans un domaine homologue au chaperonne d'histone de levure Rtt106, deux domaines d'HAP et un domaine riche en S/P/T (Fig. 2C). Nous avons ensuite émis l'hypothèse que DAXX interagit physiquement avec la sous-unité CAF1-p150, et nous avons tenté d'évaluer ces interactions par des essais pull down. FLAG-DAXX et HA-CAF1-p150 ont été co-exprimés dans des cellules d'insectes SF9 et ont été immunoprécioité à l'aide de billes d'agarose anti-FLAG M2. Les protéines liées aux billes ont été largement lavée et éluée à l'aide du peptide FLAG. Les protéines éluées ont été analysées sur un gel SDS-PAGE et colorées au bleu colloïdal (Fig. 2D). Les données obtenues ont montré que DAXX interagit physiquement avec CAF1-p150. Pour déterminer plus précisément la région de DAXX impliquée dans l'interaction avec CAF1-p150, nous avons généré des mutants de délétion incluant le domaine N-terminal (1-302), central (302-495) ou C-terminal (495-740) de DAXX. Ces mutants ont été exprimés sous forme de protéines de fusion avec la GST et ont été étudiés pour leur liaison à CAF1-p150 ou ATRX (Fig. 2E). L'immunoblotting à l'aide d'un anticorps dirigé contre CAF1p150 et ATRX a révélé que ni le domaine semblable à Rtt106 ni le domaine riche en S/P/T ne se liaient à CAF1-p150 ou à ATRX. En revanche, la région (1-302) englobant les deux domaines PAH (Paired Amphipathic Helix) (PAH1 & PAH2), a montré une forte interaction avec CAF1-p150 et ATRX à 0,15 ou 0,5 M de NaCl.

Nous avons ensuite déterminé la région de CAF1-p150 impliquée dans l'interaction avec DAXX. Nous avons généré des mutants de délétion de CAF1-p150 comprenant le domaine N-terminal (1-296), central (297-641) ou C-terminal (642-938) de CAF1-p150 (Fig. 2F). Ces mutants ont été exprimés dans les bactéries sous forme de protéines de fusion 6xHis et ont été testés pour leur interaction avec GST-DAXX (1-302) (Fig. 2G). L'immunoblotting à l'aide d'un anticorps anti-His dirigé contre les domaines His-CAF1-p150 a révélé que DAXX interagit exclusivement avec la région C-terminale de CAF1-p150 (642-938).

Ces données démontrent que la partie N-terminale de DAXX est le médiateur de l'interaction avec ATRX et la partie C-terminale de CAF1-p150. Le domaine de type Rtt106 étant impliqué dans une forte interaction avec l'histone H3.3 (Drane et al., 2010), nos résultats suggèrent que DAXX assure le lien entre ATRX ou CAF-1 et H3.3 et que les deux protéines pourraient probablement entrer en compétition pour le même site de liaison sur DAXX.

Le passage transitoire du DAXX à travers les PML-NBs est essentiel pour son association avec le CAF-1 mais pas avec ATRX.

La protéine DAXX est un des composants majeurs des PML-NBs et interagit directement avec ATRX (Drane et al., 2010). La somoylation de DAXX est essentielle pour son accumulation au niveau des PML-NBs. Le ciblage de DAXX sur les PML-NBs est un événement clé dans la régulation de la transcription hétérochromatique péricentrique (Lin, Lucia, Ishov).

Le mécanisme de répression de l'hétérochromatine par DAXX est inconnu et la chronologie de sa transition séquentielle des PML-NBs vers l'hétérochromatine reste à déterminer. Nous avons donc évalué les effets de la délétion du domaine Sumo-Interacting Motif (SIM) C-terminal de DAXX, correspondant aux sept derniers résidus d'acides aminés de la protéine (Fig. 3A). Par conséquent, la protéine DAXX- Δ S, dépourvue du domaine SIM, a été exprimée de façon stable dans les cellules MEF Daxx-/-. Contrairement à e-DAXX de type sauvage, e-DAXX- Δ S n'a pas réussi à se co-localiser avec les PML-NBs (Fig. 3B), ce qui suggère que le domaine SIM C-terminal de DAXX est impliqué dans le ciblage de DAXX vers les PML-NBs. De même, nous avons étudié la localisation de CAF1-p150 par rapport aux PML-NBs. Nous avons observé que la majorité du signal correspondant à CAF1-p150 étaient co-localisés avec les PML-NBs (Fig. 3B).

Cette hypothèse a été confirmée par l'absence de cette forme modifiée de DAXX dans le complexe e-DAXX- Δ S (Fig. 3D). Il est intéressant de noter que nous n'avons pas pu détecter le complexe CAF1 parmi les protéines associées à e-DAXX- Δ S, ni par immunoblotting (Fig. 3D), ni par spectrométrie de masse (Fig. 3E).

Ce résultat est assez surprenant, compte tenu du fait que CAF1-p150 interagit directement avec la partie N-terminale de DAXX, mais suggère néanmoins un rôle possible du domaine SIM dans le recrutement de CAF-1 dans le complexe DAXX. Pour exclure une interaction possible de CAF1-p150 avec le domaine SIM C-terminal de DAXX, une immunopurification a été réalisée avec un extrait soluble de cellules SF9 qui co-expriment FLAG-DAXX-ΔS et HA-CAF1p150. En utilisant un anticorps anti-FLAG, les protéines liées aux billes ont été éluées et fractionnées sur SDS-PAGE et colorées au bleu colloïdal (Fig. 3F). Les données obtenues ont montré que la suppression du domaine SIM n'a pas pu affecter l'interaction entre DAXX et CAF1p150.

A la lumière des données obtenues par l'analyse du complexe nucléaire e-DAXX-ΔS, nous avons étudié l'effet de la suppression du domaine C-terminal SIM de DAXX sur la transcription

MJS par RT-PCR (Fig. 3G). Il est intéressant de noter que l'expression DAXX- Δ S dans les cellules MEF Daxx-/- n'a pas pu sauver le niveau d'ARNm des MJS, démontrant ainsi que le domaine SIM de DAXX est nécessaire à la transcription des MJS, probablement par le recrutement de la sous-unité CAF1-p150. Pris ensemble, ces résultats montrent clairement que le domaine SIM C-terminal de DAXX n'est pas nécessaire pour l'interaction avec CAF1-p150 mais est indispensable pour son recrutement par les PML-NBs, et donc pour la régulation de la transcription des MJS. Nous avons ensuite étudié le rôle du CAF-1 dans le contrôle de l'expression des MJS. Nous avons émis l'hypothèse que DAXX, ATRX et CAF1-p150 présentent une interdépendance dans le contrôle de l'expression des MJS. En utilisant la RT-PCR quantitative, nous avons observé que la déplétion de CAF1-p150 à l'aide de deux shARN spécifiques entraînait une réduction drastique de l'expression des transcrits des MJS (Fig. 3H). En revanche, lorsque l'on a épuisé ATRX avec deux shARN différents, la transcription des MJS a été considérablement augmenté (Fig. 3I), ce qui suggère que ATRX est impliqué dans la répression de la transcription des MJS. Les taux relatifs de CAF1-p150 et d'ARNm d'ATRX ont été évalués par RT-PCR pour s'assurer de l'efficacité de la déplétion (Fig. 3J, K). Ces résultats appuient l'idée que les deux protéines, à savoir CAF1-p150 et ATRX, agissent de façon antagoniste pour réguler la transcription des répétitions d'ADN au niveau des régions péricentromériques.

Conséquences de la perte de DAXX sur la distribution génomique de CAF1-p150

La protéine CAF-1 de mammifère se co-localise avec l'hétérochromatine en cours de réplication où elle favorise l'assemblage de l'histone H3.1, et la sous-unité CAF1-p150 interagit avec la protéine HP1 de l'hétérochromatine. Il a donc été suggéré que CAF-1 est impliquée dans la formation et la régulation de l'hétérochromatine, mais il manque encore des preuves fonctionnelles directes pour étayer ce modèle. L'association de CAF1-p150 avec DAXX nous a incité à analyser sa distribution génomique en relation avec DAXX. Dans ce but, nous avons effectué une analyse ChIP-seq de la sous-unité CAF1-p150 en utilisant des anticorps disponibles dans le commerce dans des cellules WT et DAXX KO MEF. L'identification des pics CAF-1 dans le génome à l'aide d'une lecture cartographiée unique a permis d'identifier 41 146 pics spécifiques aux cellules WT, 63 931 pics spécifiques aux cellules DAXX KO et 23 207 pics CAF1-p150 qui sont communs entre les cellules WT et DAXX KO (Fig. 4A). Les cartes thermiques et les courbes de densité normalisées correspondantes ont révélé que l'inactivation de DAXX entraînait une déplétion et un déplacement d'environ deux fois plus importants de plusieurs pics de CAF1-p150 vers des régions chromatiniennes où il était déjà faiblement présent dans les cellules WT (Fig. 4B, C). Une analyse complète des données a montré un enrichissement de CAF1-p150 au niveau des éléments répétitifs de l'ADN du génome de la souris, sans différences majeures entre WT et KO (Fig. 4D). CAF1-p150 a été trouvé spécifiquement enrichi au niveau des LINEs L1Md (Fig. 4E, F) et SINEs B1m (Fig. 4G, H). De façon surprenante, on a constaté que la CAF1-p150 était appauvrie en promoteurs (figure 4J) dans les cellules WT et KO.

L'association du CAF-1 avec des répétitions d'ADN telles que les SINEs et les LINEs nous a incité à effectuer une analyse plus approfondie des données ChIP-seq en tenant compte des lectures avec des occurrences multiples, qui représentent des éléments répétitifs non cartographiables (Dreszer et al., 2012). En effet, la majorité des lectures de CAF1-p150 ont eu des occurrences multiples et ont été mises en correspondance avec les différents éléments répétitifs du génome de la souris (Fig. 4D). CAF1-p150 a été trouvé enrichi au niveau des satellites mineurs (famille SYNREP_MM) et majeurs (famille GSAT_MM), aux répétitions télomériques (TTAGGGn/CCCTAAn), aux L1Md LINEs et aux SINEs spécifiques à la souris (Fig. 4K) avec quelques différences importantes entre les cellules WT et les cellules MEF DAXX knock-out (Fig. 4K). Cette dernière observation nous a incité à analyser la distribution de CAF1-p150 chromosome par chromosome. Cette analyse a révélé une forte déplétion de CAF1-p150 du chromosome X dans les cellules KO (Fig. 4L) avec un effet important sur les SINEs (Fig. 4M, N) et les LINEs L1Md (Fig. 4O, P).

Nous concluons cela : (i) l'association de CAF-1 avec DAXX affecte le chromosome X de manière distincte par rapport aux autosomes et, (ii) DAXX est essentiel pour cibler CAF1 sur le chromosome X.

Conséquences de la perte de DAXX sur la distribution génomique de H3.3

Après avoir montré que DAXX cible CAF-1 sur le chromosome X, nous avons ensuite étudié l'effet de l'inactivation de DAXX sur la déposition de H3.3. Dans ce but, des lignées cellulaires WT et Knock-out DAXX ont été transduites avec un H3.3 marqué avec les épitopes Flag et HA pour générer des lignées cellulaires stables exprimant ectopiquement Flag-HA-H3.3. Comme témoin, nous avons utilisé une lignée cellulaire MEF exprimant le Flag-HA endogène marqué H3.3 (Ors et al., 2017). Les lignées cellulaires endogènes et ectopiques marquées H3.3 ont ensuite été soumises à une analyse ChIP-seq. L'assignation des pics en utilisant une lecture cartographiée unique a révélé que 81% des pics H3.3 endogènes cartographiés aux activateurs

et 19% aux promoteurs (Sup_Fig. 1A). Les cartes thermiques et les courbes de densité normalisées (Fig. 5A) ont révélé qu'en l'absence de DAXX, le H3.3 surexprimé s'accumule au niveau des promoteurs, tandis que la présence de DAXX empêche cette accumulation ectopique (Fig. 5A). L'absence de DAXX a eu un effet moins prononcé sur l'accumulation ectopique de H3.3 au niveau des activateurs, n'affectant que les activateurs situés à distance des TSS (Fig. 5B). Cependant, l'absence de DAXX a fortement altéré le recrutement de H3.3 au niveau des activateurs situés sur le chromosome X (Fig. 5C). Nous avons ensuite étudié la présence de H3.3 sur les éléments répétitifs. Contrairement à CAF1-p150, H3.3 n'a pas été trouvé sur les éléments répétitifs tels que les LINES et les SINEs (Sup_Fig. 1B, C).

Nous avons conclu que le dépôt de H3.3 est étroitement contrôlé par DAXX, qui empêche son accumulation ectopique sur les promoteurs et cible spécifiquement H3.3 sur les éléments répétés du chromosome X.







- ADNP

- HP1a

– e-DAXX

- CAF1-p150

G

66

- 55

36

- 31

- 21

14

CAF1-p60 -

CAF1-p48

HP1a

H3.3 — H4 —

Α

Protein	Peptides		Entry
1100011	e-DAXX WT	e-DAXX-∆S	Linuy
DAXX	9	5	O35613
CAF1-p60	11	ND	Q9D0N7
CAF1-p150	7	ND	Q9QWF0
CAF1-p48	5	ND	Q60972
ATRX	96	118	Q61687
USP7	44	35	Q6A4J8
ADNP	47	54	Q9Z103
Hp1a	10	ND	Q61686
TRIM28	8	4	Q62318
H3.3	5	4	P84244
H4	14	11	P62806

HACATIONS

3

* p < 0.05

Ľ Ē.

Daxx-Daxx-/-Daxx ΔS

Daxx Rescue









MJS transcriptsl/ HPRT (AU) 2.0



Figure 4



Figure. 5

Figure 1. Immunopurification du complexe de déposition e-DAXX spécifique à H3.3 à partir de fractions nucléaires solubles dans le MEF.

(A) Expression stable de e-DAXX dans les cellules MEF Daxx-/-. Les cellules exprimant e-DAXX et les cellules témoins (CTRL) ont été colorées avec l'anti-HA (en haut) et du DAPI (en bas). (B) Panneau supérieur : Coloration à l'argent des protéines associées à e-DAXX (piste 1). Le complexe contenant e-DAXX (e-DAXX.com) a été purifié par double immunoaffinité à partir d'un extrait nucléaire soluble de MEF. Les polypeptides identifiés par analyse de spectrométrie de masse et les positions des marqueurs moléculaires de tailles sont indiqués. (piste 2) Maquette ; panneau inférieur : CAF1-p150, ADNP et HP1 sont des composants de e-DAXX. Le complexe e-DAXX (piste 1) a été analysé par immunoblotting avec les anticorps indiqués. (piste 2). (C) Analyses par spectrométrie de masse du complexe e-DAXX. Tableau résumant les polypeptides détectés par l'analyse par spectrométrie de masse du complexe e-DAXX, présentés sur la figure 1B et purifiés par double immunoaffinité. (D) Analyse par spectrométrie de masse des sous-types de variantes H3 associés à e-DAXX. Les abondances des peptides pour les différents variants H3 sont indiquées. Il est à noter que H3.3 est au moins 20 fois plus abondant que H3.1.

Figure 2. DAXX et CAF1-p150 se trouvent dans le même complexe nucléaire in vivo.

(A) Coloration à l'argent du complexe nucléaire e-DAXX fractionné sur un gradient de glycérol. Le complexe e-DAXX purifié par double affinité a été séparé sur un gradient de glycérol. Les fractions ont été collectées comme indiqué au sommet du gel : la fraction 1 correspond à la fraction de poids moléculaire le plus élevé et la fraction 10 à la plus faible. (B) Immunoblotting des fractions de glycérol contenant des sous-complexes nucléaires de e-DAXX avec les anticorps indiqués. (C) Structure primaire de DAXX. DAXX contient plusieurs domaines putatifs : deux hélices amphipathiques appariées (PAH1 et PAH2), un domaine Coiled Coil (CC), un domaine acide (acide), un domaine riche en Ser/Pro/Thr (riche en S/P/T) et un domaine semblable à Rtt106 (Rtt106). (D) DAXX interagit avec CAF1-P150 in vitro. Une purification d'affinité en tandem a été effectuée avec des cellules SF9, qui co-expriment FLAG-DAXX et HA-CAF1-P150. Les protéines liées aux billes ont été lavées avec un tampon TGEN 150 mM. Les protéines éluées ont été fractionnées sur SDS-PAGE et colorées au bleu colloïdal. FLAG-DAXX et HA-CAF1-P150 ont été immunoprécipités seules comme contrôle (pistes 1, 2). La colonne INP (piste 3) représente la quantité de protéines utilisée pour le pull-down. L'immunoprécipitation en tandem (IP) est indiquée dans la colonne 4. (E) La partie N-terminale de DAXX contient un domaine interagissant avec CAF1-p150 et ATRX. Les régions Nterminale (1-302), centrale (302-495) et C-terminale (495-740) de DAXX ont été produites sous forme de protéines de fusion GST. Les protéines de fusion (pistes 2-7), immobilisées sur du glutathion-agarose, ont été incubées avec du CAF1-p150 marqué par un épitope HA ou du ATRX marqué par un épitope HA. Après lavage avec du NaCl 0,15 ou 0,5 M, le CAF1-p150 ou le ATRX lié à la résine ont été sondés avec un anticorps anti-HA. Pour comparer les niveaux des fusions GST utilisées pour le pull-down, le blot a d'abord été coloré avec du bleu colloïdal. La ligne (INP) représente 20 % de la quantité de CAF1-p150 ou d'ATRX utilisée pour le pull-down. (F) Structure primaire de CAF1-p150. (G) La partie C-terminale de CAF1-p150 contient un domaine d'interaction DAXX. La région N-terminale de DAXX (1-302) produite comme protéine de fusion GST a été immobilisée sur du glutathion-agarose et incubée avec les régions N-terminale (1-296), centrale (297-641) et C-terminale (642-938) de 6XHIS CAF1-p150. Après lavage avec du NaCl 0,5 M, les domaines CAF1-p150 liés à la résine ont été sondés avec l'anticorps anti-His.

Figure 3. Le motif d'interaction sumo DAXX est essentiel pour cibler DAXX sur les PML-NB et pour le recrutement de CAF1-p150.

(A) La structure primaire de DAXX contient un domaine sumo-interactif-motif (SIM) situé dans la partie C-terminale. (B) Le SIM cible DAXX vers les PML-NBs. Distribution des cellules HA-DAXX (a,e), HA-CAF1-p150 (i) ou de PML endogène (b,f,i) dans les cellules e-DAXX-ΔS ou e-CAF1-p150 analysées par MEF e-DAXX. coloration par immunofluorescence à l'aide d'anticorps anti-HA ou anti-PML, respectivement. (d,h,l) L'ADN a été coloré par DAPI. (c,g,k) Les images fusionnées correspondent à la superposition de la fluorescence rouge (PML) et verte (DAXX) ou CAF1-p150. (C, D) CAF1-p150 est absent de l'e-DAXX-ΔS. (C) Coloration à l'argent des protéines associées à e-DAXX (piste 1) et e-DAXX- Δ S (piste 2). Les complexes contenant e-DAXX (e-DAXX.com) et e-DAXX- Δ S (e-DAXX- Δ S.com) ont été purifiés par double immunoaffinité à partir d'extraits nucléaires (NC) solubles de cellules MEF. Les polypeptides identifiés par analyse de spectrométrie de masse et les positions des marqueurs de taille moléculaire sont indiqués. (D) Les complexes e-DAXX (piste 1) et e-DAXX- Δ S (piste 2) ont été analysés par immunoblotting avec les anticorps indiqués. Le DAXX sumoylé (*) est spécifique du e-DAXX. (E) Analyses par spectrométrie de masse des complexes e-DAXX WT et e-DAXX- Δ S.com. Tableau résumant les polypeptides détectés par l'analyse par spectrométrie de masse des complexes e-DAXX WT et e-DAXX- Δ S.com, présentés dans la figure 3C et purifiés par double immunoaffinité. (F) DAXX Δ S interagissent avec CAF1-p150 in vitro. La purification par double affinité a été réalisée à partir de cellules SF9 co-exprimant FLAG-DAXX- Δ S et HA-CAF1-p150. Les protéines liées aux billes ont été lavées avec du tampon TGEN 150 mM. Les protéines éluées ont été fractionnées sur SDS-PAGE et colorées au bleu colloïdal. FLAG-DAXX ΔS et HA-CAF1-p150 ont été immunoprécipités seuls comme contrôle (voie 1, 2). La ligne 3 (INP) représente la quantité de protéines utilisée pour le pull-down. La purification d'affinité (IP) en tandem est indiquée sur la ligne 4. (G) Le niveau relatif d'ARNm pour les répétitions d'ADN péricentromériques dans les DAXX rescue, DAXX-/- et DAXX-ΔS MEF a été déterminé par RT-PCR quantitative. Les résultats sont représentés sous forme de niveau d'expression relatif des répétitions d'ADN péricentromérique par rapport à l'HPRT. Moyenne ± écart-type de trois expériences indépendantes. *: p < 0.05 comparer avec le type sauvage. Le niveau de transcriptions des répétitions d'ADN péricentromériques est réduit dans les cellules MEF DAXX-/- et DAXX- Δ S. (H) La déplétion de p150CAF-1 a entraîné une diminution de la transcription des répétitions d'ADN péricentromériques. Les MEF ont été transfectés avec l'ARN messager témoin (sh Ctrl) ou deux ARN messagers différents de CAF1-p150 (sh-1 et sh-2). Le niveau relatif d'ARNm pour les répétitions d'ADN péricentromériques a été déterminé par RT-PCR quantitative.

Figure 4 : Impact de l'inactivation de DAXX sur la distribution génomique de CAF1 dans les fibroblastes embryonnaires de souris.

(A) Diagrammes de Venn montrant le chevauchement entre les pics de CAF1 dans le contrôle (Daxx+/+) et les MEF déficients en Daxx (Daxx-/-). (B, C). Cartes thermiques (B) et quantification (C) des densités des tags des pics de CAF1 spécifiques au WT, communs et spécifiques au KO. (D) Pourcentages de pics chevauchant des éléments répétitifs en utilisant la base de données UCSC RepeatMasker. Nous avons observé une accumulation de CAF1 à tous les éléments répétitifs à l'exception des rétrotransposons LTR. (E, F). Cartes thermiques (E) et quantification (F) de CAF1 au niveau des LINES L1Md pleine longueur (longueur > 5 kb, n = 12 916), classées selon le score de conservation. Les densités des tags ont été recueillies dans des fenêtres coulissantes de 50 pb couvrant 2 kb (divisées en 20 bins) de la L1Md normalisé en longueur (divisée en 40 bins). (G, H). Cartes thermiques (G) et quantification (H) de CAF1 au niveau des SINEs B1m (+/- 2 kb) classées par score de conservation. (I, J). Cartes thermiques de CAF1 au niveau des promoteurs (I) classés selon leur niveau d'expression, et au niveau des enhancers (J) classés selon leur distance par rapport aux TSS les plus proches. (K) Enrichissement relatif de CAF1 au niveau des familles répétées d'ADN en présence (Daxx+/+) ou en l'absence de DAXX (Daxx-/-). Les calculs ont été effectués en incluant les lectures de plusieurs résultats " non cartographiables " en les attribuant à leur famille répétée unique (voir Méthodes). (L) Histogramme (construit à partir des données ChIP sur l'ensemble du génome) montrant l'enrichissement relatif de CAF1 (log2 IP/Input) au niveau de chaque chromosome témoin et des MEF déficients en Daxx. On constate que la CAF1 est significativement appauvrie au niveau du chromosome X en l'absence de DAXX. (M-P). Cartes thermiques (M, O) et quantification (N, P) de CAF1 dans des cellules DAXX WT et KO, à des SINE B1m (M, N) ou LINE L1Md (O, P), triées selon leur distribution chromosomique.

Figure 5 : Conséquences de la perte de DAXX sur la distribution génomique de H3.3. Les mononucléosomes natifs étiquetés FLAG-HA ont été isolés par double purification par immuno-affinité à partir de cellules MEF exprimant un H3.3 endogène étiqueté FLAG-HA, et à partir de cellules MEF témoins (Daxx+/+) ou de Daxx knockout (Daxx-/-) surexprimant un H3.3 marqué par un épitope Flag-HA. (A, B) Cartes thermiques (panneaux de gauche) et quantification (panneaux de droite) des signaux H3.3 moyens au niveau des promoteurs (A) classés selon leur niveau d'expression, et au niveau des enhancers (B) classés selon leur distance par rapport au TSS le plus proche. Alors que les amplificateurs cibles H3.3 surexprimés dans les cellules WT et KO, une accumulation de H3.3 marqué par un épitope a été trouvée spécifiquement au niveau des promoteurs en l'absence de DAXX. (C) Signaux H3.3 moyens au niveau des enhancers triés selon leur distribution chromosomique. L'absence de DAXX a entraîné une déplétion de H3,3 au niveau des enhancers du chromosome X.

Table of Contents

ACKNOWLEGMENTS4
I. INTRODUCTION17
INTRODUCTION18
1. BACKGROUND18
1.1 ORGANISATION OF CHROMATIN
TRANSCRIPTIONAL ACTIVE FORM21
1.1.1. HETEROCHROMATIN22
1.1.2. EUCHROMATIN
1.2 THE NUCLEOSOME25
1.2.1. STRUCTURE OF THE NUCLEOSOME
1.2.2. NUCLEOSOME ASSEMBLY
1.3 HISTONES
1.3.1. CORE HISTONES
1.3.2. LINKER HISTONES
2. DNA METHYLATION AND CHROMATIN REMODELLING FACTORS
2.1 DNA METHYLATION
2.2 CHROMATIN REMODELING COMPLEXES
2.2.1 THE SWI/SNF FAMILY
2.2.2. THE ISWI FAMILY
2.2.3. THE CHD OR MI2 FAMILY40
2.2.4. THE INO FAMILY
3. HISTONE MODIFICATIONS
3.1 ROLE OF THESE MODIFICATIONS
3.1.1. ACETYLATION OF HISTONES
3.1.2. HISTONE METHYLATION
3.1.3. PHOSPHORYLATION OF HISTONES

3.1.4. UBIQUITINYLATION OF HISTONES
3.1.5. SUMOYLATION OF HISTONES
4. HISTONE VARIANTS
4.1. VARIANTS OF THE H1 HISTONE
4.2. VARIANTS OF THE HISTONE H2A55
4.2.1. H2A.Z
4.2.2. H2A.X
4.2.3. MACROH2A
4.2.4. H2A.BBD
4.3. VARIANTS OF THE HISTONE H2B
4.4. VARIANTS OF THE HISTONE H360
4.4.1. THE CANONICAL HISTONES H3.1 AND H3.261
4.4.2. H3T61
4.4.3. H3.3
4.4.5. OTHER VARIANTS OF HISTONE H3 (H3.X, H3.Y AND H3.5)65
5. DEPOSITION OF CORE HISTONES
5.1. DEPOSITION OF HISTONES H3-H466
5.1.1. FROM THE CYTOPLASM TO THE NUCLEUS
5.1.2. DEPOSITION OF HISTONES ON CHROMATIN
5.1.3. REPLICATION-DEPENDENT DEPOSITION
5.1.4. REPLICATION INDEPENDENT DEPOSITION OF H3.3
5.1.5. Deposition of H3.3 by HIRA69
5.1.6. DEPOSITION OF H3.3 BY DAXX
5.1.7. DEPOSITION OF H2A-H2B HISTONES74
6. Histone H3.3 biological functions74
II. RESULTS
III. DISCUSSION

IV.	REFERENCES	
-----	------------	--

I. INTRODUCTION

INTRODUCTION

1. Background

In each cell, DNA strands must be compacted, in an organized manner, into a structure that respects the size constraints of the nucleus. With a diameter of about 10 μ m, the nucleus implies the need for DNA compaction of an order of between 10⁴ and 10⁵, but the negatively charged phosphate skeleton of the DNA induces electrostatic repulsion between adjacent regions, making it difficult to fold the double helix on itself (Maeshima et al., 2010). Therefore, this compaction is achieved by the binding of DNA with histone and non-histone proteins to form a very compact superstructure called chromatin. The packaging of the genome within the complex chromatin organization plays a key role in the control of its activity. The basic unit of chromatin, the nucleosome, is composed of a histone octamer (two each of H2A, H2B, H3 and H4) around which two superhelical turns of DNA are wrapped (Luger et al., 1997). All the conventional histones, except H4, have histone variants. Histone variants are nonallelic forms of the conventional histones (van Holde, 1988). Incorporation of histone variants into the nucleosome is involved in the regulation of several epigenetics phenomena (reviewed in Ahmad and Henikoff, 2002; Malik and Henikoff 2003). For instance, CENP-A, the centromeric specific H3 variant, was demonstrated to be selectively retained in discrete foci in mammalian sperm nuclei (Palmer et al., 1990).

Nucleosomes, separated by DNA, forms a structure known as a 10nm chromatin filament or "pearl necklace", and is the first level of chromatin organization (Figure 1). The 10nm filament is then compacted into a 30nm fiber through interaction with the linker histones, thus constituting the second level of chromatin organization (Li and Reinberg, 2011). The complex folding of the 30 nm fiber allows access to higher levels of organization (Woodcock and Ghosh, 2010). Nucleosomes are the layer of epigenetic information (Brahma, 2019 ;Kale, 2019 ;Klemm, 2019).



Figure 1: Chromatin structure (Adapted from Felsenfeld and Groudine, Nature 2003). DNA is wrapped around a histone octamer to form nucleosomes. Nucleosomes are connected by stretches of linker DNA. This basic nucleosome structure is folded into a fiber-like structure of about 30 nm in diameter. These 30-nm fibers are further compacted into higher-order chromatin structures.

The term "epigenetics" defines changes in gene expression that do not depend on changes in the nucleotide sequence itself and are transmitted by mitosis and meiosis (Jablonka and Lamb, 2002). Within a multicellular organism represented by a single

genome, there are a multitude of phenotypes that can be a function of the individual, the stage of development or the cell type for example. The transmission and maintenance of this specific gene expression profile is mainly based on epigenetic mechanisms (Probst et al., 2009). Epigenetic processes modulate gene activity through local modifications of DNA, histones and chromatin structure. In addition, these modifications make it possible to maintain the specific function of certain regions such as the centromeric, pericentromeric and telomeric regions. The major mechanisms involved are DNA methylation, post-translational histone modifications, non-coding RNA, chromatin remodelling and incorporation of histone variants. Profound alterations in this epigenetic information are responsible for the onset of various diseases, including, cancer, neurodegenerative diseases, inflammatory pathologies (Fardi, 2018; Rosa-Garrido, 2018).

1.1 Organisation of chromatin

Eukaryotic chromatin is a highly dynamic structure, allowing both a high level of compaction and access to the DNA matrix during various essential cellular processes such as DNA replication, DNA repair, transcription and recombination. The plasticity of the chromatin structure is regulated by many effectors such as histone chaperones, ATP-dependent chromatin remodelling factors, histone variants, post-translational histone modifications and many other factors (Campos and Reinberg, 2009; Cavalli, 2019). In higher eukaryotes, chromatin is divided into several domains that differ in structure and function (Cremer et al., 2006). These domains correspond to heterochromatin and euchromatin, which determine the density of expressed genes, respectively (Figure 2)



Figure 2. chromatin composition and levels of organization (from PngFans, free source). The diagram shows the fundamental unit of chromatin, the nucleosome, where the DNA wrapped around an octamer of Histone proteins (H3, H4, H2A, and H2B). and both states of chromatin heterochromatin, the inactive form and euchromatin, the transcriptional active form.

1.1.1. Heterochromatin

Heterochromatin is associated with an inactive transcription and are replicated at the end of phase S. At the microscopic level, heterochromatin regions are characterized by Giemsa chromosome labelling. At the molecular level, these regions are generally associated with post-translational modifications of histones specific for inactive transcription, including trimethylation of the lysine residue 9 of histone H3 (H3K9me) and lysine 27 of histone H3 (H3K27me3), which allows recruitment of the specific heterochromatin factor HP1 (HuisGrewal and Jia, 2007; Nishibuchi, 2014) (Figure 3). Nevertheless, the relationship between heterochromatin and completely inactive transcription has been qualified in recent years.



Figure 3. Silent, repressive heterochromatin (Adapted from <u>Tollervey</u> and Lunyak, 2012). *Silent heterochromatin is characterized by methylation of histone H3 lysine 9 (H3K9Me3) and lysine 27 (H3K27Me3).*

In eukaryotes, the centromeric regions allow chromosome separation during mitosis and meiosis. The establishment and maintenance of these regions is therefore essential for genome stability. Despite this vital function, centromeric and pericentromeric DNA have a low conservation rate, in terms of sequence and length, during evolution. From yeast to humans, these regions extend over a few kilobases to several megabases. Centromeric and pericentromeric heterochromatin are characterized by the presence of tandem repeated sequences called respectively α and I, II and III satellites in humans; and minor and major satellites in mice (Eymery et al., 2009).

Traditionally, the centromeric and pericentromeric regions are considered as a heterochromatin region and therefore not transcribed, although transcripts from these regions were detected forty years ago (Harel et al., 1968; Cohen et al., 1973). In S. pombe, it has been shown that pericentromeric transcripts are involved in the establishment and maintenance of pericentromeric heterochromatin via the RNA interference pathway (Volpe et al., 2002; Zofall and Grewal, 2006; Grewal and Jia, 2007). In mice, it has been shown that centromeric and pericentromeric repeated sequences are transcribed under stress, differentiation or cell confluence (Terranova et al., 2005; Bouzinba-Segard et al, 2002). Finally, it has also been shown that the centromeric and pericentromeric regions are respectively enriched with CENP-A and H3.3 histone variants (Smith, 2002; Drané et al., 2010).

Unlike bacterial chromosomes, eukaryotic chromosomes are linear, meaning that they have ends. These ends pose a problem for DNA replication. The DNA at the very end of the chromosome cannot be fully copied in each round of replication, resulting in a slow, gradual shortening of eukaryotic chromosomes. In addition, it is also necessary to ensure the protection of these DNA extremities against inadequate and harmful repair mechanisms that can lead to genome instability (van Steensel et al., 1998; McEachern et al., 2000; de Lange, 2005). In humans, in order to maintain genome stability, the ends of the chromosomes are therefore made up of repeated sequences called "TTAGGGG" or telomeric sequences. There are two situations: (i)

23

part of the telomeric region is not replicated with each cell cycle and therefore lost or (ii) the length of this region is preserved under the action of telomerase.

Telomerase is a ribonucleoparticle, in particular composed of a reverse transcriptase (TElomerase Reverse Transcriptase, TERT) and an RNA matrix (TElomerase RNA Component, TERC), which allows the addition of telomeric repeat sequences, and thus the preservation of the length of this region. In somatic cells, telomerase activity is variable, particularly depending on the stage of development and cell type. It has been shown that the regulation of telomerase activity is involved in cell aging, senescence mechanisms and loss of control of the cell cycle, characteristic of cancer cells (Blasco, 2007; Tümpel and Rudolph, 2012).

Telomeric regions have the classic epigenetic markings of heterochromatin, such as trimethylation of lysine residues 9 and 20 of histones H3 and H4 respectively (García-Cao et al., 2004; Gonzalo et al., 2005; 2006), as well as a low level of acetylation of these histones (Benetti et al., 2007;Galvani, 2015). Nevertheless, there is a transcriptional activity emanating from telomeric heterochromatin, allowing the synthesis of Tel RNA. it has been shown, in vitro, that an accumulation of this telomere transcript directly and specifically inhibits telomerase activity suggesting the formation of an RNA duplex with the TERC matrix of the telomerase complex (Schoeftner and Blasco, 2008). In addition, it has also been shown that the telomeric region is a "centre" for the repression of genes located in its vicinity (Baur et al., 2001; Koering et al., 2002).

1.1.2. Euchromatin

The term euchromatin is used to define a decondensed and accessible state of chromatin. These regions are traditionally associated with high gene density, active transcription and are replicated at the beginning of S phase. At the microscopic level,

24

the euchromatin regions are characterized by weak Giemsa chromosome labelling. At the molecular level, these regions are generally associated with post-translational modifications of histones specific to active transcription, including a high level of acetylation and methylation of histone H3 (H3K9ac, H3K14ac, H3K4me3 and H3K79me3) (Figure 4), and a low level of post-translational modifications of histones specific to inactive transcription.



Figure 4. Open, active euchromatin (Adapted from <u>Tollervey</u> and Lunyak, 2012). Euchromatin is characterized by histone H3 lysine 4 methylation (H3K4Me3) and lysine 9 acetylation (H3K9Ac).

1.2 The nucleosome

The nucleosome is the basic fundamental unit of chromatin. The discovery of the nucleosome emerged from the observation of a "pearl necklace" nuclear structure on DNA by electron microscopy (Olins and Olins, 1974; Oudet et al., 1975) (Figure 1), as well as biochemical and structural data suggesting the existence of a repeated unity on DNA (Kornberg, 1974). All of these data were subsequently confirmed by the atomic resolution of the crystallographic structure of the nucleosome (Luger et al., 1997; Davey et al., 2002; Ohno, 2018).

The nucleosome consists of a core histone octamer wrapped around 147 base pairs DNA in about 1.7 turns. The histone octamer is composed of the four core histones (H2A, H2B, H3 and H4). The nucleosome core is highly conserved between species, however, the length of the linker DNA separating two nucleosomes varies between species and cell type. Thus, the total length of the nucleosome DNA can vary from 160 to 241 base pairs depending on the species. Nucleosomes interact with each other to form the 30 nm fiber and higher levels of organization that are less well characterized.

1.2.1. Structure of the nucleosome

The first data on nucleosome structure were published in 1977 from a low-resolution image obtained by combining X-ray diffraction and electron microscopy techniques (Finch et al., 1977). Since then, structural data has continued to improve. In 1984, the nucleosome structure was first determined at 7Å resolution (Richmond et al., 1984), and in 1991, the histone octamer structure, in the absence of DNA and with a high salt concentration, was determined at 3.1Å (Arents et al., 1991). These data revealed for the first time the tripartite assembly of the octamer composed of two heterodimers H2A-H2B and a tetramer H3-H4. Within this tetramer, H3 and H4 interact through their "histone fold" (HFD) domain, which forms a "handshake" to form two dimers, just as in the H2A-H2B dimers (Widom, 1998).

All of these data were confirmed and detailed by determining the crystallographic structure of the nucleosome at 2.8 Å in 1997 (Luger et al., 1997, Figure 5).



Figure 5. Schematic representation of the assembly of the core histones into the nucleosome (Richard Wheeler (Zephyris – Wikipedia, 2019). Histone H2A (yellow) dimerize with histone H2B (red) to form the H2A/H2B dimer. Histone H3 (purple) dimerize with histone H4 (green) to form the (H3-H4)2 tetramer which then assemble into an octamer by incorporating the two H2A-H2B dimers. The histone octamer can wrap 147 bp of DNA to form the nucleosome.

This work has highlighted the importance of HFD within the nucleosomal structure, particularly in histone-histone and histone-DNA interactions. HFDs allow the organization of 121 base pairs of DNA. Each histone dimer in the nucleosome core provides 3 binding sites for the DNA molecule. These 12 binding sites are responsible for wrapping of 121 base pairs of the nucleosomal DNA. In addition, the N-terminal end of the HFD of each H3 histone interacts with 13 base pairs at each end of the nucleosomal DNA. These data therefore show that the nucleosome consists of 146 base pairs of DNA wrapped around the histone octamer in 1.65 turns. The crystallographic structure also revealed that the N-terminal end of histones H3 and H2B are located in the alignment of the minor groove of the DNA double helix. It has also been shown that residues 16 to 25 of histone H4 interact with the adjacent nucleosome at a negatively charged domain of the H2A-H2B dimer.

Within the nucleosome, each H2A-H2B dimer interacts at two contact points with the H3-H4 tetramer. On the one hand, a pattern similar to that formed by the two histones H3 within the tetramer H3-H4, called "bundle of four helixes" or "four-helix bundle", allows the interaction between the histones H2B and H4. On the other hand, the H2A anchor domain also interacts with the H3-H4 tetramer (Figure 5).

Subsequent work has identified and refined the crystallographic structure of the nucleosome to a resolution of 1.9 Å (Davey et al., 2002). In 2005, the structure of a tetranucleosome was determined at a resolution of 9 Å, hence opening the door to understand inter-nucleosomal interactions (Schalch et al., 2005). Finally, the structure of an hexanucleosome was also determined at a resolution of 9.7 Å, thus providing a better understanding of the inter-nucleosomal interactions that govern the formation of compact chromatin structure, particularly the 30nm fibre (Garcia-Saez et al., 2018).

1.2.2. Nucleosome assembly

In vivo, nucleosome assembly is a sequential process initiated by the deposition of two H3-H4 dimers or an H3-H4 tetramer on DNA followed by the addition of two H2A-H2B dimers (Hamiche and Shuaib, 2012). Wrapped in 146 base pairs of DNA, the structure formed is called a nucleosome (Figure 6). This assembly is an orderly process that is assisted by histone chaperone proteins and chromatin assembly factors.



Figure 6. Schematic illustration of histones assembly into Nucleosome (R. Chen, Kang, Fan, & Tang, 2014). Two molecules of each of the four core histone proteins (H2A, H2B, H3 and H4) form the histone octamer via formation of one tetramer of H3 and H4 and two dimers of H2A and H2B. The histone octamer is wrapped by 146bp of DNA to complete nucleosome formation.

1.3 Histones

There are five families of histones that can be grouped into two categories: the core histone families (H2A, H2B, H3 and H4) and the linker histone family (H1). Histones are proteins with a strong basic property and low molecular weight that are among the most conserved eukaryotic proteins during evolution, which reflects the importance of their biological function. The histone sequences are rich in positively charged lysine and arginine residues, thus allowing the cohesion of the nucleosome, in particular through hydrogen bonds between these residues and the negatively charged phosphate skeleton of the DNA.

The genes encoding the canonical histones are devoid of introns and organized into a cluster containing several copies of histone genes. Canonical histone mRNAs
have a unique 3' stem-loop structure recognized by specific factors and allowing the regulation of their transcription, translation and degradation (Sullivan et al., 2009). Thus, a high level of expression is ensured in S phase, when a large quantity of histones is required for replication, and rapid degradation can be induced outside this phase.

1.3.1. Core histones

Despite a low sequence conservation between core histones, each canonical histone has similar structural characteristics that are conserved during evolution. Indeed, HFD, formed by a large helix α flanked at each end by a loop and a shorter helix α (Arents and Moudrianakis, 1995), is found in the structure of all canonical core histones of eukaryotes, and constitutes the structure of most euryarcheota histones (Sandman et al., 1998). This structure allows a "handshake" interaction within the H3-H4 and H2A-H2B dimers, provided by hydrophobic interactions and hydrogen bonds (Wood et al., 2005).

Unlike HFDs, the N-terminal end of histones are extremely variable in sequence and length, depending on the type of histone. These regions, rich in basic lysine and arginine residues, are the site of numerous post-translational modifications that can modify the overall charge of these residues, recruit specific regulatory factors and modulate protein-protein and protein-DNA interactions (Jenuwein and Allis, 2001). Many results show that the N-terminal ends of histones are involved in intranucleosomal and inter-nucleosomal interactions, suggesting a key role in establishing different degrees of chromatin organization (Li and Reinberg, 2011). For example, it has been shown that the N-terminal end of H3 and H2B are located in the alignment of the minor grooves of the DNA double helix, thus contributing to the compaction of

chromatin by sealing the binding to DNA on each side of the nucleosome (Hill and Thomas, 1990; Kan et al., 2007). The H2A and H2B proteins also have a basic C-terminal end. In the case of H2A, this region binds to DNA around the dyad axis, while the N-terminal end interacts with DNA at the periphery of the nucleosome (Arya and Schlick, 2006).

1.3.2. Linker histones

Linker histones are associated with the portion of DNA that separates two adjacent nucleosomes. Unlike core histones, linker histones have a lower conservation rate between species. The unstructured N-terminal and C-terminal ends have high variability in sequence and length. As with core histones, these regions are highly basic and are the target of post-translational modifications (Allan et al., 1980). In addition, linker histones have a central globular domain that is essential for interaction with DNA (Figure 7). This domain adopting a conformation called "winged helix", composed of three helixes α , is characteristic of some families of DNA binding factors (Cerf et al., 1993; Ramakrishnan et al., 1993). Some studies suggest that linker histones play a key role in the formation of different levels of chromatin compaction, particularly the 30 nm fibre, but these results need to be clarified (Woodcock and Ghosh, 2010). Linker histones, such as histone H1 have important biological functions. For instance, Histone H1 plays a role in hormonal gene regulation, both as a structural component of chromatin and as a dynamic modulator of transcription (Vicent, 2016).



Figure 7. Histone 1 binding to the nucleosome (adapted from Bednar et al., 2017). Histone H1 binding to the nucleosome induces a more compact and rigid conformation.

2. DNA methylation and chromatin remodelling factors

2.1 DNA methylation

DNA methylation corresponds to the addition of a methyl group, derived from the S-

adenosyl methionine cofactor, to the carbon 5 of a cytosine (5mC) (Figure 8).



Figure 8. Characteristics of DNA methylation (Cui et al., 2016). (*A*) Cytosine is converted to 5'-methylcytosine by the action of DNMTs. (B) Cytosine is typically methylated in the context of CpG dinucleotides, and the methylation of constitutive heterochromatic and promoter regions is generally associated with gene silencing. SAM, S-adenosylmethionine; SAH, S-adenosylhomocysteine; DNMT, DNA methyltransferase.

This epigenetic modification is catalyzed by enzymes of the DNA methyltransferase (DNMT) family. DNA methylation is an epigenetic modification recognized by specific effectors classified into two families in vertebrates: the MBD (Methyl-Binding Domain) family and the Kaiso family (Clouaire and Stancheva, 2008). In contrast to plants, 5mC in mammals covers most of the genome with exceptions in CpG islands. The 5mC patterns are established during early embryogenesis thanks to the activities of de novo DNA methyltransferases DNMT3A and DNMT3B (Cedar, 2009 ;Hermann, 2004 ;Jeltsch, 2016 ;Jeltsch, 2006). In highly differentiated tissues, mC is mainly found in a CpG context which is a condition that allows the appearance of a symmetric methylation pattern as bi-methylated DNA strand. In differentiated cells, DNA methylation is symmetric, *i.e.*, occurs on both DNA strands; this represents the basis for mitotic duplication. Approximately 45% of CpGs are within repetitive elements and presumed constitutively methylated (Das, 2006). Considering the 29 million CpGs in the haploid genome, DNA methylation patterns in normal human cells are largely unexplored. Several general methylation patterns are recognized. First, 7% of all CpGs are within CpG islands (CGIs), a majority of which are unmethylated(Rollins, 2006). Most 5mCs are found in repetitive sequences, gene bodies, and intergenic regions(Law, 2010 ; Yang, 2014 ; Felsenfeld, 2014).

In mammalian somatic cells, methylation is classically associated with inactive transcription and mainly targets CpG dinucleotides that are sporadically found or grouped as islets located near the promoter region, the untranslated region or the first exon of many genes (Espada and Esteller, 2010). The condensed state of the chromatin allowing inactivation of transcription is allowed by the complementarity between DNA methylation and other epigenetic markings. For example, the effector protein MBD2 is found in the NuRD chromatin remodelling complex, which has histone

deacetylation activity, characteristic of condensed and non-transcribed chromatin (Wade et al., 1999; Zhang et al., 1999).

DNA methylation also plays a major role in other cellular processes such as X chromosome inactivation, transposon and centromeric sequence repression. It has also been shown that changes in the methylation profile are involved in cancerogenesis and aging processes (Heyn et al., 2012; Sandoval and Esteller, 2012). During mammalian embryogenesis, methylation plays a key role in gene regulation and chromatin organization through the parental genomic fingerprinting mechanism. Indeed, at the beginning of development, the genome undergoes first a massive demethylation and then a de novo establishment of the methylation profile, specific to the maternal and paternal genome (Messerschmidt, 2012). In somatic cells, DNA methylation is then transmitted after each cycle of DNA replication by the DNMT1 enzyme, allowing the methylation profile to be maintained (Espada and Esteller, 2010; Jeltsch, 2019; Gowher, 2018). The Ten eleven translocation (TET1, 2 and 3) enzymes can oxidize the 5mC into 5-hydroxymethylcytosine (5hmC), 5-formylcytosine (5fC), and 5-carboxylcytosine (5caC) (Ito et al., 2010 and 2011). Moreover, 5fC and 5caC can further be excised to regenerate unmodified cytosines by the action of thymine DNA glycosylase (TDG) together with the base excision repair (BER) enzymes (Cortellino et al, 2011; He et al., 2011; Maiti and Drohat, 2011) (see Figure 9).



Figure 9. The cycle of active DNA demethylation (from Wu and Zhang, 2017). DNA methyltransferases convert unmodified cytosine to 5mC (5-methylcytosine). 5mC can further be oxidized by TET proteins to 5hmC (5-hydroxymethylcytosine), 5fC (5-formylcytosine) and 5caC (5-carboxylcytosine). 5fC or 5caC are further excised by thymidine DNA glycosylase (TDG) coupled with base excision repair (BER). AM–AR, active modification–active removal; AM–PD, active modification–passive dilution.

2.2 Chromatin remodeling complexes

The plasticity of chromatin, a dynamic balance between compaction and accessibility, is essential to ensure all the functions of the genome such as transcription regulation, replication, repair and condensation of chromosomes. This plasticity is regulated by the combination of epigenetic marks, discussed above, and ATP-dependent chromatin remodelling factors. These factors physically modify the structure or position of nucleosomes using the energy provided by the hydrolysis of ATP.

In vitro, chromatin remodelling factors can facilitate viral DNA replication (Alexiadis et al., 1998) and the mechanism of repair by nucleotide excision (Ura et al.,

2001). *In vivo*, chromatin remodelling factors have various actions such as the exchange of H2A variants (Krogan et al., 2003; Mizuguchi et al, 2004), in nucleosome positioning (Lomvardas and Thanos, 2001; Fazzio and Tsukiyama, 2003), the increase in DNA accessibility on the surface of a nucleosome (Truss et al., 1995), or the absence of nucleosomes in regulatory sequences (Reinke and Hörz, 2003, Figure 10)

Chromatin remodelling factors are found in protein complexes containing an enzyme with ATPase activity. These enzymes belong to the super-family of helicases 2 (SF2 helicase) and are conserved from yeast to humans (Côté et al., 1994; Imbalzano et al., 1994; Kwon et al., 1994; Papoulas et al., 1998). Chromatin remodelling factors have a high affinity for nucleosomes, domains for recognition of post-translational histone modifications, ATPase activity and domains for interaction with regulatory proteins (Clapier and Cairns, 2009). Chromatin remodelling complexes are divided into four families based on different ATPase activity: the SWI/SNF family, the ISWI family, the CHD1 family and the INO80 family (Figure 10).

2.2.1 The SWI/SNF family

The SWI/SNF complex (mating type SWItching and Sucrose Non-Fermentable) is the first ATP-dependent chromatin remodelling complex that has been identified in Saccharomyces cerevisiae (Winston and Carlson, 1992). The function of the SWI/SNF complex is highly conserved throughout evolution from yeast to man. The SWI/SNF family contains ySWI/SNF in yeast (Côté et al., 1994), the RSC complex (Cairns et al., 1996), BRM complexes in Drosophila (Dingwall et al., 1995) and hSWI/SNF complexes containing the catalytic subunit BRG1 or hBRM in humans (Figure 10) (Imbalzano et al., 1994; Kwon et al., 1994). Each catalytic subunit of the SWI/SNF family has a strong homology of the ATPase domain and a C-terminal bromodomain that can recognize

acetylated histones (Marmorstein and Berger, 2001). Each of the enzymes in the SWI/SNF family is present in a protein complex containing 8 to 15 partners. In yeast, the SWI/SNF complex contains 11 subunits (Winston and Carlson, 1992) (Figure 10).



Figure 10. Composition of different ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling complexes (from Kingston and Narlikar., 2009). Conserved proteins in SWI/SNF family complexes are indicated in purple; ISWI homologs are indicated in red. Blue indicates proteins with known sequence, and green depicts actin-related proteins. Stoichiometries and direct contacts between proteins are speculative.

In yeast, members of the SWI/SNF family play an essential role in controlling the transcription of specific genes (Holstege et al., 1997; Sudarsanam and Winston, 2000) and can even cooperate with HAT complexes to activate transcription. The specificity of action of SWI/SNF complexes is enabled by interaction with transcription factors that specifically target certain genes. The RSC complex is involved in chromosome segregation (Hsu et al., 2003; Huang et al., 2004).

In humans, SWI/SNF complexes are essential for cell viability and play a role in regulating nuclear receptor function and cell growth. It has also been shown that mutations of BRG1, hBRM and hSNF5/INI1 are involved in the development of certain cancers (Roberts et al., 2002; Shain et al., 2012; Wu, 2012). Finally, the remodelling

protein ATRX (α-Thalassemia Mental Retardation X-linked), a specific partner of the histone H3.3 deposition complex, is involved in the regulation of many genes and is highly enriched in pericentromeric and telomeric regions.

2.2.2. The ISWI family

The first member of the ISWI family (SWItch Imitation) was identified in Drosophila based on the homology of its ATPase domain with the SWI/SNF family (Goodwin, 2018). Two other domains characterize the ISWI family remodelers: a SANT domain (Switching-defective protein 3, Adaptor 2, Nuclear receptor co-repressor, Transcription factor TF-IIIB) essential for histone binding, and a SLIDE domain (SANT-LIke ISWI Domain) required for DNA binding and ATPase activity (Hamiche et al., 1999; Grüne et al., 2003; Fazzio et al., 2005). Other ISWI complexes were then discovered in yeast, fruit fly, mouse and humans (Dirscherl and Krebs, 2004). In Drosophila, there are three ISWI complexes: the ACF complex (ATP-dependent Chromatin assembly and remodelling Factor), the NURF complex (NUcleosome Remodelling Factor) and the CHRAC complex (CHRomatin Accessibility Complex) (Figure 10), which differ in the different subunits that compose them. The NURF complex is composed of ISWI, the NURF301 regulatory subunit, NURF38 pyrophosphatase and the WD40 domain protein NURF55 (Tsukiyama and Wu, 1995; Tsukiyama et al., 1995). The CHRAC and ACF complexes are composed of ISWI and ACF1 but CHRAC also contains two proteins with HFD, CHRAC14 and CHRAC16. In yeast, there are two ISWI genes, ISWI1 and ISWI2, which encode the catalytic subunits of four complexes: ISWI1a, ISWI1b, ISWI2 and yCHRAC. In humans, the ATPases of the ISWI family are SNF2H and SNF2L contained in the hACF, WICH (WSTF-ISWI CHromatin remodelling

complex), hCHRAC, RSF and SNF2H/NuRD/cohesion complexes (Dirscherl and Krebs, 2004).

ISWI complexes are involved in many biological processes such as the activation and suppression of transcription, replication and assembly of chromatin (Flaus et al., 2006). In yeast, ISWI complexes are mainly involved in the suppression of transcription. The ISWI1a complex appears to suppress transcription at the initiation stage, while ISWI1b could control elongation and termination of transcription by delaying the release of RNA polymerase II (Morillon et al., 2003; 2005). In Drosophila, the NURF complex is involved in transcription regulation in the Hsp70 promoter region (Heat Shock Protein 70) and NURF301 is essential for the expression of homeostasis genes (Tsukiyama et al., 1995; Tsukiyama and Wu, 1995). In addition, ISWI is also essential for maintaining the structure of the X chromosome (Deuring et al., 2000). In humans, the WICH complex facilitate DNA replication by decondensing chromatin and facilitating the recruitment of PCNA (Proliferating Cell Nuclear Antigen) to replication forks. In addition, the depletion of WSTF or SNF2H induces the aberrant formation of heterochromatin in neosynthesized DNA strands (Poot et al., 2004). It has also been shown that SNF2H forms a nucleolar remodelling complex (NoRC, Nucleolar-Remodelling Complex) with the Tip5 protein (TTF-I-Interacting Protein 5), possessing a bromodomain, and plays a key role in the suppression of promoters of genes encoding ribosomal RNA by promoting heterochromatin formation (Strohner et al., 2001; Zhou and Grummt, 2005). Finally, the NURF complex is involved in the activation of transcription, particularly for genes involved in neural development (Barak et al., 2003).

2.2.3. The CHD or Mi2 family

In 1998, several laboratories identified a complex containing a protein from the Mi2 family and having an ATPase domain from the SNF2 family. Mi2-containing complexes allow nucleosomes to slide along the DNA (Brehm et al., 2000). The NuRD complex (Nucleosome remodelling and histone deacetylation) includes a domain of chromatin remodelling and deacetylase activity that is often associated with transcriptional repression (Bowen et al., 2004). It consists of seven subunits, Mi-2β, HDAC1, HDAC2, RbAp48, RbAp46, NURD70 and MBD3 (Figure 11).



Figure 11. Schematic description of the NuRD complex (from Torchy et al., 2015). The threedimensional structure of the complex has not been determined yet and precise subunit interactions are unknown.

The Mi-2β subunit is an ATPase/helicase ortholog of Swi2/Snf2, with DNA binding zinc finger domains and two chromodomains. The MDB3 subunit belongs to the MePC2 family, proteins with a domain of binding to methylated CpG islands (Wade, 2001). Mi2 facilitates access of HDACs to histones (Bowen et al., 2004). It is therefore likely that MDB3 targets methylated DNA regions so that this complex can reshape the chromatin region and thus facilitate histone deacetylation (Xue et al., 2000).

2.2.4. The INO family

ATPase INO80 has been identified in the search for ISWI protein homologues (Shen et al., 2000) and in genetic screening of mutants affecting inositol biosynthesis in S. cerevisiae (Ebbert et al., 1999). This protein is similar to Isw1 and Isw2, but it does not have the SANT domain. INO80 has been purified in a complex containing 11 other proteins, including actin (Act1) and three actin-associated proteins, Arp4, 5 and 8 (Figure 12). This composition is similar to those of the Swi/Snf and RSC complexes in S. cerevisiae which contain Arp7 and 9. The INO80 complex also contains two proteins homologous to RuvB, a DNA helicase involved in bacterial repair (Kanemaki et al., 1997), called Rvb1 and Rvb2. This could explain the ATP-dependent helicase DNA activity associated with the INO80 complex in the 3'-5' direction (Shen et al., 2000) and the fact that a mutation in the INO80 gene leads to increased sensitivity to ionizing radiation, ultraviolet, alkylating agents and DNA synthesis inhibitors (Shen et al., 2000; van Attikum et al., 2004). Thus, this complex could have a role in repairing DNA damage. In humans, the homologues of Rvb1 and Rvb2 are called Tip49a and Tip49b respectively. These two proteins are part of an ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling complex, containing eight subunits homologous to those of the INO80 complex in S. cerevisiae, as well as at least five other human-specific subunits (hINO80) (Jin et al., 2005).



Figure 12. Comparison of the different of chromatin remodeling complexes in mammalian cells, Drosophila, and Saccharomyces cerevisiae (Östlund Farrants, 2008). In mammalian cells and Drosophila, Tip60/TRRAP have both activities corresponding to the yeast SWR1 and NuA4, and the ATPase is indicated by a turquoise color (SWR1, SRCAP, p400 or Domino). The ATM-like protein is indicated by Tra/TRRAP.

There is a second complex composed of 13 subunits in yeast, called the Swr1 complex. Several subunits (Act1, Arp4, Rvb1 and Rvb2) are common to the INO80 complex (Shen et al., 2000) (Figure 12). This complex is capable of remodelling chromatin by exchanging H2A-H2B dimers for H2AZ-H2B dimers (Krogan et al., 2003; Mizuguchi et al., 2004). Recently, a Swr1 ortholog has been identified in humans and is called SRCAP (Snf-2-related CREB-binding protein activator protein). SRCAP exchanges H2AZ-H2B dimers in reconstituted mono-nucleosomes with recombinant histones H2A, H2B, H3 and H4 (Ruhl et al., 2006).

2.2.5. ATRX/DAXX and PML-NBs

ATRX chromatin remodelling factor was discovered through the aim to identify the gene that contributes to the v-thalassemia, mental retardation, X-linked (ATRX) syndrome (Gibbons et al. 2003). The ATP/helicase domain was proposed to be involved in nucleosome repositioning and increasing DNA accessibility while the ADD domain has been shown to bind histone H3 tails containing the H3K9me3 mark, but not the active H3K4me3/2 mark (Gibbons et al. 2003). ATRX has been shown to localize in the PML-NBs, heterochromatin and telomeric/subtelomeric chromosomal regions. ATRX forms a stable complex with DAXX that colocalize to PML-NBs and heterochromatin. The domain composition of ATRX/DAXX is shown in figure 13.



Figure 13. The structure of the DAXX/ATRX complex (from Wang et al., 2017). (A) Structure and domain organization of the ATRX and DAXX. ADD, ATRX-DNMT1-DNMT1L domain; HP1, HP1-binding motif; DBM, DAXX binding motif; ATPase, ATPase domain; SIM, Sumo-interaction motif; DHB, DAXX helical bundle; HBD, histone binding domain; Acidic, segment rich in Glu/Asp residues; SPE, segment rich in Ser/Pro/Glu residues; SPT, segment rich in Ser/Pro/Thr residues. (B) Two orthogonal views of the DAXX_{DHB}-ATRX_{DBM} complex. DAXX_{DHB} is colored in green and ATRX_{DBM} is colored in cyan. Numerous studies have shown that DAXX protein is a major component of PML nuclear bodies (PML-NBs) (Negorev and Maul, 2001; Weidtkamp-Peters et al., 2008; Geng et al., 2012). It has been shown that PML is the main component of PML-NBs and that the sumoylation of this protein is a post-translational modification essential to the formation of PML-NBs (Ishov et al., 1999; Zhong et al., 2000; Brand et al., 2010). It has also been shown that the DAXX protein has a SIM domain (SUMO-Interacting Motif (Song et al., 2004)) on its C-terminal end which is involved in the interaction with PML (Lin et al., 2006; Escobar-Cabrera et al., 2011). PML-NBs are involved in the progression of the cell cycle, the DNA damage response, transcription regulation, viral infection, heterochromatin formation, and apoptosis, however, to date, the precise function of PML-NBs in these mechanisms remains poorly understood (Bernardi and Pandolfi, 2007; Borden and Culjkovic, 2009).

3. Histone modifications

3.1 Role of these modifications

Histones are the target of many post-translational modifications that can modify the structure of chromatin and therefore influence major genomic processes such as gene expression regulation, DNA repair and replication. The different histone modifications are illustrated in figure 14.

Numerous studies have shown the importance of the N-terminal ends of H3 and H4 as well as the C-terminal ends of H2A and H2B in regulating genes and chromatin structure (Rodríguez-Paredes and Esteller, 2011). In Saccharomyces cerevisiae, it has been shown that the N-terminal end of histones H3 and H4 is essential for the suppression of mating genes and telomers (Thompson et al., 1994). In addition, the deletion of the N-terminal end of histones H3 and H4 is lethal in yeast (Ling et al., 1996)

and point mutations of the N-terminal end of H4 have been shown to inhibit the suppression of certain genes (Hecht et al., 1995).



Figure 14. Schematic representation of the different histone modifications occurring on the nucleosome (Adopted from Zhong Xu et al., 2013). (A) Structure of the nucleosome (B). The major histone modifications shown include acetylation (A), methylation (M), phosphorylation (P) and ubiquitination (U). Histone modifications mainly occur on the N-terminal tails of histones but also on the C-terminal tails and globular domains.

To date, several types of post-translational modifications of histone N-terminal tails are described (Figure 14). The best characterized are acetylation, methylation, phosphorylation (Campos and Reinberg, 2009) but there are other types such as ADP-ribosylation, ubiquitinylation, sumoylation, glycosylation, citrullination, biotinylation, carbonylation, butyrylation and propionylation (Chen et al, 2007; Bártová et al., 2008;

Hassan and Zempleni, 2008; Garcia-Dominguez and Reyes, 2009; Bergmann, 2010; Fujiki et al., 2010). On the one hand, there are factors that specifically recognize these changes and then contribute, directly or indirectly, to the regulation of gene expression. These factors have a specific structure such as chromodomains (CHRomatin Organization MOdifier) and bromodomains that allow to recognize, methylated and acetylated lysine residues respectively, in a specific way. On the other hand, some of these modifications may act by changing the charge of a histone residue, thus modulating their interaction with DNA or adjacent nucleosomes. Some of these posttranslational changes occur directly after histone synthesis in the cytoplasm, such as acetylation of lysine residues 5 and 12 of H4 (Sobel et al., 1995), while the majority occur in the nucleus. The specific post-translational modification profile of histones gives complex combinations that are involved in a wide spectrum of cellular processes, from regulating gene expression to maintaining chromosome structures. For example, many studies have shown that acetylation is associated with transcription activation (Koch et al., 2007) while phosphorylation is associated with chromosome formation or DNA repair (Thiriet and Hayes, 2005).

In addition, there is a relationship between the different post-translational modifications of histones. For example, it has been shown that phosphorylation of the serine residue 10 of histone H3 plays a major role in regulating the modification of other residues of the N-terminal tail of H3, including methylation of lysine residue 9, acetylation of lysine residue 14, and phosphorylation of threonine residues 6 and 11 (Noma K et al., 2001; Liokatis et al., 2012). The diversity and relationships between post-translational histone modifications have led to the emergence of the concept of "histone code". According to this hypothesis, combinations of post-translational

modifications are transmitted during cell divisions and contain information on the expression status of genes (Jenuwein and Allis, 2001).

3.1.1. Acetylation of histones

The acetylation of histones has been the subject of much work to determine the mechanisms for implementing this modification and its role in regulating gene expression.

Acetylation consists of adding one or more acetyl groups to the amino groups α or ϵ of the lysine residues of histones and other proteins. This reaction is catalyzed by enzymes of the acetyltransferase category, which are divided into four families (Table 1). The GNAT family (GCN5-related N-terminal AcetylTransferases); the MYST family including enzymes that catalyse the transfer of an acetyl group from the acetyl-CoA cofactor to the primary amine group of non-histone proteins and small molecules (Dyda et al, 2000); the p300/CBP family which is distinct but related to the p270 family; and the general transcription factors HAT (Histone AcetylTransferase) which include TAF250, the largest of the TAF (TATA binding protein-Associated Factor) factors in the TFIID transcription complex, which has in vitro acetyltransferase activity specific to the N-terminus of histones H3 and H4 (Mizzen et al., 1996).

Histone acetylation is reversible and highly dynamic. Enzymes of the histone deacetylase (HDAC) class catalyze the removal of acetyl groups from histones and are divided into several families. The SIR2 family (Silent Information Regulator 2), the HD2 family, and the RPD3/HDA1 family. Histone deacetylases of the RPD3/HDA1 family have a high conservation rate across all eukaryotic genomes and are subdivided into three classes: HDAC Class I (HDAC-1, -2, -3 and -8) which are linked to the yeast

RPD3 protein; HDAC Class II (HDAC-4, -5, -6 and -7) which are homologous to the yeast protein HDAC1; and HDAC Class III called sirtuins (SIRT1 to 7 in mammals). The molecular mechanisms that govern the action of acetylation on expression remain poorly understood to this day. Nevertheless, there are two non-exclusive theories that explain how histone acetylation contributes to the formation of an open chromatin environment conducive to active transcription by allowing access to transcription factors in gene promoter regions. On the one hand, acetylation of lysine residues neutralizes the positive charge of histone tails, thus destabilizing interactions with DNA but also intra- and inter-nucleosomal interactions and thus contributing to the formation of an open and permissive local environment for transcription (Ausió and van Holde, 1986). On the other hand, histone acetylation allows the specific recruitment at modified sites of protein factors with a bromodomain (Taverna et al., 2007). Unlike acetylation, histone deacetylation contributes to the formation of a closed chromatin environment that is unfavourable to transcription. Indeed, it is accepted that heterochromatin regions are generally hypoacetylated while euchromatin regions are generally associated with histone hyperacetylation (Schübeler et al., 2000).

3.1.2. Histone methylation

Methylation is a post-translational modification of the lysine and arginine residues particularly well characterized for histones H3 and H4. The lysine residue side chain is the target for mono, di or trimethylation while the arginine residue side chain can be mono or dimethylated. All these modifications provide significant functional diversity at each methylation site (Bannister et al., 2002; Margueron et al., 2005).

The addition of methyl group on histone residues is catalyzed by enzymes of the category of histone methyltransferases (HMT), which use the S-adenosyl

methionine cofactor. These enzymes have a high substrate specificity that allows methylation of lysine residues at the level of free histones or in a nucleosomal context. For example, it has been shown that methylation of histone tails by Dot1, Set2 and PR-Set7/Set8 is only possible within the nucleosome (Strahl and Allis, 2000; Nishioka et al., 2002; van Leeuwen et al., 2002). To date, histone methylation has been reported at 24 known sites (17 on lysine residues and 7 on arginine residues). The best characterized methylation sites are lysine residues 4, 9, 27, 36, 79 for histone H3 and lysine residue 20 for histone H4 (Sims et al., 2003; Lee et al., 2005). The histone methyltransferases specific to lysine residues have a SET (Suppressor of variegation - Enhancer of zest - Trithorax) catalytic domain. Methylation does not modify the load of lysine residues but increases their hydrophobicity, which disrupts hydrogen bonds and can also create recognition sites for specific factors. Arginine residues 2, 8, 17, 26 of histone H3 and arginine residue 3 of histone H4 are mono or dimethylation sites. Histone methyltransferases CARM1/PRMT are responsible for the modification of arginine residues (Schurter et al., 2001).

Methylation of arginine residues is traditionally associated with transcription activation, while the role of methylation of lysine residues is more variable. Indeed, it has been shown, for example, that the trimethylation of H3 lysine residue 27 has a repressive effect on transcription, that the trimethylation of H3 lysine residue 4 has an activating effect on transcription and that these two post-translational modifications can coexist in embryonic stem cells, at the same gene promoter involved in cell differentiation (Vastenhouw and Schier, 2012). Histone methylation has long been considered irreversible in view of the high thermodynamic stability of the N-CH3 bond. Nevertheless, recent studies have highlighted the demethylation activity, without

histone exchange, of the JmjC-domain enzyme family, as well as its role in controlling transcriptional activity (Chen et al., 2012; Mansour et al., 2012).

3.1.3. Phosphorylation of histones

The discovery of histone phosphorylation in 1967 (Gutierrez and Hnilica, 1967) paved the way for numerous studies that led to the characterization of a multitude of kinases responsible for histone phosphorylation (Langan, 1968; Prigent and Dimitrov, 2003). This post-translational modification affects the lateral chain of serine, threonine and sometimes tyrosine residues of core histones and linker histones.

Phosphorylation consists of the addition of a phosphate group, derived from triphosphate nucleotides (ATP, GTP, AMPc), to the hydroxyl group in the side chain of the residues concerned. This reaction, catalyzed by specific enzymes of the kinase class, is also reversible by the action of enzymes of the phosphatase class.

Histone phosphorylation plays a key role in many cellular processes such as transcription regulation, apoptosis, cell cycle, DNA repair, chromosome condensation, gene regulation, protein degradation and enzyme activity regulation (Johansen and Johansen, 2006; Kouzarides, 2007; Loomis et al., 2009).

Overall, phosphorylation of histone tails at the serine and threonine residues is involved in chromatin condensation during mitosis and meiosis. For example, it has been shown that phosphorylation of the threonine residue 119 of the C-terminal end of H2A plays a role in regulating the structure of chromatin during mitosis (Banerjee and Chakravarti, 2011). Histone H3 variants have a high retention of N-terminal residues, including threonine residues 3 and 11, and serine residues 10 and 28 which are phosphorylated in many organisms during mitosis. Nevertheless, phosphorylation of serine residues 10 and 28 of histone H3 also appears to have a role in activating gene transcription. The kinases involved in the phosphorylation of the serine 10 residue of H3 are lpL1 and Snf-1 in yeast (Glover et al., 1995; Lo et al., 2001) while in mammals, the Aurora B, IKK, Rsk2 and AKT kinases are responsible for this post-translational modification (Sassone-Corsi et al., 1999; Prigent and Dimitrov, 2003; Yamamoto et al., 2003; Teperek-Tkacz et al., 2010).

3.1.4. Ubiquitinylation of histones

Ubiquitinylation of histones was first observed in 1970. Since then, it has been shown that the histones of the core H2A, H2B, H3 and their respective variants are the targets of this post-translational modification. Ubiquitin is a low molecular weight protein (8 kDa) that is classically attached as a polymer to the amine group ε of the lysine residues of proteins intended for proteasome degradation (Wilkinson, 2000). Ubiquitinylation is generally a sequential reaction involving enzymes of the E1, E2 and E3 families. On the other hand, the withdrawal of one or more ubiquitin groups is achieved by a single enzyme from the isopeptidase class (Wilkinson, 2000).

In many eukaryotes, ubiquitinylation affects about 5 to 15% of the H2A histone pool, the majority of which is mono-ubiquitinylated. However, poly-ubiquitinylated histone H2A has also been detected in many tissues (Nickel and Davie, 1989). For example, it has been shown that the lysine residue 119 of histone H2A is a highly conserved site of ubiquitinylation (Nickel and Davie, 1989). It should be noted that in yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae, no ubiquitinylation of H2A was observed (Robzyk et al., 2000). Ubiquitinylation of H2B has also been detected in many eukaryotic organisms, with the exception of S. pombe and Arabidopsis thaliana. Finally, another

work has shown that histones H3 and H1 are also targets of this post-translational modification (Chen et al., 1998; Pham and Sauer, 2000).

3.1.5. Sumoylation of histones

Sumoylation is a specific post-translational modification of lysine residues that consists of the addition of one or more SUMO (Small Ubiquitin-like MOdifier) proteins. In mammals, there are three SUMO paralogues, SUMO-1, -2 and -3; while in yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae there is only one SUMO paralogue gene, Smt3p (Wang and Dasso, 2009). Overall, sumoylation is a sequential and reversible reaction similar to ubiquitinylation (Wohlschlegel, 2004).

4. Histone variants

Histone variants are non-allelic isoforms of canonical histones. With the exception of H4, the histones of the core (H2A, H2B and H3) and the linker histone H1 have variants that show structural and functional differences. Indeed, histone variants differ from their corresponding canonical histones in gene organization, expression, protein sequence, and deposition mechanism. These histone variants can replace canonical histones and thus locally modify the composition and functions of the nucleosome (Table 1). Indeed, it has been shown that the incorporation of these variants plays an essential role in gene expression regulation, heterochromatin formation and maintenance of epigenetic chromatin markings (Ahmad and Henikoff, 2002a; Ausió and Abbott, 2002; Smith, 2002; Henikoff et al., 2004; Kamakaka and Biggins, 2005; Sarma and Reinberg, 2005; Hamiche and Shuaib, 2012).

Table 1 Core histone variants in vertebrate development									
Histone	Number of gene copies	Cell-cycle expression	Location	Function	Knockout phenotype	Refs			
H2A	15	RD	Throughout the genome	Core histone	ND	153,154			
H2A.X	1	RI	Throughout the genome	DNA repair (mediated by the phosphorylated form yH2A.X) and genome integrity	Male infertility (that is, defects in sperm meiosis) in mice	27			
H2A.Z	2	RI	Throughout the genome	Gene activation, gene silencing and chromosome segregation	Embryonic lethality in H2A.Z.1-knockout mice at E4.5–E7.5	48,50,52			
MacroH2A	2	Possibly RI	Inactive X chromosome	Genesilencing	Brain malformation in zebrafish	57–59			
H2A.Bbd	3	RI	Active X chromosome and euchromatin	Active transcription	ND	18,22			
H2B	17	RD	Throughout the genome	Core histone	ND	153,154			
TSH2B	1	Possibly RI	Throughout the sperm genome and in telomeres of somatic cells	Chromatin-to- nucleoprotamine transition	ND	19,21			
H2BFWT	1	Possibly RI	Primate telomeres in sperm	ND	ND, as there is no gene product in mice	153,154			
H2BE	1	RI	Throughout the genome of olfactory neurons	ND	Overexpression of olfactory receptor in mice	79			
H3.1	10	RD	Throughout the genome	Core histone	ND	87,153,154			
H3.2	3	RD	Throughout the genome	Core histone	ND	87,153,154			
H3.3	2	RD and RI	Throughout the genome	Gene activation, silencing and chromosome segregation	ND; adult infertility in H3.3A-gene-trap and H3.3B-knockout mice	42–44			
H3.4	1	RI	Sperm genome and nucleolus of somatic cells	ND	ND	20			
H3.5	1	Possibly RI	Euchromatin in hominid testis	ND	ND, as there is no gene product in mice	15			
H3.X and H3.Y	1 of each	Possibly RI	Euchromatin in primates	ND	ND, as there is no gene product in mice	53			
CENP-A	1	RI	Centromeres	Chromosome segregation	Embryonic lethality at E3.5–E8.5 in mice	113			
H4	14	RD	Throughout the genome	Core histone	ND	153,154			

CENP-A, histone H3-like centromeric protein A; E, embryonic day; H2BFWT, histone H2B type W-T; ND, not determined; RD, replication dependent; RI, replication independent.

Table 1. Histone variants in vertebrates (Maze et al., 2014). structural and functional differences between vertebrate histone variants.

Histones can be divided into two groups: canonical histones and variant histones. In humans, genes encoding canonical histones are located on chromosomes 6 and 1, organized in clusters, devoid of introns and transcribed into non-polyadenylated mRNAs (Marzluff et al., 2002). In contrast, genes encoding histone variants are found outside these clusters, in small numbers of copies containing introns and transcribed into polyadenylated mRNAs (Woodland, 1984). Canonical histones are specifically expressed during S phase to ensure chromatin assembly after the passage of the replication fork (Krude, 1999) while variant histones are expressed and incorporated into the chromatin throughout the cell cycle. Histones can therefore also

be divided according to their mode of incorporation into chromatin, replicationdependent (RD) or replication-independent (RI).

There are many variants of histones in different species, which will now be reviewed.

4.1. Variants of the H1 histone

The H1 histone family has a high variability according to species, tissues and stage of development. Many variants of histone H1 have been identified in mammals and plants. In mammals, at least eleven variants of H1 have been described, while in Drosophila there is only one H1 histone. Variants of the linker histone show differences in mode of expression, post-translational modification status, DNA compaction capacity and localization (Th'ng et al., 2005; Clausell et al., 2009).

Variants of histone H1 can be classified into three groups based on their mode of expression: H1 histones expressed in phase S (H1.1 to H1.5); H1 histones expressed independently of phase S (H1.0 and H1x); and germ-line specific H1 histones (H1t, H1T2, H1LS1 and H1oo). H1 histones are characterized by their ability to facilitate chromatin condensation, which can also be used to classify these variants (Happel and Doenecke, 2009; Öberg et al., 2012).

Variants H1.2 to H1.5 are expressed in most somatic cells while H1.1 is limited to certain tissues and H1.0 is expressed in cells at the end of differentiation. H1.2 and H1.4 are the dominant variants in most of the tissues studied (Meergans et al., 1997; Franke et al., 1998). To date, H1x is the least well characterized variant of the H1 family. Nevertheless, it has been shown, in some cell types, that H1x is expressed independently of replication and is non-randomly located in poorly accessible regions of the genome (Happel et al., 2005). The other four variants of H1 are germ cell

specific, including H1oo which is expressed in oocytes, and H1t, H1T2 and H1LS1 in the testis (Izzo et al., 2008; Happel and Doenecke, 2009).

In order to determine the biological functions of the H1 histone variants, gene invalidation experiments were performed in mice. It has been shown that the inactivation of genes encoding H1.2, H1.3 or H1.4 does not induce a specific phenotype (Sirotkin et al., 1995) whereas the simultaneous invalidation of these genes causes a specific phenotype with embryonic death occurring in mid-gestation (Fan et al., 2003). These results suggest that histone H1 variantsmay have partially redundant functions (Izzo et al., 2008). Variants of histone H1 are specifically associated with active or inactive regions of chromatin and are involved in transcription regulation. In addition, H1 variants could be involved in other biological processes such as DNA repair (Hashimoto et al., 2007).

4.2. Variants of the histone H2A

The H2A histone family contains the largest number of variants and is highly heterogeneous in terms of sequence and size. To date, 265 members have been identified among different species and many isoforms have no known function. In mammals, four major variants of histone H2A have been characterized: H2A.Z, macroH2A, H2ABbd and H2A.X.

4.2.1. H2A.Z

The histone variant H2A.Z has a high conservation during evolution, and a percentage of identity of about 60% with the canonical histone H2A. H2A.Z is essential for viability in fruit fly, xenopus and mice but not in yeast (Clarkson et al., 1999; Faast et al., 2001; Ridgway et al., 2004). This observation suggests that the role of H2A.Z is variable

depending on the species, and to date its exact function remains controversial. Nevertheless, research shows that H2A.Z is involved in many biological processes such as transcription activation, chromosome segregation, cell cycle control and heterochromatin formation (Zlatanova and Thakar, 2008).

Indeed, it has been shown that H2A.Z is associated with repression and activation of transcription (Santisteban et al., 2000; Meneghini et al., 2003). Recent studies on the entire genome have also shown that H2A.Z deposition is involved in the establishment and maintenance of boundaries that define promoter regions and genes (Jin et al., 2009). In humans, an enrichment of H2A.Z in promoter regions has been shown (Zlatanova and Thakar, 2008) and the function of H2A.Z is regulated by post-translational modifications. Indeed, the acetylation level of H2A.Z is higher in euchromatin regions than in heterochromatin regions and H2A.Z mono-ubiquitinylation seems important in the suppression of X chromosome transcription (Talbert and Henikoff, 2010).

4.2.2. H2A.X

The histone variant H2A.X also has a high degree of evolutionary conservation and differs from the canonical histone H2A by its conserved C-terminal domain containing an SQ motif. The H2A.X variant plays a key role in the repair mechanisms of double-stranded DNA breaks, thus helping to maintain the integrity of the genome. In response to a double-stranded break, the specific DNA damage kinases, ATM (Ataxia Telangectasia Mutated), ATR (ATM and Rad53- Related) and DNA-PK (DNA-dependent Protein Kinase) phosphorylate and bind the serine residue 139 of the H2A.X SQ motif. The modified form is known as γ -H2A.X (Rogakou et al., 1998). The modified γ -H2A.X is present at double-stranded DNA break sites during repair but also

during meiotic recombination (Mahadevaiah et al., 2001), apoptosis (Rogakou et al., 2000) and V(D)J recombination (Chen et al., 2000). In addition, the invalidation of the gene encoding H2A.X induces infertility in male mice due to a mismatch between the X and Y chromosomes during the meiosis prophase (Fernandez-Capetillo et al., 2003).

4.2.3. MacroH2A

The macroH2A histone variant was discovered and characterized by Pehrson and Costanzi (Pehrson and Fried, 1992; Costanzi and Pehrson, 2001). The macroH2A variant is the largest member of the H2A family with 327 amino acids and 40 kDA molecular weight. Indeed, macroH2A have a characteristic hybrid structure composed of an N-terminal domain similar to that of the canonical histone H2A and a novel C-terminal domain NHR (Non-Histone Region) containing a "leucine zipper" motif and a macrodomain (Karras et al., 2005).

In the human genome, there are two genes encoding macroH2A. The first gene, H2AFY, is located on chromosome 5 and codes for two isoforms produced by alternative splicing, macroH2A1.1 and macroH2A1.2 (Rasmussen et al., 1999). The second gene on chromosome 10 codes for the macroH2A2 variant (Chadwick and Willard, 2001b).

The macroH2A histone variant is involved in transcriptional repression. For example, it has been shown that the inactivated X chromosome is enriched with macroH2A1.2 and macroH2A2, suggesting a role in the inactivation of the X chromosome (Costanzi and Pehrson, 1998; Rasmussen et al., 1999; Chadwick and Willard, 2001b). The role of macroH2A in transcription repression has also been described and characterized for the inducible *Hsp* 70 (Heat-Shock Protein) genes. Indeed, the promoter region of the inducible genes Hsp70.1 and Hsp70.2 are strongly

enriched in macroH2A1.1 (Ouararhni et al., 2006). It has been shown that the macrodomain (Karras et al., 2005) of macroH2A1.1 interacts with the PARP-1 protein (Poly-ADP-Ribose Polymerase 1) and inactivates its enzymatic activity. During a thermal shock, macroH2A1.1 and PARP-1 are released from the promoter region of Hsp70.1, allowing the self-activation of PARP-1. Thanks to its ADP-ribosylation activity, PARP-1 can then modify the other proteins associated with the Hsp70.1 promoter and thus activate transcription (Ouararhni et al., 2006).

4.2.4. H2A.Bbd

The H2A.Bbd variant (Barr Body-Deficient) was discovered by Chadwick and Willard in a study showing its exclusion from the inactive X chromosome (Chadwick and Willard, 2001a). It has been shown that this variant is highly variable within mammals unlike all other histones described to date (Malik and Henikoff, 2003; Eirín-López et al., 2008). In humans, three genes devoid of introns and located on the X chromosome code for two histones H2A.Bbd, H2A.Bbd1 and H2A.Bbd2, which differ from only one amino acid (Chadwick and Willard, 2001a). From a structural point of view, H2A.Bbd differs first of all from H2A by the absence of a C-terminal acid domain that interacts with H4 (Luger et al., 1997). In addition, the retained residues carrying post-translational modifications at the N-terminal tail of H2A are also absent from the structure of H2A.Bbd which, on the other hand, has 6 characteristic arginine residues in this region.

In vitro, nucleosomes containing H2A.Bbd are highly unstable and contain only 118 to 130 base pairs (Bao et al., 2004; Doyen et al., 2006). In vivo, recent data suggest that H2A.Bbd plays a role in spermatogenesis, particularly in the exchange between histones and protamines (Ishibashi et al., 2010). In addition, it has been

shown that H2A.Bbd is involved in activating transcription and regulating mRNA splicing (Tolstorukov et al., 2012).

4.3. Variants of the histone H2B

To date, the H2B histone family has 214 different isoforms described in various species, and in humans, there are 23 genes that code for 19 H2B isoforms. However, H2B variants have only been observed in the male germ line and in plant pollen, their function remaining poorly characterized to date. In humans, two variants of H2B, TSH2B (Testis-Specific H2B) and H2BFWT (H2B Family Member W, Testis-specific), have been described in testis.

The TSH2B variant is conserved in mice, rats and humans and has 85% identity with the canonical histone H2B (Zalensky et al., 2002). In humans, TSH2B is specifically expressed in about 30% of sperm cells. This variant is associated with faster chromatin decondensation, suggesting a role in pronucleus formation and subsequent paternal gene activation (Singleton et al., 2007).

The histone H2BFWT has been described as a variant of H2B expressed from the X chromosome, specific to primate testicles, and potentially associated with telomeric DNA (Churikov et al., 2004a). Indeed, it has been shown that H2BFWT is partially localized between telomeric repetitions (Churikov et al., 2004b). Other studies suggest that H2BFWT is also involved in male infertility. Indeed, a point mutation in the 5' untranslated region of H2BFWT induces a decrease in the translation of the variant causing a decrease in sperm count and vitality (Lee et al., 2009).

4.4. Variants of the histone H3

The H3 family of histones includes 8 isoforms: the canonical histones H3.1 and H3.2; and the variant histones H3t, H3.3, CENP-A, H3.X, H3. Y and H3.5 (Figure 15). These histones can be divided according to their mode of incorporation into chromatin, replication-dependent (H3.1 and H3.2) or replication-independent (H3t, H3.3, CENP-A, H3.X, H3. Y and H3.5). In addition, variants H3.3, CENP-A, H3.X and H3. Y are specifically found in somatic cells, while variants H3t and H3.5 are specific to the germ line. In contrast, in yeast, there is only one H3 isoform that is equivalent to the H3.3 isoform found in mammals. In fact, the gene encoding H3.3 is the common ancestor from which the three major isoforms H3.1, H3.2 and H3t emerged during evolution (Postberg et al., 2010). The yeast H3 histone can be incorporated in a replication-idependent and replication-independent manner.

A. Sequence alignment of human H3 variants

H3.1	-ARTKQTARKSTGGKAPRKQLATKAARKSAPATGGVKKPHRYRPGTVALREIRRYQKSTE	59
Н3.2	-ARTKQTARKSTGGKAPRKQLATKAARKSAPATGGVKKPHRYRPGTVALREIRRYQKSTE	59
H3t	-ARTKQTARKSTGGKAPRKQLATKVARKSAPATGGVKKPHRYRPGTVALREIRRYQKSTE	59
H3.3	-ARTKQTARKSTGGKAPRKQLATKAARKSAP S TGGVKKPHRYRPGTVALREIRRYQKSTE	59
Н3.5	-ARTKOTARKSTGGKAPRKOLATKAARKSTPSTCGVK-PHRYRPGTVALREIRRYOKSTE	58
H3.X	-ARTKQTARKATAWQAPRKPLATKAARKRASPTGGIKKPHRYKPGTLALREIRKYQKSTQ	59
Н3.Ү	-ARTKQTARKATAWQAPRKPLATKAAGKRAPPTGGIKKPHRYKPGTLALREIRKYQKSTQ	59
CENP-A	GPRRRSRKPEAPRRRS <mark>P-SPTPT</mark> PGPSRRG <mark>P</mark> SLGASSHQHSRRR-QGWLKEIRKLQKSTH	58
нз 1	LITERLEFORINEETAODEKTDIREOSSAVMALOEACEAVINGLEEDTNLCATHAKRU	117
H3.2	LLIRKLPFORLVREIAODFKTDLRFOSSAVMALOEASEAYLVGLFEDTNLCAIHAKRV	117
H3t	LLIRKLPFORLMREIAODFKTDLRFOSSAVMALOEACESYLVGLFEDTNLCVI HAKRV	117
H3.3	LLIRKLPFORLVREIAODFKTDLRFOSAAIGALOEASEAYLVGLFEDTNLCAIHAKRV	117
H3.5	LLIRKLPFORLVREIAODFNTDLRFOSAVVGALOEASEAYLVGLLEDTNLCAIHAKRV	116
H3.X	LLLRKLPFORLVREIAOAISPDLRFOSAAIGALOEASEAYLVOLFEDTNLCAIHARRV	117
Н3.Ү	LLLRKLPFORLVREIAOAISPDLRFOSAAIGALOEASEAYLVOLFEDTNLCAIHARRV	117
CENP-A	LLIRKLPF ^S RL <mark>A</mark> REICVKFTRGVDFNWQAQALLALQEAAEAFLVĤLFED <mark>AY</mark> LLTLHAGRV	118
нз. 1	TIMPEDICIARRIEGERA	
H3 2		
H3+		
113 2		
H3 5	TIMPROTOLARRIRGERA 134	
H3 X	TIMPROMOLARRI.RGEGAGEPTI.LGNLAI. 146	
H3.Y	TIMPROMOLARRI.RREGP 135	
CENP-A	TLEPKDVOLARRINGLEEGIG 139	

Figure 15. Amino acid sequence alignment of human H3 variants (adapted from Hamiche and Shuaib, 2012). The variation in amino acid residues between H3.3, H3.1, H3.2, H3t and CENP-A are highlighted in red. Despite the high sequence

homology between H3.3, H3t and H3.1/2, H3.3 is specifically recognized and escorted by dedicated chaperones leading to its enrichment at particular genome sites.

4.4.1. The canonical histones H3.1 and H3.2

Canonical histone H3.1 is only found in mammals while H3.2 is present in all eukaryotic organisms except yeast (Bernstein and Hake, 2006). Histones H3.2 and H3.1 differ from only one amino acid substitution at position 96 (S96C), which is why these two proteins are often confused. However, mass spectrometric analyses have clearly shown that the expression level and post-translational change profile of histories H3.1 and H3.2 are different and specific (Hake et al., 2006; Garcia et al., 2008). Indeed, it has been shown that H3.1 is associated with post-translational modifications of the constitutive heterochromatin such as the dimethylation of the lysine residue 9 but also the monomethylation of the lysine residue 64 and the acetylation of the lysine residue 14. In contrast, H3.2 is associated with post-translational modifications such as dimethylation and trimethylation of the lysine residue 27, characteristic of optional heterochromatin (Hake et al., 2006). These functional differences can be explained by a hypothesis involving the cysteine residue 96. Indeed, it has been proposed that the cysteine residue 96 of H3.1 may be involved in the formation of disulfide bridges with neighbouring nucleosomes, lamin B receptors and other factors, thus promoting chromatin condensation (Hake et al., 2006).

4.4.2. H3t

The histone variant H3t, specifically found in mammalian testicles, has four amino acid substitutions compared to H3.1 (A24V, V71M, A98S and A111V) (Witt et al., 1996) (Figure 15). A recent study showed that substitutions at positions 71 and 111 cause instability of nucleosomes containing histone H3t, which could play a role in

spermatogenesis by promoting the replacement of histones by protamines (Tachiwana et al., 2010). Although H3t is predominantly expressed in the testis, this variant has also been detected in small amounts in the HeLa cell line (Andersen et al., 2005), mouse embryos, and in the brain and spleen of adult mice (Govin et al., 2007). To date, the function of the somatic fraction of the histone H3t remains to be determined.

4.4.3. H3.3

In humans, the histone variant H3.3 is encoded by the genes H3F3A and H3F3B, located on chromosomes 1 and 17 respectively. This variant has a 96% identity percentage with H3.1, *i.e.* five amino acid substitutions (A31S, S87A, V89I, M90G and C96S) (Figure 15). Despite these small differences, it has been shown that H3.3 behaves in a very specific way. Indeed, H3.3 is expressed throughout the cell cycle and can be incorporated into chromatin in a way that is dependent and independent of DNA replication, unlike H3.1 (Ahmad and Henikoff, 2002b). Mutagenesis experiments in Drosophila have been carried out to better understand these differences. The S31A, A87S, I89V, G90M mutations of histone H3.3 do not affect its behaviour, however, only one of the S87A, V89I, M90G mutations on histone H3.1 causes its partial incorporation, independent of replication (Ahmad and Henikoff, 2002c).

Classically, H3.3 is considered to be an active transcription marker(Shi, 2017). This is supported by results demonstrating a specific enrichment of H3.3 in posttranslational modifications associated with transcription activation, such as lysine residue 4 methylation and lysine residue 9 acetylation (McKittrick et al., 2004; Hake et al., 2006). Indeed, in embryonic stem cells, it has been shown that histone H3.3, associated with the trimethylation of lysine residues 4 and 27, is enriched at the site of initiation of transcription of active and non-active genes (Goldberg et al., 2010). These

observations highlight the notion of bivalent promoter regions, where activating (such as H3K4me3) and repressive (such as H3K27me3) post-translational modifications coexist to allow a fine and rapid regulation of transcription (Vastenhouw and Schier, 2012) (Figure 16). However, it is possible that one allele of the gene is associated with heterochromatin, and the other one with euchromatin. This would give the appearance of bivalent chromatin (Figure 16).



Figure 16. Bivalent promoter regions (Adapted from <u>Tollervey</u> and Lunyak, **2012**). Some chromatin regions have been identified with both activating (H3K4me3) and repressive (H3K27Me3) histone marks; termed bivalent chromatin. It is possible that these PTMs occur on neighboring nucleosomes, however, it is also possible that one allele of the gene is associated with heterochromatin, and the other euchromatin. This would give the appearance of bivalent chromatin.

Other studies have highlighted the importance of H3.3 in the regulation of several types of repeated sequences. In embryonic stem cells, it has been shown that the incorporation of histone H3.3 is involved in regulating the transcription of telomeric repeat sequences (Goldberg et al., 2010) and that maintaining the integrity of these regions is involved in the development of certain cancers (Wong et al., 2009; 2010). Histone variant H3.3 also plays a major role in regulating the transcription of pericentric chromatin repeat sequences. In mice, recent studies have shown that a lack of incorporation of H3.3 in these regions leads to a collapse of the transcription of pericentric repeat sequences (Drané et al., 2010). Nevertheless, in humans, the functional role of pericentromeric transcripts remains largely misunderstood to this day.

Several studies have shown the involvement of H3.3 in cancer processes. In particular, it has been shown that mutations in the N-terminal region of H3.3, including lysine 27 and glycine 34 residues, are found in several types of very aggressive brain tumours (Schwartzentruber et al., 2012; Wu et al., 2012). In addition, it has been shown that some proteins involved in the incorporation of H3.3 into chromatin, such as ATRX, are implicated in other diseases. These data highlight the importance of the deposition mechanisms that will be addressed below.

4.4.4 CENP-A

The CENP-A histone variant is specifically incorporated at the centromere in all eukaryotes (Smith, 2002). The centromere is a specialized region of eukaryotic chromosomes required for the assembly of kinetochores. This region is therefore of vital importance for genome stability. Indeed, it has been shown that a lack of chromosome segregation can lead to aneuploidy and tumor formation (Lv et al., 2012). Numerous studies have shown that CENP-A is required for the assembly and maintenance of active centromeres (Vafa and Sullivan, 1997; Ahmad and Henikoff, 2001; Shuaib et al., 2010). Unlike the other H3 variants, CENP-A has a low percentage of identity with H3.1, or 42%. In addition, during evolution, the N-terminal end of CENP-

A has low conservation in sequence and length. In order to ensure the specific incorporation of CENP-A at the centromere level, some work suggests that this variability would be the result of an adaptation to the inter-species variability that exists at the level of centromeric repeat sequences (Cooper and Henikoff, 2004).

To date, the only known post-translational modification of CENP-A are the phosphorylation of the serine 7 residue by Aurora B kinase during mitosis prophase (Zeitlin et al., 2001) and the ubiquitination of lysine 124 which is involved in its deposition (Niikura, 2017).

4.4.5. Other variants of histone H3 (H3.X, H3.Y and H3.5)

Two variants of the histone H3, H3.X and H3.Y, encoded by genes located on chromosome 5, have been identified (Wiedemann et al., 2010). These variants, found only in primates, have amino acid substitutions preserved and modified in the sequence of histones H3.1, H3.2 and H3.3; in humans, variants H3.X and H3.Y are expressed in small amounts in bone tissue, breasts, lungs, testicles, certain areas of the brain, ovarian tumor tissue and the U2OS cell line (Wiedemann et al., 2010). Another new histone H3 variant, H3.5, has been identified in the testicles, in association with regions of active transcription (Schenk et al., 2011). However, its function is still unknown.

5. Deposition of core histones

The deposition of histones during chromatin assembly is an ordered process that is assisted by histone chaperone proteins. In the context of chromatin assembly, histone chaperones are defined as proteins that bind to histones to ensure their incorporation into DNA without being present in the final product. Following the discovery of the first
histone chaperone in 1978, then called nucleoplasmin (Laskey et al., 1978), many similar proteins were identified and characterized. Histone chaperones are involved in the deposition, dependent or independent of replication, of histones on DNA but also in their storage and transfer within the cell, their exchange with other histones, and their removal from the nucleosome. In addition, chaperones prevent non-specific interactions that could occur between histones, DNA and other proteins. Finally, chaperones are most likely to be involved, directly or indirectly, in post-translational modifications of histones.

5.1. Deposition of histones H3-H4

Classically, there are two main ways of depositing H3-H4 histones on chromatin: replication-coupled deposition (RC) and replication-independent deposition (RI). The RC and RI deposition processes have been described from yeast to humans, although yeast has only one H3 histone, similar to the H3.3 histone found in mammals. *In vivo,* nucleosome assembly is preceded by several steps: synthesis and folding of histones in the cytoplasm, transfer to the nucleus and recruitment on DNA at specific deposition sites. This flow must be regulated and guided to ensure the essential functions of histones.

5.1.1. From the cytoplasm to the nucleus

Following histone synthesis, transfer from the cytoplasm to the nucleus is the first step in the deposition process involving histone chaperones. The protein Asf1 (Anti-Silencing Function 1), the first chaperone identified, supports histones in the cytoplasm to transfer them to the nucleus and other chaperones such as CAF-1 (Chromatin Assembly Factor 1) and HIRA (HIstone Regulatory Homolog A) (Tyler et al., 1999; Groth et al., 2005). Biochemical and structural studies have shown that Asf1 specifically binds to the dimer H3-H4 (English et al., 2005; 2006), thus preventing the formation of the tetramer H3-H4. It has been shown that the synthesis and transport of newly synthesized histones are related processes that involve multi-protein chaperone complexes and specific post-translational modifications (Jasencakova et al., 2010). For example, acetylation of lysine residues 5 and 12 of histone H4, conserved in many eukaryotes and catalyzed by holoenzyme HAT1-RbAp46, is characteristic of newly synthesized histones (Verreault et al., 1998).

The purification of proteins associated with histone H3 has led to a better understanding of the assembly and transfer mechanisms of H3-H4 dimers. In the cytoplasm, histones H3 and H4 are associated with HSC70, HSP90, tNASP, sNASP, RbAp46, Asf1a/b, importin 4 and HAT1 proteins (Campos et al., 2010; Alvarez et al., 2011). After their synthesis, histones H3 and H4 interact with HSP90 and HSC70 to ensure functional folding and prevent aggregation phenomena (Campos et al., 2010; Alvarez et al., 2011). Before transfer to the nucleus and deposition, the proteins HSP90 and tNASP facilitate the formation of the H3-H4 dimer (Campos et al., 2010). Once the H3-H4 dimer is assembled, RbAp46 associates with the C-terminal end of H4 and induces HAT1 recruitment which allows acetylation of lysine residues 5 and 12 of histone H4 (Campos et al., 2010). The acetylated H3-H4 dimer is then transferred to Asf1a/b and importin 4 to provide transport to the nucleus (Campos et al., 2010; Alvarez et al., 2011).

5.1.2. Deposition of histones on chromatin

The analysis of soluble nuclear complexes, known as "pre-assembly complexes", associated with H3 histones allowed to identify the proteins HJURP, CAF-1, Asf1a/b, HIRA and DAXX as major chaperones involved in the specific deposition of H3 histones. The CAF-1 chaperone provides RC deposition of the canonical histones H3, while the RI deposition of variant H3.3 is provided by the proteins HIRA and DAXX. Asf1a/b proteins play a role in both deposition modes. To date, the chaperones involved in the deposition of H3t, H3.X, H3. Y and H3.5 are unknown.

5.1.3. Replication-dependent deposition

Canonical histones H3.1 and H3.2 are specifically expressed and deposited during the replication phase of the cell cycle. In S phase, the amount of DNA is doubled, which implies the need to form new nucleosomes. Two sources of histones are then available within the cell: the "old" histones, and the newly synthesized histones. Classically, it is accepted that nucleosomes are disassembled into two dimers H2A-H2B and a H3-H4 tetramer during replication (Annunziato, 2005). The nucleosomes are then reassembled on the strands of daughter DNA with the "old" histones and the "new" histones. There are three models to explain the distribution of these histones after replication: (i) the random model, in which the old and new histones are equally distributed over the strands of daughter DNA which are then completed by the new histones; (Mori, 2002) the asymmetric model, in which are then completed by the new histones; (Mori, 2002) the asymmetric model, in which all the old histones are incorporated into a single strand of son DNA, the other strand being the new histones. These models are not necessarily exclusive, but rather context-specific, such as cell type or nuclear domain (Probst et al., 2009). Recent study coming from the Groth

laboratory showed that parental histones H3-H4 segregate to both daughter DNA strands with a weak leading-strand bias (Petryk, 2018).

It has been shown that CAF-1 provides RC deposition of the canonical histones H3 (Figure 17). In vitro, CAF-1 can also promote the assembly of chromatin on SV40 virus replicative DNA (Smith and Stillman, 1989). In mammals, the CAF-1 deposition complex is strongly conserved and consists of the subunits p150, p60 and p48. It has been shown that the p150 subunit is recruited at DNA replication sites via direct interaction with PCNA (Proliferating Cell Nuclear Antigen) (Krude, 1995; Marheineke and Krude, 1998; Shibahara and Stillman, 1999; Moggs et al., 2000; Gérard et al., 2006). In vivo, CAF-1 complex specifically interacts with canonical histones H3.1 and H3.2 but not with variant histone H3.3 These observations clearly demonstrate CAF-1's direct involvement in RC deposition (Tagami et al., 2004).

In the nucleus, the newly synthesized H3-H4 dimers are first associated with the Asf1 protein and then transmitted to the CAF-1 complex. This transfer is facilitated by the interaction between Asf1 and p60 which has been demonstrated in vitro and in vivo (Tyler et al., 2001) although the exact transfer mechanism of H3-H4 dimers remains poorly characterized.

5.1.4. Replication independent deposition of H3.3

Unlike canonical H3 histones, the expression and deposition of the histone H3.3 variant takes place throughout the cell cycle. Histone H3.3 is incorporated into DNA in specific regions of the genome, suggesting specific mechanisms and deposition factors. Indeed, it has been shown that the incorporation of the histone variant H3.3 into chromatin is ensured by the specific chaperones HIRA and DAXX.

5.1.5. Deposition of H3.3 by HIRA

Historically, HIRA has been the first specific chaperone of the histone variant H3.3. It was shown in vitro that the RI assembly of chromatin is facilitated by the HIRA protein in Xenopus egg extracts (Ray-Gallet et al., 2002) and that histones interact specifically with this HIRA (Lorain et al., 1998). Subsequently, the purification of the pre-assembly complexes of H3.1 and H3.3 made it possible to identify, in HeLa cells, the specificity of the CAF-1 and HIRA chaperones (Tagami et al., 2004). It has also been shown that the enrichment of H3.3 in many genes, transcribed or repressed, is dependent on the HIRA chaperone in embryonic stem cells (Goldberg et al., 2010) (Figure 17). However, the interaction of HIRA with H3.3 was recently challenged by two recent studies showing that it is Ubinuclein which confers H3.3 recognition and selectivity to the HIRA complex (Ricketts, 2015;Xiong, 2018). These data suggest that Ubinuclein is the H3.3 bona fide histone chaperone.

In Drosophila, HIRA is involved in the deposition of H3.3 during male pronucleus decondensation, but is not required in embryonic and adult cells (Loppin et al., 2005), suggesting other specific mechanisms for deposition of the H3.3 variant histone. The protein Asf1, also present in the H3.3 complex, is most probably also involved in the transfer of H3.3-H4 dimers to chromatin.



Figure 17. Histone variants and their dedicated chaperones for H3 family (from Sitbon et al., 2017). CenH3 is incorporated at centromeres by HJURP. H3.3 is incorporated at regulatory elements by the HIRA complex and at telomeres and by the DAXX/ATRX complex at pericentric heterochromatin. Canonical H3.1 is incorporated genome-wide by the CAF-1 complex.

5.1.6. Deposition of H3.3 by DAXX

Initially, DAXX (Death domain-associated protein 6) was described as an apoptosis regulatory protein, linked to the FAS receptor and the JNK signalling pathway (Jun N-terminal Kinase) (Yang et al., 1997). Other data have also suggested that DAXX protein is involved in stabilizing ubiquitin ligase Mdm2, which is involved in the degradation of p53 (Tang et al., 2006). In addition, a role in controlling transcription through the suppression of certain transcription factors, including Pax3 (Hollenbach et al., 1999) and ETS1 (Li et al., 2000), has been described.

Our group and David Allis' group defined DAXX as a specific chaperone for the histone variant H3.3 following the accumulation of clear data from different study models. Indeed, DAXX is an acid protein (pl 4,6) which has a domain rich in glutamic and aspartic acid contained in a domain homologous to the Rtt106 domain found in yeast. This type of domain is a characteristic shared by many histone chaperones such as yeast protein Rtt106 (Huang et al., 2005), nucleoplasmin (Dutta et al., 2001) and the FACT complex (Belotserkovskaya et al., 2003). In view of these data, our work and that of David Allis' team sought to highlight DAXX's chaperoning activity. First, it was shown, in HeLa cells, that the protein DAXX, associated with the ATRX chromatin remodeler, is a major and specific component of the preassembly complex of the histone variant H3.3 (Drané et al., 2010), absent from the preassembly complex of the canonical histone H3.1. In addition, the acid domain of DAXX is involved in the direct and specific interaction with H3.3 (Drané et al., 2010), and the "AAIG" motif, containing three of the substitutions of H3.3 with respect to H3.1, carries this specificity (Lewis et al., 2010). Finally, in vitro, the deposition of the recombinant H3.3-H4 tetramer on bacterial DNA is facilitated by the presence of DAXX (Drané et al., 2010). All these data clearly show that the DAXX protein is a specific chaperone of the histone variant H3.3 (Figure 18).



Figure 18. DAXX and H3.3 associate with both PML-NBs (Salomoni 2013). DAXX and H3.3 are found at PML-NBs, suggesting that PML may regulate H3.3 loading to

heterochromatin. DAXX association with PML-RARα is required for transformation in vitro. Although it is presently unknown whether H3.3 also associates with PML-RARα, it is conceivable that PML-RARα via interaction with DAXX could modulate H3.3 loading.

The existence of two deposition complexes (DAXX and HIRA) specific for histone H3.3 has been partially explained by several studies. Indeed, it has been shown that DAXX-ATRX and HIRA complexes incorporate H3.3 in different regions of the genome. In embryonic stem cells, the enrichment of histone H3.3 in many genes, transcribed or repressed, is dependent on the HIRA chaperone. Nevertheless, the invalidation of HIRA does not lead to significant changes in the overall genome expression profile (Goldberg et al., 2010), suggesting the existence of compensatory mechanisms. In contrast, the incorporation of histone H3.3 in telomeric and pericentromeric regions is independent of the HIRA chaperone and is provided by the DAXX-ATRX complex in embryonic stem cells (Drané et al., 2010; Goldberg et al., 2010).

It is important to note that DAXX protein is also, together with SP100 protein, a major component of PML nuclear bodies (ProMyelocytic Leukemia) which have been involved in alternative telomer extension mechanisms characteristic of certain cancers (Heaphy et al., 2011b; Chung et al., 2012), as well as in the formation of heterochromatin foci associated with senescence (Ye et al., 2007; Rai and Adams, 2012). In addition, it has been shown that the deposition of histone H3.3 in pericentromeric repeat sequences is specifically ensured by the DAXX-ATRX complex in murine embryonic fibroblasts through the PML-NBs (Drané et al., 2010).

5.1.7. Deposition of H2A-H2B histones

The incorporation of H2A-H2B dimers into the chromatin also involves several proteins. In the cytoplasm, it has been shown that the binding and transfer to the nucleus of H2A-H2B dimers is ensured by the NAP1 protein (Nucleosome Assembly Protein 1) (Mosammaparast et al., 2002). In vitro, it has also been shown that NAP-1 allows nucleosome assembly (Ishimi et al., 1987; Chang et al., 1997). However, biochemical studies indicate that NAP-1 is preferentially associated with histones H3 and H4 when all histones of the core are present (McBryant et al., 2003; Mazurkiewicz et al., 2006; Eckey et al., 2007).

In yeast, the deposition of the histone variant Htz (homologous to H2A.Z) involves the Chz1 protein and the SWR1 complex (Korber and Hörz, 2004; Luk et al., 2007). The CHZ pattern, found in the human protein HIRIP3 (HIRA-Interacting Protein 3), is characteristic of certain factors that interact with histones (Lorain et al., 1998). In addition, p400 and SRCAP complexes (homologues of the SWR1 complex) can facilitate the exchange between the H2A-H2B and H2A.Z-H2B dimers within the nucleosome (Gévry et al., 2007). As a result, HIRIP3, p400 and SRCAP could be involved in the specific deposition of H2A.Z, however, to date, these results have yet to be specified. Finally, it has been shown that the FACT complex is involved in the exchange between the dimers γ -H2A.X-H2B and H2A.X-H2B (Heo et al., 2008), although no specific H2A.X deposition activity has been identified. The macroH2A and H2A.Bbd variant histones do not have specific chaperones identified to date.

6. Histone H3.3 biological functions

The histone variant H3.3 diverge from the canonical H3.1 histone by only 5 amino acids. Despite this high homology, H3.1 cannot rescue H3.3 loss and the two

histones play different biological functions (Couldrey et al., 1999; Bush et al., 2013; Tang et al., 2015). The histone variant H3.3 has been implicated in several important nuclear processes, including gene regulation, DNA repair and chromosome segregation. However, its exact biological functions remain unknown. Below, we will describe some of the current knowledges about histone H3.3 biological functions.

6.1. Role of H3.3 in transcription activation

The histone H3.3 variant was initially found associated with transcriptionally active chromatin enriched in active post-translational modifications (Ahmad and Henikoff, 2002; McKittrick et al., 2004). The deposition of H3.3 was shown to be uncoupled from replication (Schwartz and Ahmad, 2005). In contrast to the canonical histone, H3.3 was found to play an active role in the maintenance of an accessible chromatin structure at enhancer and actively transcribed genes. In addition, nucleosomes harboring the hybrid H3.3/H2A.Z histones have been shown to be intrinsically unstable and to promote gene activation (Jin and Felsenfeld 2007; Jin et al. 2009; Chen et al. 2013). Accordingly, the histone H3.3 variant was found enriched at transcription start sites (TSS) of both active and repressed CG-rich promoters, and in the gene bodies and transcriptional end site of active genes (Goldberg et al., 2010). Histone H3.3 has been shown to promote transcriptional recovery after a genotoxic stress in a HIRA-dependent manner (Adam et al., 2013). The deposition of H3.3 by HIRA has been shown to be stimulated by interferon to regulate interferon stimulated genes (Bachu et al., 2019).

However, despite mounting evidence about the association of H3.3 with active chromatin (Goldberg et al. 2010) its role in transcription activation is still debated and whether H3.3 deposition indeed drives transcription or simply reflects the need to

recruit a replacement histone during transcription. Accordingly, several studies reported that the absence of H3.3 has only a mild effect on basal or activated transcription (Bush et al., 2013; Jang et al., 2015, Ors et al., 2017). This leads to the conclusion that H3.3 might not play a pivotal role in transcriptional activation despite its importance during development.

6.2. H3.3 function during development

One of the most important function of H3.3 is its role in the early step of development. After oocyte activation, the canonical histone H3.1 is replaced by maternal-derived H3.3 in the donor nucleus through the HIRA-dependent pathway. Immediately after fertilization, maternal H3.3 invades paternal chromatin by replacing protamines (Loppin et al., 2005; Torres-Padilla et al., 2006). In addition, HIRA-mediated H3.3 deposition is also required for rRNA transcription in addition to its role in parental genome reprogramming (Lin et al., 2014).

Loss or inactivation of the two H3.3 genes in flies has no effect on embryonic and postnatal development but leads to infertility (Hodl and Basler 2009; Sakai et al. 2009). Surprisingly, the fertility problem can be rescued by overexpressing H3.2 (Hodl and Basler, 2012). Conversely, overexpression of H3.3 in S-phase can also rescue growth defects in H3.2-null flies (Hodl and Basler, 2012). In flies, it appears that only the overall level of H3 histones is important for fly development and the H3.3 variant is interchangeable with canonical histones. In *Caenorhabditis elegans*, the complete loss of H3.3 has not effect on viability or fertility (Piazzesi et al., 2016). However, in more developed organism such as *Xenopus*, H3.3 loss leads to gastrulation defects that cannot be rescued by canonical histones (Szenker et al., 2012). The histone H3.3 was found important for the proper cranial neural crest cell differentiation in zebrafish, (Cox et al., 2012).

Inactivation of both H3f3a and H3f3b genes in mice led to early embryonic lethality and double H3f3a^{KO/WT} / H3f3b^{KO} mutant males are totally infertile, while double H3f3a^{KO/WT} / H3f3b^{KO} females are fertile, revealing a specific role of H3.3 in spermatogenesis (Jang et al. 2015). Another study showed that H3.3B depletion is alone sufficient to generate infertility in mice (Yuen et al. 2014). Other reports claimed that H3f3b heterozygotes were growth-deficient with males being sterile because of problems at the level of round spermatids, while H3.3A depleted males were found subfertile with dysmorphic spermatozoa (Daniel Ricketts et al. 2015). A hypomorphic gene-trap mutation in H3f3a led to high mortality by weaning and the surviving animals exhibited severe infertility(Couldrey et al. 1999). Taken as a whole, these data demonstrate that H3.3 is an important player in spermatogenesis. The various genetic background of the animals used could explain the observed different impact of H3.3A and H3.3B on the progress of spermatogenesis in the different studies. The molecular mechanism of H3.3 function during spermatogenesis and in particular, the impact of the H3.3 deficiency on transcription at genome-wide level, are, however, only superficially addressed.

H3.3 was also found to play an important role in early development. H3.3 mutations such as H3.3R26 and H3.3K27 have been shown to be essential for proper oogenesis and good partitioning of the cells to the inner cell mass of the early embryo (Zhou et al., 2017). H3.3 also plays a key role in cell fate transition by maintaining the parental cell identities during reprogramming and by regulating genes implicated in the lineage reprogramming (Fang et al., 2018b). In embryonic stem cells (ESC) H3.3 was found to be required for the developmentally regulated bivalent promoters harboring

both by the activation-associated H3K4me3 mark and the repression-associated H3K27me3 mark (Bernstein et al., 2006). H3.3 was shown involved in the recruitement of the Polycomb-repressive complex 2 (PRC2) (Banaszynski et al. 2013).

6.3. H3.3 and mitosis

Inactivation of H3.3 in mouse embryonic stem cells or mouse embryonic fibroblasts caused several important mitotic defects such as lagging chromosomes and chromosome bridges during anaphase (Jang et al., 2015) (Ors et al., 2017). H3.3 is also involved in DNA replication by maintaining the replication fork and in the transcription restart after UV damage (Adam et al., 2013; Frey et al., 2014). These effects are likely to be mediated by histone H3.3 N-terminal tail. Deletion of H3.3 tail was shown to lock the cells in the senescent process (Duarte et al., 2014).

6.4. Heterochromatin

One of the most important function of H3.3 is its role in telomere function, heterochromatin formation and mobile elements silencing. H3.3 is deposited at pericentromeric heterochromatin and telomeres by the DAXX/ATRX complex (Drané et al., 2010; Goldberg et al., 2010). Mouse embryonic fibroblast lacking H3.3 have a decondensed chromatin at telomeres, centromeres and pericentromeres (Jang et al., 2015).

H3.3 deposition at telomeric (TTAGGG)n repeats is dependent on ATRX in mESC (Wong et al., 2009; Goldberg et al., 2010). H3.3 deposition at telomeres involve other factors such as DEK and HP1 - (Ivanauskiene et al., 2014). The interaction between ATRX, HP1 - and H3.3 is important in the maintenance of telomere structural

integrity (Wong et al., 2010). The deposition of the repressive H3.3K9me3 methylation was shown to serve as an ATRX docking site and is essential for telomere repression (Udugama et al., 2015).

H3.3 also plays a key role at pericentric heterochromatin where it is deposited by the ATRX/DAXX complex in a PML-dependent manner (Delbarre et al., 2017) (Drané et al., 2010). The recruitment of H3.3 by DAXX into the PML nuclear bodies has been shown to be essential for the transcriptional regulation of pericentromeric satellite repeats in both mouse and human (Morozov et al., 2012).

H3.3 was also found enriched at other repeats such as endogenous retroviral elements (Elsässer et al., 2015) containing long terminal repeats (LTRs). In mouse embryonic stem cells, ERVs form a subset of transposable elements repressed by the KAP1 complex in a H3K9me3 dependent manner (Rowe et al., 2010; Rowe et al., 2013b). Accordingly, depletion of H3.3 in ESCs resulted in ERVs de-repression and reactivation (Elsässer et al., 2015). Thus, H3.3 seems to play a critical role in ERVs silencing.

In conclusion, H3.3 plays an important role yet underexplored in promoting H3K9me3 formation, heterochromatin propagation and mobile elements silencing.

6.5. Histone H3.3 mutations in cancer

Recently, sequencing of tumor cells revealed that histone H3.3 is frequently mutated in various tumors including pediatric high-grade glioma (pHGG), with up to 80 % of diffuse intrinsic pontine gliomas (DIPGs) carrying K27M mutation and 36 % of non-brainstem gliomas carrying either K27M or G34R/V mutations (Schwartzentruber et al. 2012; Wu et al. 2012). Both groups reported recurrent somatic heterozygous mutations in the gene encoding the histone variant H3.3A (i.e., *H3F3A*. This was the

first demonstration that histone mutations may be drivers of disease (Vogelstein et al.

2013) (Figure 19).



Figure 19. Histone H3.3 mutations in cancer (Yuen and Knoepfler, 2013). K27M and G34R/V mutations of H3.3 (*H3F3A*) display distinct characteristics from one another.

(A) G34R/V mutations (gray, top) in *H3F3A* localize primarily to cerebral/cortical hemispheres. K27M mutations (pink, bottom) in *H3F3A* localize primarily to midline locations, including the spinal cord, thalamus, pons, and brainstem. G34R/V mutations overlap with mutations in *TP53* and *ATRX/DAXX* and *PDGFRA*. K27M mutations overlap with mutations in *TP53* and *ATRX/DAXX*, *NF-1*, *PDGFRA*, *BRAF*, *KRAS*, and *FGFR1*.

(B) Age of onset of H3.3-mutated tumors. K27M mutations are more prevalent in younger patients (median age, 12 years) while G34R/V mutations are more prevalent in older patients (median age, 20 years).

Intriguingly, H3.3 mutations are also found to simultaneously overlap with other

specific mutations within the same tumor. Approximately 30% of K27M mutations are

associated with mutations in ATRX/DAXX and 60% with mutations in the tumor

suppressor gene TP53 (coding for p53)(Schwartzentruber et al. 2012). K27M

mutations have also been found at much lower frequency alongside mutations in NF-

1, PDGFRA, BRAF, KRAS, and FGFR1 in gliomas (Khuong-Quang et al. 2012;

Schwartzentruber et al. 2012). Meanwhile, G34R/V mutations completely overlap with

tumors containing mutations in TP53 and ATRX/DAXX, but have also been found together with mutations in PDGFRA (Schwartzentruber et al. 2012). Tumors with mutations in H3F3A, TP53, and ATRX/DAXX contain a higher abundance of copy number alterations (Schwartzentruber et al. 2012), although there was not a clear association between increases in copy number alterations and H3F3A mutations alone. Given that H3F3A mutations are found in heterozygous form and that these gliomas exhibit similar rates of TP53 mutation with other glioma types, H3.3K27M and H3.3G34R/V may act as driver mutations with TP53 mutations occurring as a second hit (Khuong-Quang et al. 2012; Schwartzentruber et al. 2012), although it is important to note that G34R/V mutations display much higher association with mutations in ATRX/DAXX and TP53.

Despite these scientific advances, the mechanistic aspects of H3.3 mutation functions are largely unknown. It is tempting to speculate that H3.3 mutations affect heterochromatin formation and mobile elements silencing.

II. RESULTS

An alternative histone H3.3 deposition pathway using DAXX and CAF-1 targets X-chromosome and DNA repeats

Hatem SALEM, Guillaume Yettou, Christophe Papin, Khalid Ouararhni, Isabelle Stoll, Christian Bronner and Ali Hamiche[§]

Département de Génomique Fonctionnelle et Cancer, Institut de Génétique et Biologie Moléculaire et Cellulaire (IGBMC), UdS, CNRS, INSERM, 1 rue Laurent Fries, B.P. 10142, 67404 Illkirch Cedex, France.

[§]To whom correspondence should be addressed. e-mail:<u>hamiche@igbmc.fr</u>

Abbreviations: DAXX, death domain-associated protein; CAF-1, chromatin assembly factor 1; ATRX, α-thalassemia mental retardation X-linked; MJS, major satellite repeats; PML-NBs, promyelocytic leukemia nuclear bodies

Keywords: DAXX, CAF-1, histone H3.3, X-chromosome, Repetitive elements.

Abstract

The histone chaperone DAXX targets H3.3 to pericentric and telomeric heterochromatin in a replication independent manner. The mechanism that ensures appropriate recruitment of DAXX to heterochromatic region is largely unknown. Using proteomic and biochemical approaches, we show that in addition to the well-known ATRX/H3.3 complex, DAXX forms an alternative complex with CAF-1, ADNP, HP1 \checkmark and Trim28. DAXX physically interact with the C-terminus of CAF1-p150 subunit through its N-terminal domain. The DAXX SIM domain was found to be essential for targeting DAXX to PML-NBs, for the recruitment of CAF-1 to heterochromatin. Our genomic data further revealed that DAXX targets CAF-1 to X-chromosome and repetitive elements. Inactivation of DAXX results in major depletion of CAF-1 from X-chromosome SINEs and LINEs. Our data point to a novel function of DAXX and CAF-1 in targeting H3.3 to X-chromosome.

Introduction

The packaging of the genome within the complex chromatin organization plays a key role in the control of its activity. The basic unit of chromatin, the nucleosome, is composed of a histone octamer (two each of H2A, H2B, H3 and H4) around which two superhelical turns of DNA are wrapped (Luger et al., 1997). All the conventional histones, except H4, have histone variants. Histone variants are non-allelic forms of the conventional histones (van Holde, 1988). The incorporation of histone variants into the nucleosome is implicated in the regulation of several epigenetics phenomena (reviewed in (Ahmad and Henikoff, 2002a; Malik and Henikoff, 2003)). Indeed, H2A and H3 variants have diversified to assume roles in epigenetic silencing and centromere and telomere functions (Amor et al., 2004; Grewal and Jia, 2007; Henikoff and Dalal, 2005; Van Hooser et al., 2001). The Histone variant H3.3 marks active chromatin by replacing the conventional histone H3.1 but its exact function is remains elusive (Ahmad and Henikoff, 2002b, c; Hamiche and Shuaib, 2012). The histone variant H3.3 is implicated in several important nuclear events, including transcription and mitosis (Goldberg et al., 2010; Jang et al., 2015; Jin and Felsenfeld, 2007; Ors et al., 2017). In mice, H3.3 becomes enriched at paternal chromosomes, thus being involved in an important role of *de novo* heterochromatin formation at pericentromeric regions (Akiyama et al., 2011; Sugimura et al., 2010). It has also been shown that interfering with major satellite transcription prevents the formation of chromocenter during early stage of mammalian development (Probst et al., 2010). H3.3-containing nucleosomes are considered as of lower stability than nucleosomes with other variants of H3 (Jin and Felsenfeld, 2007) thus this property may mediate the promotion of pericentromeric DNA repeats transcription (Boyarchuk et al., 2011). This might come from the fact that their transcription is facilitated by reducing the energy required to evict nucleosomes from active genes.

Genome-wide analysis of the H3.3 distribution has shown that H3.3 is located on promoters, enhancers, gene bodies and both pericentromeric and telomeric heterochromatin (Goldberg et al., 2010; Jang et al., 2015; Jin and Felsenfeld, 2007; Ors et al., 2017), but how does H3.3 act on these elements is not clear. The turnover of H3.3 depends on its localization, suggesting that the residence time of H3.3 association with specific chromatin loci is linked to its function (Huang and Zhu, 2014).

H3.3 is also involved in spermatogenesis. P element transposition-deletion of both

H3.3A and *H3.3B* in *Drosophila resulted* in severe infertility and reduced viability (Sakai et al., 2009). Similarly, inactivation of both *H3f3a* and *H3f3b* genes in mice led to early embryonic lethality and double $H3f3a^{KO/WT}$ / $H3f3b^{KO}$ mutant males are totally infertile, while double $H3f3a^{KO/WT}$ / $H3f3b^{KO}$ females are fertile, revealing a specific role of H3.3 in spermatogenesis (Jang et al., 2015). Another study revealed that H3.3B depletion alone is sufficient to generate mice infertility (Yuen et al., 2014).

H3.1 and H3.3 variants share 96% identity but they exhibit important differences in behavior such as during cell cycle regulation. For instance, H3.1 is synthesized in S phase and is deposited during DNA replication, whereas H3.3 is expressed throughout the complete cell cycle and is incorporated at all phases of the cell cycle (Ahmad and Henikoff, 2002b, c; Schwartz and Ahmad, 2005). H3.1 and H3.3 are histone variants that associate with different chromatin assembly complexes (Drane et al., 2010; Lewis et al., 2010; Tagami et al., 2004). H3.1 was found to be mainly belonging to a complex containing the replication-dependent Chromatin Assembly Factor 1 (CAF-1), whereas H3.3 co-purified with different complexes containing either the HIRA or the DAXX histone chaperones (Drane et al., 2010; Lewis et al., 2010; Tagami et al., 2004). In mouse ESC cells, HIRA was found to be required for H3.3 deposition at promoters and active gene bodies, while DAXX was found essential for H3.3 deposition at telomeres (Goldberg et al., 2010; Wong et al., 2010). DAXX was also found to be required for H3.3 deposition at pericentric heterochromatin in mouse MEF cells (Drane et al., 2010). Interestingly, DAXX was found in a complex with the chromatin-remodeling factor ATRX (-thalassemia/mental retardation syndrome protein) (Drane et al., 2010; Goldberg et al., 2010; Lewis et al., 2010). In this complex, DAXX cooperates with ATRX for H3.3 deposition at telomeres and pericentromeres (Drane et al., 2010; Goldberg et al., 2010; Lewis et al., 2010; Wong et al., 2010). Previously, it has been shown that DAXX and ATRX colocalize with human pericentromeric DNA repeats within promyelocytic nuclear bodies (PML-NBs) (Luciani et al., 2006). In addition, we found that DAXX colocalizes with H3.3 within PML-NBs and regulates the expression of mouse pericentric DNA repeats (Drane et al., 2010).

In this study, we investigated the function of the histone chaperone DAXX and identified several novel interacting partners. Among the DAXX partners we identified the replication-coupled chromatin assembly factor CAF-1 as one of the main interacting partners. DAXX physically interacted with CAF1-p150 subunit. DAXX was

found to reside into two different H3.3 sub-complexes. A low molecular weight complex containing ATRX and a high molecular weight complex containing CAF-1, ADNP, HP1 α , ADNP, and Trim28. Interestingly, we observed that the Sumo-Interacting Motif (SIM) is required for DAXX proper sumoylation, localization to PML-NBs and association with CAF-1. We observed that CAF1-p150, DAXX and PML-NBs are all indispensable for MJS transcription and ATRX has a repressive role of this latter. Our genomic data further revealed that DAXX targets CAF-1 to X-chromosome and repetitive elements. Inactivation of DAXX results in major depletion of CAF-1 from X-chromosome SINEs and LINEs. Our data point to a novel function of DAXX and CAF-1 in targeting H3.3 to X-chromosome.

Results

Purification of e-DAXX complex and identification of its associated protein partners

The histone chaperone DAXX was previously found to form a stable complex with the chromatin remodeling factor ATRX that targets H3.3 to heterochromatic foci such as pericentromeres and telomeres. However, how DAXX exerts its function at these regions remains to be determined. To get more insight into the function of DAXX, we rescued the DAXX knock-out (*Daxx^{-/-}*) mouse embryonic fibroblast cell lines (MEF) with C-terminal Flag- and HA-epitope-tagged DAXX (e-DAXX) using retroviral transduction (Drane et al., 2010). As expected, e-DAXX expression patterns show a specific staining throughout the nucleoplasm, forming numerous dots corresponding to the DAPI staining of heterochromatic foci and PML bodies (Fig. 1A). Epitope-tagged DAXX complex was then purified by double immunoaffinity from MEF soluble nuclear extract by sequential immunoprecipitations with anti-Flag antibody followed by anti-HA antibody (Drane et al., 2010). Proteins associated with DAXX were separated by SDScontaining 4%-12% polyacrylamide gradient gels and subsequently silver-stained (Fig.1B, upper panel). Immunoblotting and mass spectrometry analyses allowed the identification of ATRX and H3.3 as specific components of the DAXX complex (Figs. 1B lower panel, 1C) as we have shown previously (Drane et al., 2010). Surprisingly, additional unexpected partners have been found in this complex, such as the H3.1 specific complex CAF-1 (p150, p60 and p48), the specific heterochromatin marker HP1a, the ubiquitin ligase Trim28, the ubiquitin hydrolase USP7 and the potential transcription factor ADNP (Figs. 1B, 1C). To eliminate the possibility that we purified a mixture of H3.3 and H3.1 predeposition complexes, we further analyzed the H3.1 content of the H3.3 band by mass spectrometry. Mass spectrometry analyses revealed that the DAXX-associated nuclear complex contains mainly H3.3 since the H3.3/H3.1 ratio was found equal to 20/1 (Fig 1D).

To gain more insight on the composition of the complex, we subjected the e-DAXX complex to separation on glycerol gradient (15%-35%, Fig. 2A). Immunoblotting experiments showed that DAXX-associated proteins fractionated into at least two macro-molecular complexes. In the lower molecular weight complex (LMWC), DAXX is associated with ATRX and H3.3 (Fig. 2A, B). In the high molecular weight complex (HMWC), DAXX and H3.3 were found associated with the CAF-1 chromatin assembly complex, HP1 α and ADNP and other proteins (Fig. 2B). These experiments show that DAXX belongs to at least two different H3.3 specific macro-molecular complexes. In our previous study, performed on HeLa cells, we observed that two of the three CAF-1 subunits (p150 and p60) were highly specific to the e-H3.1 complex, whereas the third subunit (p46/48) was a component common to e-H3.1 and e-H3.3 complexes (Drane et al., 2010). In the present study, performed on MEF cells, surprisingly we found CAF-1 as part of the DAXX-ATRX-H3.3 complex.

DAXX physically interacts in vitro with CAF-1

DAXX is an acidic protein (pl 4.6) containing a stretch rich in glutamic and aspartic acid residues embedded within a yeast histone chaperone, Rtt106-like domain, two PAH domains and a S/P/T-rich domain (Fig. 2C). We next hypothesized that DAXX physically interacts with CAF1-p150 subunit, and tried to assess these interactions by pull down assays. FLAG-DAXX and HA-CAF1-p150 were co-expressed in SF9 insect cells and pulled down using anti-FLAG M2 agarose beads. Bead-bound proteins were extensively washed and eluted using FLAG peptide. Eluted proteins were analyzed on SDS-PAGE and stained with colloidal blue (Fig. 2D). The data obtained showed that DAXX physically interacts with CAF1-p150. To further determine the region of DAXX involved in the interaction with CAF1-p150, we generated deletion mutants including the N-terminal (1-302), central (302-495), or C-terminal (495-740) domain of DAXX. These mutants were expressed as fusion proteins with GST and investigated for their binding to either CAF1-p150 or ATRX (Fig. 2E). Immunoblotting using an antibody directed against CAF1-p150 and ATRX revealed that neither the Rtt106-like domain nor the S/P/T-rich domain exhibited binding to either CAF1-p150 or ATRX. In contrast, the region (1-302) encompassing the two PAH (Paired Amphipathic Helix) domains (PAH1 & PAH2), showed strong interaction with CAF1p150 and ATRX at either 0.15 or 0.5M of NaCl.

We next determined the region of CAF1-p150 involved in the interaction with DAXX. We generated CAF1-p150 deletion mutants including the N-terminal (1-296), central (297-641), or C-terminal (642-938) domain of CAF1-p150 (Fig. 2F). These mutants were expressed in bacteria as 6xHis fusion proteins and tested for their interaction with GST-DAXX (1-302) (Fig. 2G). Immunoblotting using an anti-His

antibody directed against His-CAF1-p150 domains revealed that DAXX interacts exclusively with the C-terminal region of CAF1-p150 (642-938).

These data demonstrate that the N-terminal part of DAXX mediates the interaction with ATRX and the C-terminal part of CAF1-p150. The Rtt106-like domain being involved in a strong interaction with e-H3.3-H4 (Drane et al., 2010), our results suggest that DAXX ensures the link between ATRX or CAF-1 and H3.3 and the two proteins might likely compete for the same binding site on DAXX.

Transient passage of DAXX through PML-NBs is essential for its association with, CAF-1 but not ATRX.

DAXX is a major component of the PML-NBs and directly interacts with ATRX (Drane et al., 2010). Sumoylation of DAXX is essential for its accumulation at PML-NBs. DAXX targeting to PML-NBs is a key event in the regulation of pericentric heterochromatin transcription (Lin, Lucia, Ishov).

The mechanism for heterochromatin repression by DAXX is unknown and the chronology of its sequential transition from PML-NBs to heterochromatin remains to be determined. Hence, we assessed effects of a deletion of the DAXX C-terminal Sumo-Interacting Motif (SIM), corresponding to the last seven amino acid residues of the protein (Fig. 3A). Therefore, DAXX- Δ S protein, lacking the SIM domain, was stably expressed in MEF *Daxx*^{-/-} cells. Unlike e-DAXX wild type, e-DAXX- Δ S failed to co-localize with PML-NBs (Fig. 3B) suggesting that the C-terminal SIM domain of DAXX is involved in the targeting of DAXX to PML-NBs. Similarly, we investigated the localization of CAF1-p150 versus PML-NBs. We observed that the most prominent dots of epitope tagged CAF1-p150 co-localized with PML-NBs (Fig. 3B).

In order to understand the consequences of the deletion of the SIM domain of DAXX, proteins associated with DAXX-ΔS were purified by the double-immunoaffinity method from soluble nuclear extracts of MEF cells and the composition of the complex compared to that of the WT DAXX complex by SDS-PAGE (Fig. 3C). Immunoblotting analysis revealed that DAXX showed a modified form (Fig. 3D) that, according to the literature, we assume to be the result of a SUMOylation process. This assumption was confirmed by the absence of this modified form of DAXX in the e-DAXX-ΔS complex (Fig. 3D). Interestingly, we were unable to detect the CAF1 complex among the e-

DAXX- Δ S-associated proteins either by immunoblotting (Fig. 3D) or by mass spectrometry analysis (Fig. 3E). This result was rather surprising, given the fact that CAF1-p150 directly interacts with the N-terminal part of DAXX, but nevertheless suggests a possible role of the SIM domain in the recruitment of CAF-1 to the DAXX complex. To rule out a possible interaction of CAF1-p150 with the DAXX C-terminal SIM domain, an affinity immunopurification was made with soluble extract from SF9 cells which co-expressed FLAG-DAXX- Δ S and HA-CAF1p150. Using a FLAG-pull down assays, bead-bound proteins were eluted and fractioned on SDS-PAGE and stained with colloidal blue (Fig. 3F). The obtained data showed that the deletion of the SIM domain was unable to affect the interaction between DAXX and CAF1-p150.

In the light of the data obtained by the analysis of the e-DAXX- Δ S nuclear complex, we investigated the effect of deleting the C-terminal SIM domain of DAXX on the MJS transcription by RT-PCR (Fig. 3G). Interestingly, DAXX Δ S expression in the *Daxx^{-/-}* MEF cells was unable to rescue the mRNA level of MJS, thus demonstrating that the SIM domain of DAXX is required for the MJS transcription, probably through the recruitment of the CAF1-p150 subunit. Taken together, these results clearly show that the C-terminal SIM domain of DAXX is not required for the interaction with CAF1-p150 but is indispensable for its recruitment through the PML-NBs, and thus for the regulation of MJS transcription.

We next investigated the role of CAF-1 in the control of MJS expression. We hypothesized that DAXX, ATRX and CAF1-p150 present interdependence in the control of MJS expression. Using quantitative RT-PCR, we observed that depletion of CAF1-p150 using two specific shRNA resulted in a drastic reduction in MJS transcripts expression (Fig. 3H). In contrast, when depleting ATRX with two different shRNA, transcription of MJS was drastically enhanced (Fig. 3I), suggesting that ATRX is implicated in a repressive control on MJS transcription. Relative CAF1-p150 and ATRX mRNA levels were assessed by RT-PCR to ensure depletion effectiveness (Fig. 3J, K). These results support the notion that the two proteins, namely CAF1-p150 and ATRX, act antagonistically to regulate transcription of DNA repeats at the pericentromeric regions.

Consequences of DAXX loss on CAF1-p150 genomic distribution

Mammalian CAF-1 co-localizes with replicating heterochromatin where it promotes histone H3.1 assembly, and the CAF1-p150 subunit interacts with heterochromatin protein HP1. Therefore, it has been suggested that CAF-1 is involved in heterochromatin formation and regulation, but direct functional proof to support this model is still missing. The association of CAF1-p150 with DAXX prompted us to analyze its genomic distribution in relation to DAXX. Toward this goal, we performed a ChIP-seq analysis of the CAF1-p150 subunit using commercially available antibody in WT and DAXX KO MEF cells. Peak-calling using uniquely mapped read identified 41,146 peaks specific to the WT cells, 63,931 peaks specific to the DAXX KO cells and 23,207 CAF1-p150 peaks which are common between WT and DAXX KO cells (Fig. 4A). Heatmaps and corresponding normalized density curves revealed that inactivation of DAXX resulted in approximately two-fold depletion and relocation, of several CAF1-p150 peaks to chromatin regions where it was already weakly present in the WT cells (Fig. 4B, C). A comprehensive analysis of the data showed an enrichment of CAF1-p150 at DNA repetitive elements of the mouse genome with no major differences between WT and KO (Fig. 4D). CAF1-p150 was found specifically enriched at L1Md LINEs (Fig. 4E, F) and B1m SINEs (Fig. 4G, H). Surprisingly, CAF1p150 was found depleted from promoters (Fig. 4I) and enhancers (Fig. 4J) in WT and KO cells.

The association of CAF-1 with DNA repeats such as SINEs and LINEs prompted us to perform a more thorough analysis of the ChIP-seq data by taking into account reads with multiple hits, which represent unmappable repetitive elements (Dreszer et al., 2012). Indeed, the majority of the CAF1-p150 reads had multiple hits and mapped to the different repetitive elements of the mouse genome (Fig. 4D). CAF1-p150 was found enriched at minor (SYNREP_MM family) and major satellites (GSAT_MM family), telomeric repeats (TTAGGGn/CCCTAAn), L1Md LINEs and mouse-specific SINEs (Fig. 4K) with some important differences between WT and knock-out DAXX MEF cells (Fig. 4K). This later observation prompted us to analyze the distribution of CAF1-p150 chromosome by chromosome. This analysis revealed a strong depletion of CAF1-p150 from the X-chromosome in KO cells (Fig. 4L) with a prominent effect on SINEs (Fig. 4M, N) and L1Md LINEs (Fig. 4O, P). We conclude that: (i) the association of CAF-1 with DAXX affects the Xchromosome in a distinct manner compared to the autosomes and, (ii) DAXX is essential for targeting CAF1 to the X-chromosome.

Consequences of DAXX loss on H3.3 genomic distribution

Having shown that DAXX targets CAF-1 to the X-chromosome, we next investigated the effect of DAXX inactivation on H3.3 deposition. Toward this goal, WT and Knockout DAXX cell lines were transduced with an epitope tagged H3.3 to generate stable cell lines ectopically expressing Flag-HA-H3.3. As a control, we used a MEF cell line expressing endogenous Flag-HA tagged H3.3 (Ors et al., 2017). Endogenous and ectopic tagged H3.3 cell lines were then subjected to ChIP-seq analysis. Peak-calling using uniquely mapped read revealed that 81% of the endogenous H3.3 peaks mapped to enhancers and 19% to promoters (Sup_Fig. 1A). Heatmaps and normalized density curves (Fig. 5A) revealed that, in the absence of DAXX, the overexpressed H3.3 accumulates at promoters while the presence of DAXX prevented this ectopic accumulation (Fig. 5A). The absence of DAXX had less pronounced effect on ectopic H3.3 accumulation at enhancers, affecting only enhancers located at distance from TSS (Fig. 5B). However, the absence of DAXX strongly impaired H3.3 recruitment to enhancers located on the X-chromosome (Fig. 5C).

We next investigated the presence of H3.3 on repetitive elements. In contrast to CAF1p150, H3.3 was not found at repetitive elements such as LINEs and SINEs (Sup_Fig. 1B, C).

We concluded that deposition of H3.3 is tightly controlled by DAXX, which prevents its ectopic accumulation on promoters and specifically targets H3.3 on X-chromosome enhancers.

Discussion

In this study, we purified the nuclear soluble DAXX complex from MEF cells and characterized its different partners. Among the DAXX partners, we found ATRX, CAF-1, ADNP, TRIM28, HP1 - and H3.3. Many of these proteins represent novel DAXX binding partners and are components of multiprotein complexes involved in histone deposition, gene regulation and heterochromatin formation.

Glycerol gradient fractionation, showed that DAXX reside in at least two different complexes, the previously identified DAXX/ATRX complex and the newly identified DAXX/CAF1/ADNP/TRIM28/HP1 •/H3.3 complex. DAXX acts as the central player whose role is to recruit these regulatory proteins to chromatin to ensure a dynamic deposition/eviction of H3.3 at specific chromatin regulatory regions. Interestingly, DAXX was found to physically interact with the chromatin assembly factor 1 (CAF-1) to form a multi-subunit complex. The interaction of DAXX with the H3.1 deposition machinery suggests an implication of this new complex in the H3.1/H3.3 dynamic or exchange.

CAF1-p150 and ATRX were both found to bind to the N-terminus of DAXX and probably to compete for the same binding site. CAF-1 and ATRX were found to present interdependence in the control of pericentric DNA repeats expression. The two histone chaperones, DAXX and CAF-1, act in concert through the PML-NBs to positively regulate transcription of pericentric DNA repeats whereas DAXX/ATRX have opposite effect and negatively regulate the transcription of these repeats.

H3.3 was originally found associated with euchromatic sites of active transcription (Ahmad and Henikoff, 2002b, c; Schwartz and Ahmad, 2005) but has been also shown to associate with pericentric heterochromatin at telomeres (Drane et al., 2010; Goldberg et al., 2010; Lewis et al., 2010; Wong et al., 2010). We have previously shown that DAXX and ATRX form a complex with H3.3 and colocalize at PML-NBs and pericentric repeats (Drane et al., 2010). The PML-NBs are known to form multiprotein structures where proteins accumulate and undergo post-translational modifications, like SUMOylation (Ishov et al., 1999; Lin et al., 2006; Shen et al., 2006; Sternsdorf et al., 1999; Weidtkamp-Peters et al., 2008). PML-NBs are involved in diverse biological functions, including regulation of the different chromatin conformational states (Bernardi and Pandolfi, 2007; Weidtkamp-Peters et al., 2008). Human pericentric satellite repeats can enter the PML-NBs to associate with DAXX

and ATRX (Ishov et al., 1999; Ishov et al., 2004; Luciani et al., 2006). Our results suggest that in addition to its role as an H3.3 deposition factor, DAXX, through its Cterminal SUMO Interacting Motif (SIM), binds to PML and serves as a specific carrier that targets H3.3 to PML-NBs. Indeed, deletion of the 8 amino-acids SIM domains led to a complete delocalization of DAXX from PML-NBs and a strong decrease in pericentric heterochromatin transcription. Our results are in agreement with the previously published role of the SIM domain in targeting DAXX to PML-NBs (Lin et al., 2006). Our data also suggest that a transient passage of DAXX through the PML-NBs is a prerequisite for its association with the CAF-1 and for the maintenance of active heterochromatin transcription. Accordingly, CAF-1 was found to associate essentially with heterochromatic regions and retroelements such as SINEs and LINEs. The association of DAXX with CAF1-p150 subunit is interesting and suggests a cooperative action of these two histone chaperones in the regulation of repetitive elements and in targeting the X-chromosome in a distinct manner from the autosomes. DAXX was found essential for the proper localization of CAF-1 on X-chromosome mouse-specific SINEs and L1Md LINEs. DAXX was also found to tightly control the deposition of H3.3 at enhancers located on X-chromosome and to prevent ectopic H3.3 accumulation on promoters.

CAF1 could serve as a histone H3.1 donor/acceptor, which in coordination with the DAXX/ATRX chromatin assembly machinery ensures a dynamic exchange of H3.1/H3.3 around the transcriptionally active DNA repeats. This function of CAF-1 in transcription activation is novel and distinct from the known property of the whole CAF1 complex to promote histone deposition during replication (Verreault et al., 1996). The CAF-1 complex should be considered not only as a histone-deposition complex, but also as a multitasking factor that integrates information via individual subunits. We propose that CAF-p150 provides a novel type of transcription control at pericentric regions enriched in HP1 \checkmark (Murzina et al., 1999). By efficiently coordinating the dynamic exchange of H3.1/H3.3 at pericentric regions, this mechanism would facilitate active transcription of pericentric repeats and mobile elements during G1 phase of the cell cycle and ensure reproduction of specialized chromatin structures present at key regions of the genome during S phase.

The association of DAXX with the replication-dependent deposition machinery CAF-1 is puzzling but could simply reflect a requirement for a dynamic exchange of H3.1/H3.3 at active transcription sites. Histone variant exchange is essential for regulated gene expression (Ooi and Henikoff, 2007). For instance, the yeast chromatin-remodeling complex SWR was shown to catalyze the ATP-dependent exchange of H2A.Z for nucleosomal H2A at active gene (Mizuguchi et al., 2003). Our data clearly show that the ATRX chromatin remodeling factor act in concert with DAXX to down-regulate transcription of pericentric DNA repeats and this could be achieved by regulating the level of H3.3 at these repeats. Indeed, ATRX was previously identified as a specific component of the H3.3 preassembly complex and required for in vitro deposition of H3.3 at pericentric and telomeric repeats (Drane et al., 2010; Lewis et al., 2010). Accordingly, diminished ATRX function also leads to an increase in TTAGGG repeat containing telomeric transcripts (referred to as TERRA), reduces telomeric loading of HP1a, and causes modest levels of telomere dysfunction in mouse ES cells (Goldberg et al., 2010; Wong et al., 2010). The function of CAF1 in the H3.3 deposition reaction is not yet clear, but it could serve to maintain a dynamic active exchange of H3.1/H3.3 around pericentric chromatin and mobile elements.

We also questioned the role of ADNP and HP1 α in the DAXX complex. The targeting of ADNP to pericentromeric heterochromatin can be mediated by HP1 \checkmark (Mosch et al., 2011) and this was suggested being a key event for MJS repression. Pericentric heterochromatin is characterized by the presence of H3K9me3, which is recognized by HP1 α to recruit ADNP (Mosch et al., 2011). According, to this study it would suggest that the DAXX complex, containing HP1 α and ADNP, is targeted to pericentric heterochromatin via HP1 α . However, we found that deleting the SIM domain of DAXX affected PML-NBs localization in spite of the presence of HP1 α albeit in less amount, and ADNP in the e-DAXX complex. This result shows that HP1 α and ADNP are not involved in the targeting of DAXX to PML-NBs.

Overall, our data suggests a cooperative action of two chromatin complexes in the repression of pericentric chromatin transcription. ATRX, CAF1 and DAXX might act together in a replication-independent chromatin assembly pathway that exchanges H3.3/H3.1 at pericentric chromatin. Their inactivation resulted in abnormal levels of repetitive elements transcription. It will be interesting to monitor the level of H3.3 at

those repeats in the absence of either CAF-1 or ATRX. Depletion of H3.3 from these repeats may affect centromere organization and genome integrity. Mutations in ATRX cause a mental-retardation syndrome and more recently ATRX, DAXX and H3.3 have been also identified as a potential tumor-supressor in pediatric glioblastoma and pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors (Jiao et al., 2011; Schwartzentruber et al., 2012). The described physical and functional interactions between DAXX, H3.3, ATRX and CAF-1 make a unique contribution to pericentric heterochromatin organization and transcription and the misregulation of this pathway can certainly lead to cancer development.

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by institutional funds from CNRS, INSERM, Université de Strasbourg (UDS), the Labex INRT and by grants from, La Ligue Nationale contre le Cancer Equipe labellisée (A.H.), INCA (INCa_4496 and INCa_4454), ANR (EpivarZ, contract n° ANR-16-CE12-0013). Sequencing was performed by the IGBMC Microarray and Sequencing platform, a member of the 'France Génomique' consortium (ANR-10-INBS-0009).

Materials and Methods

Cell lines

DAXX knock-out ($Daxx^{-/-}$) MEF line was a kind gift of Dr. Gerd G. Maul (The Wistar Institute) (Ishov et al. 2004). DAXX, DAXX Δ S and CAF1-p150 proteins fused with C-terminal Flag- and HA-epitope tags (e-DAXX / e-DAXX Δ S) were stably expressed in MEF cells by retroviral transduction (Ouararhni et al. 2006). Endogenous Flag-HA tagged H3.3 MEF cells were previously described in (Ors et al., 2017).

Antibodies

Antibodies used were as follows: Monoclonal anti-HP1α was produced by the IGBMC facility; monoclonal antibody anti-Flag M2 (Sigma); monoclonal anti-HA 9E (Roche Diagnostics); antibodies from Santa Cruz Biotechnology anti-DAXX (sc-7152), anti-ATRX (sc-15408), anti-CAF-1 p150 (sc-10772) and anti-PML (sc-18425); antibodies from ProteinTech anti-ADNP (17987-1-AP), anti-CAF-1 p150 (17037-1-AP); anti-CAF-1 p48 (20364-1-AP); from abnova anti-H3.3 (H00003021-M01); from Millipore anti-H3 CT, pan (05-928, Upstate Biotechnologies).

Double-immunoaffinity purification

Extracts were prepared as described in (Drane et al., 2010) using a modification of the Dignam protocol (Dignam 1990). Briefly, cells were lysed in hypotonic buffer (10 mM Tris-HCl at pH 7.65, 1.5 mM MgCl₂, 10 mM KCl) and disrupted by Dounce homogenizer. The cytosolic fraction was separated from the pellet by centrifugation at 4°C. The nuclear-soluble fraction was obtained by incubation of the pellet in high-salt buffer (to get a final NaCl concentration of 300 mM). Tagged proteins were immunoprecipitated with anti-Flag M2-agarose (Sigma), eluted with Flag peptide (1 mg/mL), further affinity-purified with anti-HA antibody-conjugated agarose, and eluted with HA peptide (1 mg/mL). The HA and Flag peptides were first buffered with 50 mM Tris-HCl (pH 8.5), then diluted to 4 mg/mL in TGEN 150 buffer (20 mM Tris at pH 7.65, 150 mM NaCl, 3 mM MgCl₂, 0.1 mM EDTA, 10% glycerol, 0.01% NP40), and stored at -20°C until use. Between each step, beads were washed in TGEN 150 buffer. Complexes were resolved by SDS-PAGE and stained using the Silver Quest kit (Invitrogen).

For glycerol density gradient, samples were loaded onto a 4.5-mL glycerol gradient (15%–35%) and spun at 300,000*g* in a Beckman SW60 rotor for 18 h. Fractions were collected from the bottom of the tube and analyzed by SDS-PAGE.

Protein-protein interactions

DAXX GST fusion proteins immobilized on glutathione Sepharose were incubated for 1 h at room temperature with tagged HA-CAF1-p150 or HA-ATRX in TGN buffer (20 mM Tris at pH 7.65, 3 mM MgCl2, 0.1 mM EDTA, 10% glycerol, 0.01% NP40) containing 0.15 M NaCl. Beads were then washed extensively in TGN containing 0.15 M or 0.5 M NaCl. Bound proteins were eluted in SDS sample buffer and fractionated on SDS-PAGE. HA-CAF1-p150 and HA-ATRX were probed with anti-HA antibody, while recombinant DAXX deletion mutants were stained by colloidal blue.

Mass spectrometry

Mass spectrometric analysis of proteins was accomplished using an ion-trap mass spectrometer (ThermoFinnigan LTQ-Orbitrap Velos) or by the Taplin Biological Mass Spectrometry Facility (Harvard Medical School, Boston, Massachusetts, USA) as described previously by Obri *et al.*, 2014

Immunofluorescence

Immunofluorescence used standard procedures. Rat anti-HA antibody (Roche) was used at 1/200 dilution; the secondary antibody used was a goat anti-Rat IgG coupled to Alexa Fluor 488 (Molecular Probes) at 1/400 dilution. Anti-PML antibody (SC-18425) was used at 1/200 dilution; the secondary antibody used was a rabbit anti-Goat IgG coupled to Alexa Fluor 647 (Molecular Probes) at 1/400 dilution.

Transfection, synchronization, and RNAi

Biologically active short hairpin RNAs (shRNAs) were generated from the pLKO.1blast vector. HEK293T cells were seeded onto six-well plates and transfected with shRNA directed against ATRX and CAF1-p150 mRNA or an irrelevant shRNA using Effectene Reagent (Qiagen). Media containing viruses were collected 48 h after transfection. MEF cells were then infected for 24 h and then subjected to selection by 10µg/ml blasticidin for 72 h. Cells were then harvested for the assessment of the expression level of endogenous ATRX and CAF1-p150 mRNA, and of transcripts from pericentromeric repeats by real-time quantitative PCR analysis. The shRNA target sequences were as follows: CAF1-p150 CCUGGACAGCUACUUCCAAAU (TRCN0000109035), CGUAGGCUUGAGUACAAAGUU (TRCN0000109036) and CGGUGUGUCUGAAAGGAAGAA (TRCN0000109038); ATRX CCUGUCACUUCACCUCUCAA (TRCN0000081910), CCACUAACACUCCUGAGGAUU (TRCN0000081911); irrelevant shRNA CCUAAGGUUAAGUCGCCCUCG.

Retrotranscription and real-time quantitative PCR

Total RNAs were purified using standard methods and cDNA was synthesized by random priming. Real-time quantitative PCR was done with the QuantiTect SYBR green PCR kit (Qiagen) and a Mastercycler ep Realplex apparatus (Eppendorf). Primer pairs used were CAGTCTTCAGGAGATGAAGC and ATTTTCAGGATCATTGTCGT for ATRX, GCTCTGGAGGCTAAACTGGA and TGCCTTAATGCGCTTCTTT for CAF1-p150, GACGACTTGAAAAATGACGAAATC and CATATTCCAGGTCCTTCAGTGTGC for pericentromeric repeats (Lehnertz et al. 2003), and TGACACTGGCAAAACAATGCA and GGTCCTTTTCACCAGCAAGCT for HPRT. Results were normalized to HPRT.

ChIP-seq

Micrococcal nuclease preparation and double-immunoaffinity purification of native FLAG-HA tagged mononucleosomes. Sub-confluent MEFs expressing FLAG-HA tagged H3.3 (endogenous or overexpressed) were lysed in hypotonic buffer (10 mM Tris-HCl at pH 7.65, 1.5 mM MgCl₂, 10 mM KCl) and disrupted by Dounce homogenizer. The cytosolic fraction was separated from the nuclei by centrifugation at 4°C. Nuclei were re-suspended in sucrose buffer (20 mM Tris-HCl at pH 7.65, 15 mM KCl 60 mM NaCl, 0.15 mM spermine, 0.5 mM spermidine) adjusted with high-salt buffer (20 mM Tris-HCl at pH 7.65, 25 % glycerol, 1.5 mM MgCl₂, 0.2 mM EDTA, 900 mM NaCl) to get a final NaCl concentration of 300 mM. The nuclearsoluble fraction was recovered by centrifugation at 4°C. The pellet containing chromatin fraction was incubated in sucrose buffer containing 1mM CaCl₂, and MNase (2.5U/g of cells) 10 min at 37°C. Digestion was stopped with 4 mM EDTA and mononucleosomes were recovered by centrifugation at 4°C. Tagged nucleosomes were immunoprecipitated with anti-Flag M2-agarose (Sigma), eluted with Flag peptide (0.5 mg/mL), further affinity-purified with anti-HA antibody-conjugated agarose, and eluted with HA peptide (1 mg/mL). The HA and Flag peptides were first buffered with 50 mM Tris-Cl (pH 8.5), then diluted to 4 mg/mL in TGEN 150 buffer (20 mM Tris at pH 7.65, 150 mM NaCl, 3 mM MgCl₂, 0.1 mM EDTA, 10% glycerol, 0 0.01% NP40), and stored at -20° C until use. Between each step, beads were washed in TGEN 150 buffer. Nucleosomes were submitted to RNase and proteinase K digestion, and DNA was extracted by phenolchloroform.

Cross-linked ChIP. CAF-1 p150 cross-linked ChIP experiments were performed as previously described (Obri et al., 2014). Briefly, 50 µg of sonicated chromatin isolated from sub-confluent MEFs were immunoprecipitated using using 1 µl of antibody anti-CAF1-p150 (17037-1-AP). Five independent chromatin immunoprecipitations were pooled before sequencing analysis.

Library construction and sequencing. Libraries were prepared using the Diagenode MicroPlex Library Preparation kit v2, and sequenced on Illumina Hiseq 4000 sequencer as single-end 50 bp reads (for ChIP-seq analysis) or paired-end 50 bp reads (for nucleosome positioning analysis) following Illumina's instructions. Image analysis and base calling were performed using RTA 2.7.3 and bcl2fastq 2.17.1.14. Adapter dimer reads were removed using DimerRemover v0.9.2 (<u>https://sourceforge.net/projects/dimerremover/</u>). Reads were mapped to the mouse genome (mm9) using Bowtie (Langmead et al., 2009) v1.0.0 with the following arguments: -m 1 --strata --best -y -S –I 40 -p 2.

Computational analyses

Peak detection was performed running MACS (Zhang et al., 2008) (http://liulab.dfci.harvard.edu/MACS/) using datasets normalized to 10 millions uniquely mapped under settings where the input fraction was used as negative control. Detected peak summits were annotated using HOMER (http://biowhat.ucsd.edu/homer/ngs/annotation.html). Heatmaps, global clustering and quantitative comparisons of the ChIP-seq data were performed running seqMINER (Ye et al., 2011) (http://bips.u-strasbg.fr/seqminer/) using datasets normalized to 10 millions uniquely mapped reads. As reference coordinates, we used the annotated RepeatMasker (RMSK) database (for repetitive elements) or the Ensembl 67 database (for coding genes) of the mouse genome (mm9). Tag densities were collected in 50 bp sliding windows spanning 2 kb (for SINEs) of the repeat element center or in length-normalized L1Md. The L1Md sequences were divided in 40 bins and the adjacent 2 kb sequences into 20 bins. The average densities were normalized in reads per million mapped reads (rpm).

Repeat Analysis

Repeat analysis was performed as follow. Reads were aligned to repetitive elements in two passes. In the first pass, reads were aligned to the non-masked mouse reference genome (NCBI37/mm9) using BWA (Li and Durbin, 2009) v0.6.2. Positions of the reads mapped uniquely to the mouse genome were cross-compared with the positions of the repeats extracted from UCSC (RMSK table in UCSC database for mouse genome mm9) and reads overlapping a repeat sequence were annotated with the repeat family. In the second pass, reads not mapped or multi-mapped to the mouse genome in the previous pass were aligned to RepBase (Jurka et al., 2005) v18.07 repeat sequences for rodent. Reads mapped to a unique repeat family were annotated with their corresponding family name. Finally, we summed up the read counts per repeat family of the two annotation steps. Data were normalized based upon library size. For enrichment analysis, normalized read counts of ChIP samples per repeat family were divided by normalized read counts of matched input samples and expressed as log₂ fold enrichment. Significance of the difference of repeat read counts between ChIP and input samples was assessed using the Bionconductor package DESeq.
References

Ahmad, K., and Henikoff, S. (2002a). Epigenetic Consequences of Nucleosome Dynamics. Cell *111*, 281-284.

Ahmad, K., and Henikoff, S. (2002b). Histone H3 variants specify modes of chromatin assembly. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America *99 Suppl 4*, 16477-16484.

Ahmad, K., and Henikoff, S. (2002c). The histone variant H3.3 marks active chromatin by replication- independent nucleosome assembly. Mol Cell *9*, 1191-1200.

Akiyama, T., Suzuki, O., Matsuda, J., and Aoki, F. (2011). Dynamic replacement of histone H3 variants reprograms epigenetic marks in early mouse embryos. PLoS Genet 7, e1002279.

Amor, D.J., Kalitsis, P., Sumer, H., and Choo, K.H. (2004). Building the centromere: from foundation proteins to 3D organization. Trends Cell Biol *14*, 359-368.

Bernardi, R., and Pandolfi, P.P. (2007). Structure, dynamics and functions of promyelocytic leukaemia nuclear bodies. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol *8*, 1006-1016.

Boyarchuk, E., Montes de Oca, R., and Almouzni, G. (2011). Cell cycle dynamics of histone variants at the centromere, a model for chromosomal landmarks. Curr Opin Cell Biol *23*, 266-276.

Drane, P., Ouararhni, K., Depaux, A., Shuaib, M., and Hamiche, A. (2010). The death-associated protein DAXX is a novel histone chaperone involved in the replication-independent deposition of H3.3. Genes Dev *24*, 1253-1265.

Dreszer, T.R., Karolchik, D., Zweig, A.S., Hinrichs, A.S., Raney, B.J., Kuhn, R.M., Meyer, L.R., Wong, M., Sloan, C.A., Rosenbloom, K.R., *et al.* (2012). The UCSC Genome Browser database: extensions and updates 2011. Nucleic acids research *40*, D918-923.

Goldberg, A.D., Banaszynski, L.A., Noh, K.M., Lewis, P.W., Elsaesser, S.J., Stadler, S., Dewell, S., Law, M., Guo, X., Li, X., *et al.* (2010). Distinct factors control histone variant H3.3 localization at specific genomic regions. Cell *140*, 678-691.

Grewal, S.I., and Jia, S. (2007). Heterochromatin revisited. Nat Rev Genet 8, 35-46.

Hamiche, A., and Shuaib, M. (2012). Chaperoning the histone H3 family. Biochimica et biophysica acta *1819*, 230-237.

Henikoff, S., and Dalal, Y. (2005). Centromeric chromatin: what makes it unique? Current opinion in genetics & development *15*, 177-184.

Huang, C., and Zhu, B. (2014). H3.3 turnover: a mechanism to poise chromatin for transcription, or a response to open chromatin? Bioessays *36*, 579-584.

Ishov, A.M., Sotnikov, A.G., Negorev, D., Vladimirova, O.V., Neff, N., Kamitani, T., Yeh, E.T., Strauss, J.F., 3rd, and Maul, G.G. (1999). PML is critical for ND10

formation and recruits the PML-interacting protein daxx to this nuclear structure when modified by SUMO-1. J Cell Biol *147*, 221-234.

Ishov, A.M., Vladimirova, O.V., and Maul, G.G. (2004). Heterochromatin and ND10 are cell-cycle regulated and phosphorylation-dependent alternate nuclear sites of the transcription repressor Daxx and SWI/SNF protein ATRX. J Cell Sci *117*, 3807-3820.

Jang, C.W., Shibata, Y., Starmer, J., Yee, D., and Magnuson, T. (2015). Histone H3.3 maintains genome integrity during mammalian development. Genes Dev *29*, 1377-1392.

Jiao, Y., Shi, C., Edil, B.H., de Wilde, R.F., Klimstra, D.S., Maitra, A., Schulick, R.D., Tang, L.H., Wolfgang, C.L., Choti, M.A., *et al.* (2011). DAXX/ATRX, MEN1, and mTOR pathway genes are frequently altered in pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. Science *331*, 1199-1203.

Jin, C., and Felsenfeld, G. (2007). Nucleosome stability mediated by histone variants H3.3 and H2A.Z. Genes Dev *21*, 1519-1529.

Jurka, J., Kapitonov, V.V., Pavlicek, A., Klonowski, P., Kohany, O., and Walichiewicz, J. (2005). Repbase Update, a database of eukaryotic repetitive elements. Cytogenetic and genome research *110*, 462-467.

Langmead, B., Trapnell, C., Pop, M., and Salzberg, S.L. (2009). Ultrafast and memory-efficient alignment of short DNA sequences to the human genome. Genome Biol *10*, R25.

Lewis, P.W., Elsaesser, S.J., Noh, K.M., Stadler, S.C., and Allis, C.D. (2010). Daxx is an H3.3-specific histone chaperone and cooperates with ATRX in replication-independent chromatin assembly at telomeres. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America *107*, 14075-14080.

Li, H., and Durbin, R. (2009). Fast and accurate short read alignment with Burrows-Wheeler transform. Bioinformatics *25*, 1754-1760.

Lin, D.Y., Huang, Y.S., Jeng, J.C., Kuo, H.Y., Chang, C.C., Chao, T.T., Ho, C.C., Chen, Y.C., Lin, T.P., Fang, H.I., *et al.* (2006). Role of SUMO-interacting motif in Daxx SUMO modification, subnuclear localization, and repression of sumoylated transcription factors. Mol Cell *24*, 341-354.

Luciani, J.J., Depetris, D., Usson, Y., Metzler-Guillemain, C., Mignon-Ravix, C., Mitchell, M.J., Megarbane, A., Sarda, P., Sirma, H., Moncla, A., *et al.* (2006). PML nuclear bodies are highly organised DNA-protein structures with a function in heterochromatin remodelling at the G2 phase. J Cell Sci *119*, 2518-2531.

Luger, K., Mader, A.W., Richmond, R.K., Sargent, D.F., and Richmond, T.J. (1997). Crystal structure of the nucleosome core particle at 2.8 A resolution. Nature *389*, 251-260.

Malik, H.S., and Henikoff, S. (2003). Phylogenomics of the nucleosome. Nat Struct Biol *10*, 882-891.

Mizuguchi, G., Shen, X., Landry, J., Wu, W.H., Sen, S., and Wu, C. (2003). ATP-Driven Exchange of Histone H2AZ Variant Catalyzed by SWR1 Chromatin Remodeling Complex. Science.

Mosch, K., Franz, H., Soeroes, S., Singh, P.B., and Fischle, W. (2011). HP1 recruits activity-dependent neuroprotective protein to H3K9me3 marked pericentromeric heterochromatin for silencing of major satellite repeats. PLoS One *6*, e15894.

Murzina, N., Verreault, A., Laue, E., and Stillman, B. (1999). Heterochromatin dynamics in mouse cells: interaction between chromatin assembly factor 1 and HP1 proteins. Mol Cell *4*, 529-540.

Obri, A., Ouararhni, K., Papin, C., Diebold, M.L., Padmanabhan, K., Marek, M., Stoll, I., Roy, L., Reilly, P.T., Mak, T.W., *et al.* (2014). ANP32E is a histone chaperone that removes H2A.Z from chromatin. Nature *505*, 648-653.

Ooi, S.L., and Henikoff, S. (2007). Germline histone dynamics and epigenetics. Curr Opin Cell Biol *19*, 257-265.

Ors, A., Papin, C., Favier, B., Roulland, Y., Dalkara, D., Ozturk, M., Hamiche, A., Dimitrov, S., and Padmanabhan, K. (2017). Histone H3.3 regulates mitotic progression in mouse embryonic fibroblasts. Biochemistry and cell biology = Biochimie et biologie cellulaire *95*, 491-499.

Probst, A.V., Okamoto, I., Casanova, M., El Marjou, F., Le Baccon, P., and Almouzni, G. (2010). A strand-specific burst in transcription of pericentric satellites is required for chromocenter formation and early mouse development. Dev Cell *19*, 625-638.

Sakai, A., Schwartz, B.E., Goldstein, S., and Ahmad, K. (2009). Transcriptional and developmental functions of the H3.3 histone variant in Drosophila. Curr Biol *19*, 1816-1820.

Schwartz, B.E., and Ahmad, K. (2005). Transcriptional activation triggers deposition and removal of the histone variant H3.3. Genes Dev *19*, 804-814.

Schwartzentruber, J., Korshunov, A., Liu, X.Y., Jones, D.T., Pfaff, E., Jacob, K., Sturm, D., Fontebasso, A.M., Quang, D.A., Tonjes, M., *et al.* (2012). Driver mutations in histone H3.3 and chromatin remodelling genes in paediatric glioblastoma. Nature *482*, 226-231.

Shen, T.H., Lin, H.K., Scaglioni, P.P., Yung, T.M., and Pandolfi, P.P. (2006). The mechanisms of PML-nuclear body formation. Mol Cell *24*, 331-339.

Sternsdorf, T., Jensen, K., Reich, B., and Will, H. (1999). The nuclear dot protein sp100, characterization of domains necessary for dimerization, subcellular localization, and modification by small ubiquitin-like modifiers. J Biol Chem 274, 12555-12566.

Sugimura, K., Fukushima, Y., Ishida, M., Ito, S., Nakamura, M., Mori, Y., and Okumura, K. (2010). Cell cycle-dependent accumulation of histone H3.3 and euchromatic histone modifications in pericentromeric heterochromatin in response to a decrease in DNA methylation levels. Exp Cell Res *316*, 2731-2746.

Tagami, H., Ray-Gallet, D., Almouzni, G., and Nakatani, Y. (2004). Histone H3.1 and H3.3 complexes mediate nucleosome assembly pathways dependent or independent of DNA synthesis. Cell *116*, 51-61.

van Holde, K. (1988). Chromatin. Springer-Verlag KG, Berlin, Germany.

Van Hooser, A.A., Ouspenski, II, Gregson, H.C., Starr, D.A., Yen, T.J., Goldberg, M.L., Yokomori, K., Earnshaw, W.C., Sullivan, K.F., and Brinkley, B.R. (2001). Specification of kinetochore-forming chromatin by the histone H3 variant CENP-A. Journal of cell science *114*, 3529-3542.

Verreault, A., Kaufman, P.D., Kobayashi, R., and Stillman, B. (1996). Nucleosome assembly by a complex of CAF-1 and acetylated histones H3/H4. Cell 87, 95-104.

Weidtkamp-Peters, S., Lenser, T., Negorev, D., Gerstner, N., Hofmann, T.G., Schwanitz, G., Hoischen, C., Maul, G., Dittrich, P., and Hemmerich, P. (2008). Dynamics of component exchange at PML nuclear bodies. J Cell Sci *121*, 2731-2743.

Wong, L.H., McGhie, J.D., Sim, M., Anderson, M.A., Ahn, S., Hannan, R.D., George, A.J., Morgan, K.A., Mann, J.R., and Choo, K.H. (2010). ATRX interacts with H3.3 in maintaining telomere structural integrity in pluripotent embryonic stem cells. Genome Res *20*, 351-360.

Ye, T., Krebs, A.R., Choukrallah, M.A., Keime, C., Plewniak, F., Davidson, I., and Tora, L. (2011). seqMINER: an integrated ChIP-seq data interpretation platform. Nucleic acids research *39*, e35.

Yuen, B.T., Bush, K.M., Barrilleaux, B.L., Cotterman, R., and Knoepfler, P.S. (2014). Histone H3.3 regulates dynamic chromatin states during spermatogenesis. Development *141*, 3483-3494.

Zhang, Y., Liu, T., Meyer, C.A., Eeckhoute, J., Johnson, D.S., Bernstein, B.E., Nusbaum, C., Myers, R.M., Brown, M., Li, W., *et al.* (2008). Model-based analysis of ChIP-Seq (MACS). Genome biology *9*, R137.

Legends of Figures

Figure 1. Immunopurification of the H3.3 specific e-DAXX deposition complex from MEF soluble nuclear fractions.

(A) Stable expression of e-DAXX in MEF *Daxx^{-/-}* cells. Cells expressing e-DAXX and control cells (CTRL) were stained with anti-HA (top) and DAPI (bottom). (B) Uper panel: Silver staining of proteins associated with e-DAXX NC (lane 1). The complex containing e-DAXX (e-DAXX.com) was purified by double immunoaffinity from MEF soluble nuclear extract (NC). Polypeptides identified by mass spectrometry analysis and the positions of molecular size markers are indicated. (lane 2) Mock; Lower panel: CAF1-p150, ADNP and HP1 < are components of the e-DAXX NC. The e-DAXX (lane 1) complex was analyzed by immunoblotting with the indicated antibodies. (lane 2) Mock. (C) Mass spectrometry analyses of e-DAXX complex. Table summarizing polypeptides detected by mass spectrometry analysis of e-DAXX complex, presented in Figure 1B and purified by double immunoaffinity. (D) Mass spectrometry analysis of histone H3.3/H3.1 ratio in the e-DAXX complex. Peptide abundances for individual H3 variants are indicated. Note that H3.3 is at least 20 times more abundant than H3.1.

Figure 2. DAXX and CAF1-p150 are in the same nuclear complex in vivo.

(A) Silver staining of nuclear e-DAXX complex fractionated on a glycerol gradient. The e-DAXX NC purified by double affinity was separated on a glycerol gradient. Fractions were collected as indicated at the top of the gel : fraction 1 correspond to the higher molecular weight fraction and fraction 10 the lowest. (B) Immunoblotting of glycerol fractions containing e-DAXX nuclear subcomplexes with the indicated antibodies. (C) Primary structure of DAXX. DAXX contains several putative domains: two paired amphipathic helices (PAH1 and PAH2), a coiled-coil (CC), an acidic domain (acidic), a Ser/Pro/Thr rich domain (S/P/T-rich), and an Rtt106-like domain (Rtt106). (D) DAXX interacts with CAF1-P150 in vitro. Tandem affinity purification was made with SF9 cells, which coexpress FLAG-DAXX and HA-CAF1-P150. Beadbound proteins were washed in TGEN 150 mM. Eluted proteins were fractionated on SDS-PAGE and stained with colloidal blue. FLAG-DAXX and HA-CAF1-P150 were immunoprecipitated alone as control (lane 1, 2). The input lane (lane 3) represents the amount of proteins used for the pull-down. Tandem immunoprecipitation (IP) is shown in lane 4. (E) The N-terminal part of DAXX contains a CAF1-p150-interacting and ATRX-interacting domain. N-terminal (1–302), central (302–495), and C-terminal (495–740) regions of DAXX were produced as GST fusion proteins. The fusion proteins (lanes 2-7), immobilized on glutathione-agarose, were incubated with epitope-tagged CAF1-p150 or epitope tagged ATRX After washing with either 0.15 or 0.5 M NaCl, the resin-bound CAF1-p150 or ATRX were probed with anti-HA antibody. To compare the levels of the GST fusions used for the pull-down, the blot was first stained with colloidal blue. The input lane (INP) represents 20% of the amount of CAF1-p150 or ATRX used for the pull-down. (F) Primary structure of CAF1-p150. (G) The C-terminal part of CAF1-p150 contains a DAXX-interacting domain. The N-terminal region of DAXX (1-302) produced as GST fusion protein was immobilized on glutathione-agarose and incubated with either N-terminal (1-296),

central (297–641), and C-terminal (642–938) regions of 6XHIS CAF1-p150. After washing with 0.5 M NaCl, the resin-bound CAF1-p150 domains were probed with anti-His antibody.

Figure 3. DAXX Sumo-interacting motif is essential for targeting DAXX to PML-NBs and for the recruitment of CAF1-p150.

(A) Primary structure of DAXX contains a Sumo-Interacting Motif (SIM) located in the C-terminal part. (B) SIM targets DAXX to PML-NBs. Distribution of HA-DAXX (a,e), HA-CAF1-p150 (i) or endogenous PML (b,f,i) in e-DAXX, e-DAXX-ΔS or e-CAF1p150 MEF cells analyzed by immunofluorescence staining using anti-HA or anti-PML antibodies, respectively. (d,h,l) DNA was stained with DAPI. (c,g,k) Merged images correspond to the overlay of red (PML) and green fluorescence (DAXX) or CAF1p150. (C, D) CAF1-p150 is absent from the e-DAXX-ΔS. (C) Silver staining of proteins associated with e-DAXX (lane 1) and e-DAXX- Δ S (lane 2). The complexes containing e-DAXX (e-DAXX.com) and e-DAXX-ΔS (e-DAXX-ΔS.com) were purified by double immunoaffinity from MEF soluble nuclear extracts (NCs). Polypeptides identified by mass spectrometry analysis and the positions of molecular size markers are indicated. (D) The e-DAXX (lane 1) and e-DAXX-ΔS (lane 2) complexes were analyzed by immunoblotting with the indicated antibodies. Sumoylated DAXX (*) is specific of e-DAXX. (E) Mass spectrometry analyses of e-DAXX WT and e-DAXX- Δ S.com complexes. Table summarizing polypeptides detected by mass spectrometry analysis of e-DAXX WT and e-DAXX- Δ S.com complexes, presented in Figure 3C and purified by double immunoaffinity. (F) DAXX Δ S interact with CAF1-p150 in vitro. Tandem affinity purification was made from SF9 cells co-expressing FLAG-DAXX-ΔS and HA-CAF1-p150. Bead-bound proteins were washed in TGEN 150 mM. Eluted proteins were fractionated on SDS-PAGE and stained with colloidal blue. FLAG-DAXX Δ S and HA-CAF1-p150 were immunoprecipitated alone as control (lane 1, 2). The input lane 3 (INP) represents the amount of proteins used for the pull-down. The tandem affinity purification (IP) is shown in lane 4. (G) Relative mRNA level for pericentromeric DNA repeats in DAXX rescue, DAXX^{-/-} and DAXX-ΔS MEFs was determined by quantitative RT–PCR. Results are represented as relative expression level of pericentromeric DNA repeats versus HPRT. Mean ± standard deviation of three independent experiments. *: p < 0.05 compare to wild-type. The level of transcripts from pericentromeric DNA repeats is reduced in DAXX^{-/-} and DAXX-ΔS MEF cells. (H) Depletion of p150CAF-1 resulted in a decrease in transcription from pericentromeric DNA repeats. MEFs were transfected with control shRNA (sh Ctrl) or two different CAF1-p150 shRNA (sh-1 and sh-2). Relative mRNA level for pericentromeric DNA repeats was determined by quantitative RT-PCR. Results are represented as relative expression level of pericentromeric DNA repeats versus HPRT. (I) Depletion of Atrx resulted in an increase in transcription from pericentromeric DNA repeats. MEFs were transfected with control shRNA (sh Ctrl) or two different Atrx shRNA (sh-1 and sh-2). Relative mRNA level for pericentromeric DNA repeats was determined by quantitative RT–PCR. Results are represented as relative expression level of pericentromeric DNA repeats versus HPRT. (J, K) Controls were performed to assess depletion efficiencies of the respective shRNA, *i.e.*, shCAF1-p150 and shATRX. Mean ± standard deviation of three independent experiments. * : p < 0.05 compare to control, ** : p < 0.01 compare to control, *** : p < 0.001 compare to control.

Figure 4: Impact of DAXX inactivation on the genomic distribution of CAF1 in mouse embryonic fibroblasts.

(A) Venn diagrams showing the overlap between CAF1 peaks in control ($Daxx^{+/+}$) and Daxx-deficient MEFs (Daxx^{-/-}). (**B**, **C**). Heatmaps (**B**) and quantifications (**C**) of tag densities at WT-specific, common and KO-specific CAF1 peaks. (D) Percentages of peaks overlapping with repetitive elements using the UCSC RepeatMasker database. We observed an accumulation of CAF1 at all repetitive elements with the exception of LTR retrotransposons. (E, F). Heatmaps (E) and guantification (F) of CAF1 at full-length L1Md LINEs (length > 5 kb, n = 12,916), ranked by conservation score. Tag densities were collected in 50-bp sliding windows spanning 2 kb (divided in 20 bins) of the length-normalized L1Md (divided in 40 bins). (G, H). Heatmaps (G) and guantification (H) of CAF1 at B1m SINEs (+/- 2 kb) ranked by conservation score. (I, J). Heatmaps of CAF1 at promoters (I) ranked according to their expression level, and at enhancers (J) sorted according to their distance to nearest TSS. (K) Relative enrichment of CAF1 at DNA repeat families in the presence $(Daxx^{+/+})$ or in the absence of DAXX (Daxx^{-/-}). Calculations were done including "unmappable" multihit reads by assigning them to their unique repeat family (see Methods). (L) Histogram (built using genome-wide ChIP data) showing the relative enrichment of CAF1 (log2 IP/Input) at each chromosome in control and Daxx-deficient MEFs. CAF1 is found significantly depleted from the X chromosome in the absence of DAXX. (M-P). Heatmaps (M, O) and quantification (N, P) of CAF1 in DAXX WT and KO cells, at B1m SINEs (**M**, **N**) or L1Md LINEs (**O**, **P**), sorted according to their chromosomal distribution.

Figure 5: Consequences of DAXX loss on H3.3 genomic distribution. Native FLAG-HA tagged mononucleosomes were isolated by double immuno-affinity purification from MEFs expressing an endogenous FLAG-HA-tagged H3.3, and from control (*Daxx*^{+/+}) or *Daxx* knockout (*Daxx*^{-/-}) MEFs overexpressing an epitope-tagged H3.3. **(A, B)** Heatmaps (left panels) and quantifications (right panels) of average H3.3 signals at promoters (**A**) ranked according to their expression level, and at enhancers (**B**) sorted according to their distance to nearest TSS. Whereas, overexpressed H3.3 target enhancers in both WT and KO cells, an accumulation of epitope-tagged H3.3 were found specifically at promoters in the absence of DAXX. **(C)** Average H3.3 signals at enhancers sorted according to their chromosomal distribution. The absence of DAXX lead to a depletion of H3.3 from X-chromosome enhancers.

Sup. Figure 1: Histone H3.3 genomic distribution at coding and repetitive elements. (A) Pie chart of the genomic location distribution of H3.3 in MEFs using native ChIP-seq experiments. More than 80 % of the called peaks (n= 104,727) were found at enhancers. (**B**, **C**). Heatmaps of average H3.3 signals at full-length L1Md (**B**) ranked by conservation score, and at B1m SINEs (**C**) ranked by conservation score. H3.3 was not found at retroelements in MEFs.



Α

в

Figure2

109









Figure. 5



Sup_Figure 1

III. DISCUSSION

and

CONCLUSION

III. Discussion and Conclusion

DAXX has been shown to mediate apoptosis through extrinsic death receptor pathway (Chang, 1998) as well as to control gene expression as a transcriptional co-repressor or co-activator by interacting with diverse DNA-binding transcription factors (TFs), epigenetic regulators, core histones and chromatin-associated proteins (Lehembre, 2001; Li, 2000). More recently, DAXX was identified as the histone H3.3 variant chaperone (Drané et al., 2010; Lewis et al., 2010).

The histone H3.3 variant can replace canonical histone H3.1 and thus locally modify nucleosome composition and chromatin function.

The study of histone H3.3 deposition complexes are an essential step in understanding and accurately characterizing the role of the histone H3.3 variant. To this end, the identification of the specific partners of the histone H3.3 chaperone, DAXX, was conducted. Toward this goal, murine embryonic fibroblasts knock-out for DAXX were used (MEF DAXX^{-/-}). An ectopic copy of DAXX bearing the FLAG and HA epitopes was then reintroduced to restore the expression of DAXX. This approach allowed the study of the DAXX macromolecular complexes in an almost physiological context, thus freeing itself from any artifacts induced by classical overexpression.

1. Identification and characterization of DAXX interacting partners and their role in histone H3.3 deposition

Tandem affinity purification of epitope tagged DAXX from mouse embryonic fibroblasts and further analysis of the complex by mass spectrometry and western-blotting confirmed the specificity of the complex for the histone H3.3 variant as well as for the chromatin remodeling factor ATRX. These results are fully in line with previous studies that have demonstrated the specificity of the DAXX-ATRX complex for H3.3 and its remodeling activity of chromatin containing H3.3 nucleosomes (Drané et al., 2010; Lewis et al., 2010). Surprisingly, this analysis also revealed the existence of a high molecular weight complex containing, in particular, the CAF-1 complex, the potential transcription factor ADNP, and the specific heterochromatin protein, HP1 .

The CAF-1 complex, composed of the subunits p150, p60 and p46/48, is conventionally associated with the specific deposition of the canonical histones H3.1

and H3.2 (Smith and Stillman, 1989; Tagami et al., 2004). Although it has been shown that p46/48 subunits are also present within the H3.3 deposition complex (Drané et al., 2010), the presence of the entire CAF-1 complex associated with the DAXX-H3.3 complex is unexpected and puzzling. Nevertheless, the results obtained from the analysis of DAXX-associated proteins by mass spectrometry and western blotting clearly show the presence of CAF-1 and excluded the possibility of mixing between the H3.1 and H3.3 deposition complexes. All the data obtained during the identification of DAXX partners thus suggests a new role of CAF-1 in the mechanism of histone H3.3 deposition or exchange.

2. DAXX and CAF-1 physically interact with each together

In the light of the results obtained above, the presence of CAF-1 subunits and ATRX in the DAXX-H3.3 complex needed to be clarified. In vitro interaction experiments between DAXX, CAF1-p150 and ATRX were therefore performed using recombinant proteins produced in SF9 insect cells or bacteria. The results obtained clearly demonstrate a direct interaction between DAXX and CAF1-p150, and DAXX and ATRX. The histone chaperone DAXX can be divided into three distinct regions: The Nterminal region containing two PAH (Paired Amphipathic Helix) domains, the acidic central region containing an Rtt-106 like domain, and the serine, proline and threonine rich C-terminal domain. It has been shown previously that the central domain Rtt-106 is involved in the specific recognition of H3.3 (Drané et al., 2010; Lewis et al., 2010). It should be noted that CAF1-p150, as well as other histone chaperone proteins, also have an Rtt-106 domain. It has also been shown that DAXX interacts with ATRX via its N-terminal region containing the PAH domains (Tang et al., 2004). This study adds additional data to DAXX's interaction mapping. Indeed, the results obtained show that the N-terminal region containing the PAH domains of DAXX is also involved in the interaction with CAF1-p150. ATRX and CAF1-p150 are likely to compete for interacting with DAXX. Our data also showed that CAF1-p150 interact with DAXX through its Cterminal region encompassing amino-acids 642-938. These data confirm the results obtained during the identification of specific partners of DAXX and support the hypothesis of a role of the CAF-1 complex and the ATRX chromatin remodeling factor in the deposition/exchange mechanism of the histone variant H3.3.

3. Role of CAF-1 and ATRX in heterochromatin formation

Beyond the role of CAF-1 in the deposition of canonical histones H3.1 and H3.2, some work suggests that this complex, which has a high conservation rate during evolution, could be involved in other mechanisms. For example, CAF-1, as well as HP1 -, have been shown to be essential actors in the homologous recombination mechanism following DNA damage (Baldeyron et al., 2011). The analysis of the specific partners of the DAXX complex also allowed to identify the potential transcription factor ADNP (Activity-dependent neuroprotector homeobox protein). There is little data on the ADNP function, however, it has been shown that this protein is involved in the regulation of pericentromeric repeat sequences in a HP1-dependent manner (Mosch et al., 2011) but in a H3K9me3 independent manner (Ostapcuk et al., 2018). ADNP was also shown very recently to be part of the ChAHP complex which is involved in the maintenance of evolutionarily conserved spatial chromatin organization by buffering novel CTCF binding sites that emerged through SINE expansions (Kaaij et al., 2019). Accordingly, CAF1-p150 was found associated with mobile elements such as B2m SINEs and L1md LINEs. The connection between ADNP and H3.3 is interesting and needs to be addressed in more details by integrating the connection with CAF-1 and mobile elements. It has also been shown that inactivation of CAF-1 leads to a loss of maintenance and lack of replication of pericentromeric heterochromatin (Houlard et al., 2006; Dohke et al., 2008; Quivy et al., 2008; Huang et al., 2010). In view of these data, the role of CAF1-p150 in pericentromeric regions was studied by the RNA interference technique. The analysis of the results obtained by Q-PCR clearly shows a decrease in the level of transcription of pericentromeric repeat sequences in the absence of CAF1-p150, supporting the hypothesis of a role of the CAF-1 complex in the mechanisms regulating transcription of pericentromeric regions. In addition, it has been shown that CAF-1 and HP1 are essential for the replication of pericentromeric regions (Quivy et al., 2008) and are involved in the establishment and maintenance of these regions (Huang et al., 2010). It has also been shown that pericentromeric transcripts are finely regulated according to cell cycle in mice (Lu and Gilbert, 2007) and that the latter are also involved in the establishment and maintenance of pericentromeric heterochromatin in yeast (Volpe et al., 2002; Zofall and Grewal, 2006). Finally, it has been shown that the transcription of pericentromeric repeat sequences is associated with the incorporation of H3.3 in the pericentromeric regions (Drané et al., 2010). In view of all these data, it seems reasonable to formulate the following hypothesis: CAF-1, in combination with HP1, and DAXX are present to allow the successive incorporation of H3.1/H3.2 and H3.3 thus ensuring a fine regulation of the transcription of pericentromeric heterochromatin.

In order to understand the interconnection between CAF-1 and ATRX in the DAXX complex, we also investigated the role of ATRX in the DAXX-H3.3 complex by RNA interference inactivation. Analysis of the results obtained by Q-PCR clearly shows an increase in the level of transcription of pericentromeric repeat sequences in the absence of ATRX.

From all these results, several hypotheses about the function of the DAXX complex can be made. Indeed, chaperone protein complexes are involved in the incorporation of histones into chromatin but also in eviction, a mechanism that allows the removal of histones from chromatin. It has been shown that ATRX is involved in the incorporation of H3.3 in pericentromeric repeat sequences (Goldberg et al., 2010). It is therefore reasonable to make the following assumptions: (i) the remodeling factor ATRX and the chromatin assembly complex CAF-1 have complementary functions within the DAXX complex, interfering with the incorporation and/or dynamic eviction of the histone variant H3.3; (ii) the presence of ATRX and CAF-1 reflects two different modes of management of H3.3 over time. In any case, in these hypotheses DAXX would therefore be the specific chaperone of H3.3 and ATRX and CAF-1 would be the factors regulating the eviction of H3.3 and replacement by H3.1 at pericentromeric chromatin, thus allowing a fine regulation of the transcription of pericentromeric repeat sequences.

4. Role of DAXX SIM domain in the regulation of pericentromeric chromatin

Several studies have shown that DAXX is a major component of PML nuclear bodies (PML-NBs) (Negorev and Maul, 2001; Weidtkamp-Peters et al., 2008; Geng et al., 2012). It has been shown that PML is the main component of PML-NBs and that sumoylation of this protein is a post-translational modification essential for the formation of PML-NBs (Ishov et al., 1999; Zhong et al., 2000; Brand et al., 2010). It

has also been shown that the DAXX protein has a SIM motif (SUMO-Interacting Motif (Song et al., 2004)) at its C-terminal end that is involved in the interaction with PML (Lin et al., 2006; Escobar-Cabrera et al., 2011).

PML-NBs are involved in cell cycle progression, DNA damage response, transcription regulation, viral infection and apoptosis, however, to date, the precise function of PML-NBs in these mechanisms remains poorly understood (Bernardi and Pandolfi, 2007; Borden and Culjkovic, 2009).

In order to better understand the existing relationships between PML-NBs and the DAXX complex, the DAXX- Δ S mutant, lacking the SIM motif, has been reintroduced into the MEF DAXX^{-/-} cells. Confocal microscopy confirmed the loss of interaction between DAXX-ΔS and PML-NBs. This result is consistent with other previous studies (Shen et al., 2006; Chang et al., 2011) and confirms the key role of the SIM domain in the localization of DAXX to PML-NBs. In addition, mass spectrometry and western-blotting analysis determined that the DAXX-ΔS complex is relatively similar to the wild-type DAXX complex. However, the CAF-1 complex, present in wild-type DAXX, is lost from the mutant complex. In order to better understand this result, we therefore performed an in vitro interaction experiment between DAXX-AS and CAF1-p150 using recombinant proteins produced in SF9 insect cells. The obtained results clearly demonstrate that the SIM domain is not mediating the interaction between DAXX- Δ S and CAF1-p150 subunit but necessary for the recruitment of CAF-1 to the DAXX complex. All these data suggest that the passage of DAXX through PML-NBs is necessary for its interaction with CAF-1-p150, and that this passage is dependent on the SIM domain of DAXX. Nevertheless, at this stage of the study, the biological mechanisms that occur at the level of PML-NBs remain to be determined.

5. Role of DAXX in recruiting CAF-1 to X-chromosome and mobile elements

In addition to its role in pericentric heterochromatin, CAF-1 was found to localize to mobile elements such as SINEs and LINEs. The association of DAXX with CAF1-p150 subunit is interesting and suggests a cooperative action of these two histone chaperones in the regulation of mobile elements and in targeting the X-chromosome

in a distinct manner from the autosomes. DAXX was found essential for the proper localization of CAF-1 on X-chromosome B2m SINEs and L1Md LINEs. DAXX was also found to tightly control the deposition of H3.3 at enhancers located on X-chromosome and to prevent ectopic H3.3 accumulation on promoters. These data revealed the close connection between DAXX and X-chromosome. It will be interesting to investigate whether DAXX is involved in X-chromosome inactivation and the connection between H3.3 and X-chromosome inactivation. Accordingly H3.3 was found to be involved in spermatogenesis in flies (Sakai et al., 2009) and mice (Jang et al., 2015). Inactivation of both *H3f3a* and *H3f3b* genes in mice led to early embryonic lethality and double *H3f3a*^{KO/WT} / *H3f3b*^{KO} mutant males are totally infertile, while double *H3f3a*^{KO/WT} / *H3f3b*^{KO} females are fertile, revealing a specific role of H3.3 in spermatogenesis (Jang et al., 2015). Another study revealed that H3.3B depletion alone is sufficient to generate mice infertility (Yuen et al., 2014). This mice infertility could be simply the failure to inactivate the X-chromosome in the absence of H3.3 or DAXX.

6. Conclusion

Our data suggests a cooperative action of ATRX and CAF1 in the repression of heterochromatin and repetitive elements. ATRX, CAF1 and DAXX might act together in a replication-independent chromatin assembly pathway that exchanges H3.3/H3.1 at repetitive elements and pericentric chromatin. Their inactivation resulted in abnormal levels of repetitive elements transcription. It will be interesting to monitor the level of H3.3 at those repeats in the absence of either CAF-1 or ATRX. Depletion of H3.3 from these repeats may affect centromere organization and genome integrity. Despite the results obtained, the role of DAXX complex in pericentromeric heterochromatin, mobile elements and X-inactivation remains to be clarified and some questions need to be answered.

What is the role of CAF-1 in the H3.3 deposition complex at repetitive elements and pericentromeric heterochromatin?

The most surprising result of this study is undoubtedly the presence of the CAF-1 complex within the DAXX-H3.3 complex, which does not question the role of CAF-1 in the deposition of canonical histones H3.1 and H3.2 during replication, but the data

provided suggest a more precise role for this complex in regulating the transcription of repetitive elements and pericentric heterochromatin.

In view of all available data, it is possible that the incorporation of H3.1/H3.2 and H3.3 by CAF-1 and DAXX complexes may be required to ensure fine regulation of heterochromatin transcription. In order to test this hypothesis, chromatin immunoprecipitation experiments directed against H3.3 or H3.1/H3.2, in the absence of CAF-1 and DAXX, could be considered.

What is the role of PML-NBs in regulating the transcription of heterochromatin by the DAXX complex?

Our study confirmed the importance of PML-NBs in regulating the transcription of pericentromeric repeat sequences. It seems reasonable to think that the PML-NBs play a role as a platform ensuring both the meeting of all the partners involved and their addressing to the pericentromeric regions. Nevertheless, in view of the studies conducted on PML-NBs and the highly regulated nature of the transcription of pericentromeric regions, it is highly likely that the events involved in this process are highly dynamic and difficult to tract biochemically. Based on this idea, it would be interesting to use super-resolution imaging technics to visualize DAXX, CAF1-p150, H3.3 and PML proteins dynamics around heterochromatin in living cells. This approach would allow to understand the regulation of the observed mechanisms throughout the cell cycle.

Finally, the results obtained strongly suggest that PML-NBs play a role as a platform where DAXX and CAF-1 meet to form a complex that interact to regulate specifically heterochromation and X-chromosome formation or inactivation.

IV. REFERENCES

Adam, S., S. E. Polo and G. Almouzni (2013). "Transcription Recovery after DNA Damage Requires Chromatin Priming by the H3.3 Histone Chaperone HIRA (vol 155, pg 94, 2013)." <u>Cell</u>**155**(4): 963-963.

Ahmad, K. and S. Henikoff (2002). "Epigenetic consequences of nucleosome dynamics." <u>Cell</u> **111**(3): 281-284.

Ahmad, K. and S. Henikoff (2002). "The histone variant H3.3 marks active chromatin by replication-independent nucleosome assembly." <u>Mol Cell</u> **9**(6): 1191-1200.

Ahmad, K. and S. Henikoff (2002). "Histone H3 variants specify modes of chromatin assembly." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **99 Suppl 4**: 16477-16484.

Alexiadis, V., P. D. Varga-Weisz, E. Bonte, P. B. Becker and C. Gruss (1998). "In vitro chromatin remodelling by chromatin accessibility complex (CHRAC) at the SV40 origin of DNA replication." <u>Embo Journal</u> **17**(12): 3428-3438.

Allan, J., P. G. Hartman, C. Crane-Robinson and F. X. Aviles (1980). "The structure of histone H1 and its location in chromatin." <u>Nature</u> **288**(5792): 675-679.

Alvarez, F., F. Munoz, P. Schilcher, A. Imhof, G. Almouzni and A. Loyola (2011). "Sequential establishment of marks on soluble histones H3 and H4." <u>J Biol</u> <u>Chem</u> **286**(20): 17714-17721.

Annunziato, A. T. (2005). "Split decision: what happens to nucleosomes during DNA replication?" J Biol Chem **280**(13): 12065-12068.

Arents, G., R. W. Burlingame, B. C. Wang, W. E. Love and E. N. Moudrianakis (1991). "The Nucleosomal Core Histone Octamer at 3.1-a Resolution - a Tripartite Protein Assembly and a Left-Handed Superhelix." <u>Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America</u> **88**(22): 10148-10152.

Arents, G. and E. N. Moudrianakis (1995). "The histone fold: a ubiquitous architectural motif utilized in DNA compaction and protein dimerization." <u>Proc Natl</u> <u>Acad Sci U S A</u> **92**(24): 11170-11174.

Arya, G. and T. Schlick (2006). "Role of histone tails in chromatin folding revealed by a mesoscopic oligonucleosome model." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **103**(44): 16236-16241.

Ausio, J. and D. W. Abbott (2002). "The many tales of a tail: carboxyl-terminal tail heterogeneity specializes histone H2A variants for defined chromatin function." <u>Biochemistry</u> **41**(19): 5945-5949.

Ausio, J. and K. E. van Holde (1986). "Histone hyperacetylation: its effects on nucleosome conformation and stability." <u>Biochemistry</u> **25**(6): 1421-1428.

Bachu, M., T. Tamura, C. Chen, A. Narain, V. Nehru, N. Sarai, S. B. Ghosh, A. Ghosh, R. Kavarthapu, M. L. Dufau and K. Ozato (2019). "A versatile mouse model of epitope-tagged histone H3.3 to study epigenome dynamics." <u>J Biol Chem</u> **294**(6): 1904-1914.

Banaszynski, L. A., D. Wen, S. Dewell, S. J. Whitcomb, M. Lin, N. Diaz, S. J. Elsasser, A. Chapgier, A. D. Goldberg, E. Canaani, S. Rafii, D. Zheng and C. D. Allis (2013). "Hira-dependent histone H3.3 deposition facilitates PRC2 recruitment at developmental loci in ES cells." <u>Cell</u> **155**(Korber P1, #526): 107-120.

Banerjee, T. and D. Chakravarti (2011). "A Peek into the Complex Realm of Histone Phosphorylation." <u>Molecular and Cellular Biology</u> **31**(24): 4858-4873.

Bannister, A. J., R. Schneider and T. Kouzarides (2002). "Histone methylation: dynamic or static?" <u>Cell</u> **109**(7): 801-806.

Bao, Y., K. Konesky, Y. J. Park, S. Rosu, P. N. Dyer, D. Rangasamy, D. J. Tremethick, P. J. Laybourn and K. Luger (2004). "Nucleosomes containing the histone variant H2A.Bbd organize only 118 base pairs of DNA." <u>EMBO J</u> **23**(16): 3314-3324.

Barak, O., M. A. Lazzaro, W. S. Lane, D. W. Speicher, D. J. Picketts and R. Shiekhattar (2003). "Isolation of human NURF: a regulator of Engrailed gene expression." <u>Embo Journal</u> **22**(22): 6089-6100.

Bartova, E., J. Krejci, A. Harnicarova, G. Galiova and S. Kozubek (2008). "Histone modifications and nuclear architecture: a review." <u>J Histochem Cytochem</u> **56**(8): 711-721.

Baur, J. A., Y. Zou, J. W. Shay and W. E. Wright (2001). "Telomere position effect in human cells." <u>Science</u> **292**(5524): 2075-2077.

Belotserkovskaya, R., S. Oh, V. A. Bondarenko, G. Orphanides, V. M. Studitsky and D. Reinberg (2003). "FACT facilitates transcription-dependent nucleosome alteration." <u>Science</u> **301**(5636): 1090-1093.

Benetti, R., S. Gonzalo, I. Jaco, G. SChotta, P. Klatt, T. Jenuwein and M. A. Blasco (2007). "Suv4-20h deficiency results in telomere elongation and derepression of telomere recombination." Journal of Cell Biology **178**(6): 925-936.

Bernardi, R. and P. P. Pandolfi (2007). "Structure, dynamics and functions of promyelocytic leukaemia nuclear bodies." <u>Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol</u> **8**(12): 1006-1016.

Bernstein, E. and S. B. Hake (2006). "The nucleosome: a little variation goes a long way." <u>Biochem Cell Biol</u> **84**(4): 505-517.

Blasco, M. A. (2007). "Telomere length, stem cells and aging." <u>Nat Chem Biol</u> **3**(10): 640-649.

Borden, K. L. and B. Culjkovic (2009). "Perspectives in PML: a unifying framework for PML function." <u>Front Biosci (Landmark Ed)</u> **14**: 497-509.

Bouzinba-Segard, H., A. Guais and C. Francastel (2006). "Accumulation of small murine minor satellite transcripts leads to impaired centromeric architecture and function." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **103**(23): 8709-8714.

Bowen, N. J., M. B. Palmer and P. A. Wade (2004). "Chromosomal regulation by MeCP2: structural and enzymatic considerations." <u>Cell Mol Life Sci</u> **61**(17): 2163-2167.

Brahma, S. and S. Henikoff (2019). "Epigenome Regulation by Dynamic Nucleosome Unwrapping." <u>Trends Biochem Sci</u>.

Brand, P., T. Lenser and P. Hemmerich (2010). "Assembly dynamics of PML nuclear bodies in living cells." <u>PMC Biophys</u> **3**(Korber P1, #526): 3.

Brehm, A., G. Langst, J. Kehle, C. R. Clapier, A. Imhof, A. Eberharter, J. Muller and P. B. Becker (2000). "dMi-2 and ISWI chromatin remodelling factors have distinct nucleosome binding and mobilization properties." <u>Embo Journal</u> **19**(16): 4332-4341.

Bush, K. M., B. T. Yuen, B. L. Barrilleaux, J. W. Riggs, H. O'Geen, R. F. Cotterman and P. S. Knoepfler (2013). "Endogenous mammalian histone H3.3 exhibits chromatin-related functions during development." <u>Epigenetics Chromatin</u> **6**(Korber P1, #526): 7.

Cairns, B. R., Y. Lorch, Y. Li, M. Zhang, L. Lacomis, H. Erdjument-Bromage, P. Tempst, J. Du, B. Laurent and R. D. Kornberg (1996). "RSC, an essential, abundant chromatin-remodeling complex." <u>Cell</u> **87**(7): 1249-1260.

Campos, E. I., J. Fillingham, G. Li, H. Zheng, P. Voigt, W. H. Kuo, H. Seepany, Z. Gao, L. A. Day, J. F. Greenblatt and D. Reinberg (2010). "The program for processing newly synthesized histones H3.1 and H4." <u>Nat Struct Mol Biol</u> **17**(11): 1343-1351.

Campos, E. I. and D. Reinberg (2009). "Histones: annotating chromatin." <u>Annu Rev</u> <u>Genet</u> **43**: 559-599.

Cavalli, G. and E. Heard (2019). "Advances in epigenetics link genetics to the environment and disease." <u>Nature</u> **571**(7766): 489-499.

Cedar, H. and Y. Bergman (2009). "Linking DNA methylation and histone modification: patterns and paradigms." <u>Nat Rev Genet</u> **10**(5): 295-304.

Cerf, C., G. Lippens, S. Muyldermans, A. Segers, V. Ramakrishnan, S. J. Wodak, K. Hallenga and L. Wyns (1993). "Homo- and heteronuclear two-dimensional NMR studies of the globular domain of histone H1: sequential assignment and secondary structure." <u>Biochemistry</u> **32**(42): 11345-11351.

Chadwick, B. P. and H. F. Willard (2001). "Histone H2A variants and the inactive X chromosome: identification of a second macroH2A variant." <u>Human Molecular</u> <u>Genetics</u> **10**(10): 1101-1113.

Chadwick, B. P. and H. F. Willard (2001). "Histone H2A variants and the inactive X chromosome: identification of a second macroH2A variant." <u>Human Molecular</u> <u>Genetics</u> **10**(10): 1101-1113.

Chadwick, B. P. and H. F. Willard (2001). "A novel chromatin protein, distantly related to histone H2A, is largely excluded from the inactive X chromosome." <u>Journal of Cell</u> <u>Biology</u> **152**(2): 375-384.

Chang, L., S. S. Loranger, C. Mizzen, S. G. Ernst, C. D. Allis and A. T. Annunziato (1997). "Histones in transit: cytosolic histone complexes and diacetylation of H4 during nucleosome assembly in human cells." <u>Biochemistry</u> **36**(3): 469-480.

Chen, H. Y., J. M. Sun, Y. Zhang, J. R. Davie and M. L. Meistrich (1998). "Ubiquitination of histone H3 in elongating spermatids of rat testes." <u>Journal of Biological Chemistry</u> **273**(21): 13165-13169.

Chen, L., P. Firozi, M. Barton and N. S. Templeton (2007). "Widespread, exceptionally high levels of histone H3 lysine 4 trimethylation largely mediate "privileged" gene expression." <u>Gene Expr</u>**13**(4-5): 271-282.

Chen, P., J. C. Zhao, Y. Wang, M. Wang, H. Z. Long, D. Liang, L. Huang, Z. Q. Wen, W. Li, X. Li, H. L. Feng, H. Y. Zhao, P. Zhu, M. Li, Q. F. Wang and G. H. Li (2013). "H3.3 actively marks enhancers and primes gene transcription via opening higher-ordered chromatin." <u>Genes & Development</u> **27**(19): 2109-2124.

Churikov, D., J. Siino, M. Svetlova, K. Zhang, A. Gineitis, E. Morton Bradbury and A. Zalensky (2004). "Novel human testis-specific histone H2B encoded by the interrupted gene on the X chromosome." <u>Genomics</u> **84**(4): 745-756.

Churikov, D., I. A. Zalenskaya and A. O. Zalensky (2004). "Male germline-specific histones in mouse and man." <u>Cytogenet Genome Res</u> **105**(2-4): 203-214.

Clapier, C. R. and B. R. Cairns (2009). "The Biology of Chromatin Remodeling Complexes." <u>Annual Review of Biochemistry</u> **78**: 273-304.

Clarkson, M. J., J. R. E. Wells, F. Gibson, R. Saint and D. J. Tremethick (1999). "Regions of variant histone His2AvD required for Drosophila development." <u>Nature</u> **399**(6737): 694-697.

Clausell, J., N. Happel, T. K. Hale, D. Doenecke and M. Beato (2009). "Histone H1 subtypes differentially modulate chromatin condensation without preventing ATP-dependent remodeling by SWI/SNF or NURF." <u>PLoS One</u> **4**(10): e0007243.

Clouaire, T. and I. Stancheva (2008). "Methyl-CpG binding proteins: specialized transcriptional repressors or structural components of chromatin?" <u>Cell Mol Life</u> <u>Sci</u> **65**(10): 1509-1522.

Cooper, J. L. and S. Henikoff (2004). "Adaptive evolution of the histone fold domain in centromeric histones." <u>Mol Biol Evol</u> **21**(9): 1712-1718.

Cortellino, S., J. F. Xu, M. Sannai, R. Moore, E. Caretti, A. Cigliano, M. Le Coz, K. Devarajan, A. Wessels, D. Soprano, L. K. Abramowitz, M. S. Bartolomei, F. Rambow, M. R. Bassi, T. Bruno, M. Fanciulli, C. Renner, A. J. Klein-Szanto, Y. Matsumoto, D. Kobi, I. Davidson, C. Alberti, L. Larue and A. Bellacosa (2011). "Thymine DNA Glycosylase Is Essential for Active DNA Demethylation by Linked Deamination-Base Excision Repair." <u>Cell</u> **146**(Korber P1, #526): 67-79.

Costanzi, C. and J. R. Pehrson (1998). "Histone macroH2A1 is concentrated in the inactive X chromosome of female mammals." <u>Nature</u> **393**(6685): 599-601.

Costanzi, C. and J. R. Pehrson (2001). "MACROH2A2, a new member of the MACROH2A core histone family." <u>Journal of Biological Chemistry</u> **276**(24): 21776-21784.

Cote, J., J. Quinn, J. L. Workman and C. L. Peterson (1994). "Stimulation of GAL4 derivative binding to nucleosomal DNA by the yeast SWI/SNF complex." <u>Science</u> **265**(5168): 53-60.

Couldrey, C., M. B. L. Carlton, P. M. Nolan, W. H. Colledge and M. J. Evans (1999). "A retroviral gene trap insertion into the histone 3.3A gene causes partial neonatal lethality, stunted growth, neuromuscular deficits and male sub-fertility in transgenic mice." Human Molecular Genetics **8**(13): 2489-2495.

Cox, S. G., H. Kim, A. T. Garnett, D. M. Medeiros, W. An and J. G. Crump (2012). "An essential role of variant histone H3.3 for ectomesenchyme potential of the cranial neural crest." <u>PLoS Genet</u> **8**(9): e1002938.

Cremer, T., M. Cremer, S. Dietzel, S. Muller, I. Solovei and S. Fakan (2006). "Chromosome territories - a functional nuclear landscape." <u>Current Opinion in Cell</u> <u>Biology</u> **18**(3): 307-316.

Das, R., N. Dimitrova, Z. Xuan, R. A. Rollins, F. Haghighi, J. R. Edwards, J. Ju, T. H. Bestor and M. Q. Zhang (2006). "Computational prediction of methylation status in human genomic sequences." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **103**(28): 10713-10716.

Davey, C. A., D. F. Sargent, K. Luger, A. W. Maeder and T. J. Richmond (2002). "Solvent mediated interactions in the structure of the nucleosome core particle at 1.9 a resolution." <u>J Mol Biol</u>**319**(5): 1097-1113.

De Lange, T. (2005). "Telomere-related genome instability in cancer." <u>Cold Spring</u> <u>Harb Symp Quant Biol</u> **70**: 197-204. Delbarre, E., K. Ivanauskiene, J. Spirkoski, A. Shah, K. Vekterud, J. O. Moskaug, S. O. Boe, L. H. Wong, T. Kuntziger and P. Collas (2017). "PML protein organizes heterochromatin domains where it regulates histone H3.3 deposition by ATRX/DAXX." <u>Genome Res</u> **27**(6): 913-921.

Deuring, R., L. Fanti, J. A. Armstrong, M. Sarte, O. Papoulas, M. Prestel, G. Daubresse, M. Verardo, S. L. Moseley, M. Berloco, T. Tsukiyama, C. Wu, S. Pimpinelli and J. W. Tamkun (2000). "The ISWI chromatin-remodeling protein is required for gene expression and the maintenance of higher order chromatin structure in vivo." <u>Molecular Cell</u> **5**(2): 355-365.

Dingwall, A. K., S. J. Beek, C. M. McCallum, J. W. Tamkun, G. V. Kalpana, S. P. Goff and M. P. Scott (1995). "The Drosophila snr1 and brm proteins are related to yeast SWI/SNF proteins and are components of a large protein complex." <u>Mol Biol</u> <u>Cell</u> **6**(7): 777-791.

Dirscherl, S. S. and J. E. Krebs (2004). "Functional diversity of ISWI complexes." <u>Biochem Cell Biol</u> **82**(4): 482-489.

Doyen, C. M., F. Montel, T. Gautier, H. Menoni, C. Claudet, M. Delacour-Larose, D. Angelov, A. Hamiche, J. Bednar, C. Faivre-Moskalenko, P. Bouvet and S. Dimitrov (2006). "Dissection of the unusual structural and functional properties of the variant H2A.Bbd nucleosome." <u>EMBO J</u> **25**(18): 4234-4244.

Drane, P., K. Ouararhni, A. Depaux, M. Shuaib and A. Hamiche (2010). "The deathassociated protein DAXX is a novel histone chaperone involved in the replicationindependent deposition of H3.3." <u>Genes & Development</u> **24**(12): 1253-1265.

Duarte, L. F., A. R. Young, Z. Wang, H. A. Wu, T. Panda, Y. Kou, A. Kapoor, D. Hasson, N. R. Mills, A. Ma'ayan, M. Narita and E. Bernstein (2014). "Histone H3.3 and its proteolytically processed form drive a cellular senescence programme." <u>Nat</u> <u>Commun</u> **5**: 5210.

Dutta, S., I. V. Akey, C. Dingwall, K. L. Hartman, T. Laue, R. T. Nolte, J. F. Head and C. W. Akey (2001). "The crystal structure of nucleoplasmin-core: implications for histone binding and nucleosome assembly." <u>Mol Cell</u> **8**(4): 841-853.

Dyda, F., D. C. Klein and A. B. Hickman (2000). "GCN5-related N-acetyltransferases: a structural overview." <u>Annu Rev Biophys Biomol Struct</u> **29**: 81-103.

Ebbert, R., A. Birkmann and H. J. Schuller (1999). "The product of the SNF2/SWI2 paralogue INO80 of Saccharomyces cerevisiae required for efficient expression of various yeast structural genes is part of a high-molecular-weight protein complex." <u>Molecular Microbiology</u> **32**(4): 741-751.

Eckey, M., W. Hong, M. Papaioannou and A. Baniahmad (2007). "The nucleosome assembly activity of NAP1 is enhanced by alien." <u>Molecular and Cellular</u> <u>Biology</u> **27**(10): 3557-3568. Eirin-Lopez, J. M., T. Ishibashi and J. Ausio (2008). "H2A.Bbd: a quickly evolving hypervariable mammalian histone that destabilizes nucleosomes in an acetylation-independent way." <u>Faseb Journal</u> **22**(Korber P1, #526): 316-326.

Elsasser, S. J., K. M. Noh, N. Diaz, C. D. Allis and L. A. Banaszynski (2015). "Histone H3.3 is required for endogenous retroviral element silencing in embryonic stem cells." <u>Nature</u> **522**(7555): 240-244.

English, C. M., M. W. Adkins, J. J. Carson, M. E. A. Churchill and J. K. Tyler (2006). "Structural basis for the histone chaperone activity of Asf1." <u>Cell</u> **127**(3): 495-508.

English, C. M., N. K. Maluf, B. Tripet, M. E. Churchill and J. K. Tyler (2005). "ASF1 binds to a heterodimer of histones H3 and H4: a two-step mechanism for the assembly of the H3-H4 heterotetramer on DNA." <u>Biochemistry</u> **44**(42): 13673-13682.

Escobar-Cabrera, E., M. Okon, D. K. Lau, C. F. Dart, A. M. Bonvin and L. P. McIntosh (2011). "Characterizing the N- and C-terminal Small ubiquitin-like modifier (SUMO)-interacting motifs of the scaffold protein DAXX." J Biol Chem **286**(22): 19816-19829.

Espada, J. and M. Esteller (2010). "DNA methylation and the functional organization of the nuclear compartment." <u>Semin Cell Dev Biol</u> **21**(2): 238-246.

Eymery, A., B. Horard, M. El Atifi-Borel, G. Fourel, F. Berger, A. L. Vitte, A. Van den Broeck, E. Brambilla, A. Fournier, M. Callanan, S. Gazzeri, S. Khochbin, S. Rousseaux, E. Gilson and C. Vourc'h (2009). "A transcriptomic analysis of human centromeric and pericentric sequences in normal and tumor cells." <u>Nucleic Acids</u> <u>Res</u> **37**(19): 6340-6354.

Faast, R., V. Thonglairoam, T. C. Schulz, J. Beall, J. R. E. Wells, H. Taylor, K. Matthaei, P. D. Rathjen, D. J. Tremethick and I. Lyons (2001). "Histone variant H2A.Z is required for early mammalian development." <u>Current Biology</u> **11**(15): 1183-1187.

Fan, Y., T. Nikitina, E. M. Morin-Kensicki, J. Zhao, T. R. Magnuson, C. L. Woodcock and A. I. Skoultchi (2003). "H1 linker histones are essential for mouse development and affect nucleosome spacing in vivo." <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> **23**(13): 4559-4572.

Fang, H.-T., C. A. El Farran, Q. R. Xing, L.-F. Zhang, H. Li, B. Lim and Y.-H. Loh (2018). "Global H3.3 dynamic deposition defines its bimodal role in cell fate transition." <u>Nature Communications</u> **9**(Korber P1, #526): 1537.

Fardi, M., S. Solali and M. F. Hagh (2018). "Epigenetic mechanisms as a new approach in cancer treatment: An updated review." <u>Genes & Diseases</u> **5**(4): 304-311.

Fazzio, T. G., M. E. Gelbart and T. Tsukiyama (2005). "Two distinct mechanisms of chromatin interaction by the Isw2 chromatin remodeling complex in vivo." <u>Mol Cell</u> <u>Biol</u> **25**(21): 9165-9174.

Fazzio, T. G. and T. Tsukiyama (2003). "Chromatin remodeling in vivo: evidence for a nucleosome sliding mechanism." <u>Mol Cell</u> **12**(5): 1333-1340.

Felsenfeld, G. (2014). "A brief history of epigenetics." <u>Cold Spring Harb Perspect</u> <u>Biol</u> **6**(Korber P1, #526).

Fernandez-Capetillo, O., S. K. Mahadevaiah, A. Celeste, P. J. Romanienko, R. D. Camerini-Otero, W. M. Bonner, K. Manova, P. Burgoyne and A. Nussenzweig (2003). "H2AX is required for chromatin remodeling and inactivation of sex chromosomes in male mouse meiosis." <u>Dev Cell</u> **4**(4): 497-508.

Finch, J. T., L. C. Lutter, D. Rhodes, R. S. Brown, B. Rushton, M. Levitt and A. Klug (1977). "Structure of nucleosome core particles of chromatin." <u>Nature</u> **269**(5623): 29-36.

Flaus, A., D. M. Martin, G. J. Barton and T. Owen-Hughes (2006). "Identification of multiple distinct Snf2 subfamilies with conserved structural motifs." <u>Nucleic Acids</u> <u>Res</u> **34**(10): 2887-2905.

Franke, K., B. Drabent and D. Doenecke (1998). "Expression of murine H1 histone genes during postnatal development." <u>Biochim Biophys Acta</u> **1398**(3): 232-242.

Frey, A., T. Listovsky, G. Guilbaud, P. Sarkies and J. E. Sale (2014). "Histone H3.3 is required to maintain replication fork progression after UV damage." <u>Curr Biol</u> **24**(18): 2195-2201.

Fujiki, R., T. Chikanishi, W. Hashiba, R. G. Roeder, H. Kitagawa and S. Kato (2010). "Nuclear O-glycosylation of a histone methyltransferase facilitates RA-induced transcription and differentiation." Endocrine Journal **57**: S547-S547.

Galvani, A. and C. Thiriet (2015). "Nucleosome Dancing at the Tempo of Histone Tail Acetylation." <u>Genes</u> **6**(3): 607-621.

Garcia, B. A., C. E. Thomas, N. L. Kelleher and C. A. Mizzen (2008). "Tissue-specific expression and post-translational modification of histone H3 variants." <u>J Proteome</u> <u>Res</u> **7**(10): 4225-4236.

Garcia-Cao, M., R. O'Sullivan, A. H. Peters, T. Jenuwein and M. A. Blasco (2004). "Epigenetic regulation of telomere length in mammalian cells by the Suv39h1 and Suv39h2 histone methyltransferases." <u>Nat Genet</u> **36**(Korber P1, #526): 94-99.

Garcia-Dominguez, M. and J. C. Reyes (2009). "SUMO association with repressor complexes, emerging routes for transcriptional control." <u>Biochim Biophys</u> <u>Acta</u> **1789**(6-8): 451-459.

Geng, Y., S. Monajembashi, A. Shao, D. Cui, W. He, Z. Chen, P. Hemmerich and J. Tang (2012). "Contribution of the C-terminal regions of promyelocytic leukemia

protein (PML) isoforms II and V to PML nuclear body formation." <u>J Biol</u> <u>Chem</u> **287**(36): 30729-30742.

Gerard, A., S. Koundrioukoff, V. Ramillon, J. C. Sergere, N. Mailand, J. P. Quivy and G. Almouzni (2006). "The replication kinase Cdc7-Dbf4 promotes the interaction of the p150 subunit of chromatin assembly factor 1 with proliferating cell nuclear antigen." <u>EMBO Rep</u> **7**(8): 817-823.

Gevry, N., H. M. Chan, L. Laflamme, D. M. Livingston and L. Gaudreau (2007). "p21 transcription is regulated by differential localization of histone H2A.Z." <u>Genes</u> <u>Dev</u> **21**(15): 1869-1881.

Gonzalo, S., M. Garcia-Cao, M. F. Fraga, G. Schotta, A. H. Peters, S. E. Cotter, R. Eguia, D. C. Dean, M. Esteller, T. Jenuwein and M. A. Blasco (2005). "Role of the RB1 family in stabilizing histone methylation at constitutive heterochromatin." <u>Nat</u> <u>Cell Biol</u> **7**(4): 420-428.

Gonzalo, S., I. Jaco, M. F. Fraga, T. Chen, E. Li, M. Esteller and M. A. Blasco (2006). "DNA methyltransferases control telomere length and telomere recombination in mammalian cells." <u>Nat Cell Biol</u> **8**(4): 416-424.

Goodwin, L. R. and D. J. Picketts (2018). "The role of ISWI chromatin remodeling complexes in brain development and neurodevelopmental disorders." <u>Molecular and</u> <u>Cellular Neuroscience</u> **87**: 55-64.

Govin, J., E. Escoffier, S. Rousseaux, L. Kuhn, M. Ferro, J. Thevenon, R. Catena, I. Davidson, J. Garin, S. Khochbin and C. Caron (2007). "Pericentric heterochromatin reprogramming by new histone variants during mouse spermiogenesis." <u>J Cell</u> <u>Biol</u> **176**(3): 283-294.

Gowher, H. and A. Jeltsch (2018). "Mammalian DNA methyltransferases: new discoveries and open questions." <u>Biochem Soc Trans</u> **46**(5): 1191-1202.

Grewal, S. I. and S. Jia (2007). "Heterochromatin revisited." <u>Nat Rev Genet</u> 8(Korber P1, #526): 35-46.

Groth, A., D. Ray-Gallet, J. P. Quivy, J. Lukas, J. Bartek and G. Almouzni (2005). "Human Asf1 regulates the flow of S phase histones during replicational stress." <u>Mol</u> <u>Cell</u> **17**(2): 301-311.

Gutierrez, R. M. and L. S. Hnilica (1967). "Tissue specificity of histone phosphorylation." <u>Science</u> **157**(3794): 1324-1325.

Hake, S. B. and C. D. Allis (2006). "Histone H3 variants and their potential role in indexing mammalian genomes: The "H3 barcode hypothesis"." <u>Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America</u> **103**(17): 6428-6435.

Hamiche, A., R. Sandaltzopoulos, D. A. Gdula and C. Wu (1999). "ATP-dependent histone octamer sliding mediated by the chromatin remodeling complex NURF." <u>Cell</u> **97**(7): 833-842.

Hamiche, A. and M. Shuaib (2013). "Chaperoning the histone H3 family." <u>Biochim</u> <u>Biophys Acta</u> **1819**(3-4): 230-237.

Happel, N. and D. Doenecke (2009). "Histone H1 and its isoforms: Contribution to chromatin structure and function." <u>Gene **431**(1-2)</u>: 1-12.

Happel, N., E. Schulze and D. Doenecke (2005). "Characterisation of human histone H1x." <u>Biol Chem</u> **386**(6): 541-551.

Hashimoto, H., E. Sonoda, Y. Takami, H. Kimura, T. Nakayama, M. Tachibanaa, S. Takeda and Y. Shinkai (2007). "Histone H1 variant, H1R is involved in DNA damage response." <u>DNA Repair</u>6(11): 1584-1595.

Hassan, Y. I. and J. Zempleni (2008). "A novel, enigmatic histone modification: biotinylation of histones by holocarboxylase synthetase." <u>Nutr Rev</u> **66**(12): 721-725.

He, Y. F., B. Z. Li, Z. Li, P. Liu, Y. Wang, Q. Tang, J. Ding, Y. Jia, Z. Chen, L. Li, Y. Sun, X. Li, Q. Dai, C. X. Song, K. Zhang, C. He and G. L. Xu (2011). "Tet-mediated formation of 5-carboxylcytosine and its excision by TDG in mammalian DNA." Science **333**(6047): 1303-1307.

Heaphy, C. M. and A. K. Meeker (2011). "The potential utility of telomere-related markers for cancer diagnosis." <u>J Cell Mol Med</u> **15**(6): 1227-1238.

Hecht, A., T. Laroche, S. Strahl-Bolsinger, S. M. Gasser and M. Grunstein (1995). "Histone H3 and H4 N-termini interact with SIR3 and SIR4 proteins: a molecular model for the formation of heterochromatin in yeast." <u>Cell</u> **80**(4): 583-592.

Henikoff, S., E. McKittrick and K. Ahmad (2004). "Epigenetics, histone H3 variants, and the inheritance of chromatin states." <u>Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol</u> **69**: 235-243.

Heo, K., H. Kim, S. H. Choi, J. Choi, K. Kim, J. Gu, M. R. Lieber, A. S. Yang and W. An (2008). "FACT-mediated exchange of histone variant H2AX regulated by phosphorylation of H2AX and ADP-ribosylation of Spt16." <u>Mol Cell</u> **30**(Korber P1, #526): 86-97.

Hermann, A., H. Gowher and A. Jeltsch (2004). "Biochemistry and biology of mammalian DNA methyltransferases." <u>Cell Mol Life Sci</u> **61**(19-20): 2571-2587.

Heyn, H., S. Moran and M. Esteller (2013). "Aberrant DNA methylation profiles in the premature aging disorders Hutchinson-Gilford Progeria and Werner syndrome." <u>Epigenetics</u> **8**(Korber P1, #526): 28-33.

Hill, C. S. and J. O. Thomas (1990). "Core histone-DNA interactions in sea urchin sperm chromatin. The N-terminal tail of H2B interacts with linker DNA." <u>Eur J</u> <u>Biochem</u> **187**(Korber P1, #526): 145-153.

Hodl, M. and K. Basler (2009). "Transcription in the absence of histone H3.3." <u>Curr</u> <u>Biol</u> **19**(14): 1221-1226.

Hodl, M. and K. Basler (2012). "Transcription in the absence of histone H3.2 and H3K4 methylation." <u>Curr Biol</u> **22**(23): 2253-2257.

Hollenbach, A. D., J. E. Sublett, C. J. McPherson and G. Grosveld (1999). "The Pax3-FKHR oncoprotein is unresponsive to the Pax3-associated repressor hDaxx." <u>Embo Journal</u> **18**(13): 3702-3711.

Holstege, F. C. P. and H. T. M. Timmers (1997). "Analysis of open complex formation during RNA polymerase II transcription initiation using heteroduplex templates and potassium permanganate probing." <u>Methods-a Companion to Methods in</u> Enzymology **12**(3): 203-211.

Hsu, J. M., J. Huang, P. B. Meluh and B. C. Laurent (2003). "The yeast RSC chromatin-remodeling complex is required for kinetochore function in chromosome segregation." <u>Molecular and Cellular Biology</u> **23**(9): 3202-3215.

Huang, J., J. M. Hsu and B. C. Laurent (2004). "The RSC nucleosome-remodeling complex is required for Cohesin's association with chromosome arms." <u>Mol</u> <u>Cell</u> **13**(5): 739-750.

Huang, S. B., H. Zhou, D. Katzmann, M. Hochstrasser, E. Atanasova and Z. G. Zhang (2005). "Rtt106p is a histone chaperone involved in heterochromatin-mediated silencing." <u>Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America</u> **102**(38): 13410-13415.

Imbalzano, A. N., H. Kwon, M. R. Green and R. E. Kingston (1994). "Facilitated binding of TATA-binding protein to nucleosomal DNA." Nature **370**(6489): 481-485.

Ishibashi, T., A. Li, J. M. Eirin-Lopez, M. Zhao, K. Missiaen, D. W. Abbott, M. Meistrich, M. J. Hendzel and J. Ausio (2010). "H2A.Bbd: an X-chromosome-encoded histone involved in mammalian spermiogenesis." <u>Nucleic Acids Res</u> **38**(6): 1780-1789.

Ishimi, Y., M. Kojima, M. Yamada and F. Hanaoka (1987). "Binding mode of nucleosome-assembly protein (AP-I) and histones." <u>Eur J Biochem</u> **162**(Korber P1, #526): 19-24.

Ishov, A. M., A. G. Sotnikov, D. Negorev, O. V. Vladimirova, N. Neff, T. Kamitani, E. T. Yeh, J. F. Strauss, 3rd and G. G. Maul (1999). "PML is critical for ND10 formation and recruits the PML-interacting protein daxx to this nuclear structure when modified by SUMO-1." <u>J Cell Biol</u> **147**(2): 221-234.

Ito, S., A. C. D'Alessio, O. V. Taranova, K. Hong, L. C. Sowers and Y. Zhang (2010). "Role of Tet proteins in 5mC to 5hmC conversion, ES-cell self-renewal and inner cell mass specification." <u>Nature</u> **466**(7310): 1129-1133.

Ito, S., L. Shen, Q. Dai, S. C. Wu, L. B. Collins, J. A. Swenberg, C. He and Y. Zhang (2011). "Tet Proteins Can Convert 5-Methylcytosine to 5-Formylcytosine and 5-Carboxylcytosine." <u>Science</u>**333**(6047): 1300-1303.

Ivanauskiene, K., E. Delbarre, J. D. McGhie, T. Kuntziger, L. H. Wong and P. Collas (2014). "The PML-associated protein DEK regulates the balance of H3.3 loading on chromatin and is important for telomere integrity." <u>Genome Res</u> **24**(10): 1584-1594.

Izzo, A., K. Kamieniarz and R. Schneider (2008). "The histone H1 family: specific members, specific functions?" <u>Biol Chem</u> **389**(4): 333-343.

Jablonka, E. and M. J. Lamb (2002). "The changing concept of epigenetics." <u>Ann N Y</u> <u>Acad Sci</u> **981**: 82-96.

Jang, C. W., Y. Shibata, J. Starmer, D. Yee and T. Magnuson (2015). "Histone H3.3 maintains genome integrity during mammalian development." <u>Genes Dev</u> **29**(13): 1377-1392.

Jasencakova, Z. and A. Groth (2010). "Restoring chromatin after replication: how new and old histone marks come together." <u>Semin Cell Dev Biol</u> **21**(2): 231-237.

Jeltsch, A. (2006). "Molecular enzymology of mammalian DNA methyltransferases." <u>Curr Top Microbiol Immunol</u> **301**: 203-225.

Jeltsch, A. and H. Gowher (2019). "Editorial-Role of DNA Methyltransferases in the Epigenome." <u>Genes (Basel)</u> **10**(8).

Jeltsch, A. and R. Z. Jurkowska (2016). "Allosteric control of mammalian DNA methyltransferases - a new regulatory paradigm." <u>Nucleic Acids Res</u> **44**(18): 8556-8575.

Jenuwein, T. and C. D. Allis (2001). "Translating the histone code." <u>Science</u> **293**(5532): 1074-1080.

Jenuwein, T. and C. D. Allis (2001). "Translating the histone code." <u>Science</u> **293**(5532): 1074-1080.

Jin, C., C. Zang, G. Wei, K. Cui, W. Peng, K. Zhao and G. Felsenfeld (2009). "H3.3/H2A.Z double variant-containing nucleosomes mark 'nucleosome-free regions' of active promoters and other regulatory regions." <u>Nat Genet</u> **41**(8): 941-945.

Jin, C. Y. and G. Felsenfeld (2007). "Nucleosome stability mediated by histone variants H3.3 and H2A.Z." <u>Genes & Development</u> **21**(12): 1519-1529.

Jin, J., Y. Cai, T. Yao, A. J. Gottschalk, L. Florens, S. K. Swanson, J. L. Gutierrez, M. K. Coleman, J. L. Workman, A. Mushegian, M. P. Washburn, R. C. Conaway and J. W. Conaway (2005). "A mammalian chromatin remodeling complex with similarities to the yeast INO80 complex." J Biol Chem **280**(50): 41207-41212.

Johansen, K. M. and J. Johansen (2006). "Regulation of chromatin structure by histone H3S10 phosphorylation." <u>Chromosome Res</u> **14**(4): 393-404.

Kamakaka, R. T. and S. Biggins (2005). "Histone variants: deviants?" <u>Genes</u> <u>Dev</u> **19**(3): 295-310.

Kan, P. Y., X. Lu, J. C. Hansen and J. J. Hayes (2007). "The H3 tail domain participates in multiple interactions during folding and self-association of nucleosome arrays." <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> **27**(6): 2084-2091.

Kanemaki, M., Y. Makino, T. Yoshida, T. Kishimoto, A. Koga, K. Yamamoto, M. Yamamoto, V. Moncollin, J. M. Egly, M. Muramatsu and T. Tamura (1997). "Molecular cloning of a rat 49-kDa TBP-interacting protein (TIP49) that is highly homologous to the bacterial RuvB." <u>Biochemical and Biophysical Research</u> <u>Communications</u> **235**(Korber P1, #526): 64-68.

Karras, G. I., G. Kustatscher, H. R. Buhecha, M. D. Allen, C. Pugieux, F. Sait, M. Bycroft and A. G. Ladurner (2005). "The macro domain is an ADP-ribose binding module." <u>Embo Journal</u>**24**(11): 1911-1920.

Khuong-Quang, D. A., P. Buczkowicz, P. Rakopoulos, X. Y. Liu, A. M. Fontebasso, E. Bouffet, U. Bartels, S. Albrecht, J. Schwartzentruber, L. Letourneau, M. Bourgey, G. Bourque, A. Montpetit, G. Bourret, P. Lepage, A. Fleming, P. Lichter, M. Kool, A. von Deimling, D. Sturm, A. Korshunov, D. Faury, D. T. Jones, J. Majewski, S. M. Pfister, N. Jabado and C. Hawkins (2012). "K27M mutation in histone H3.3 defines clinically and biologically distinct subgroups of pediatric diffuse intrinsic pontine gliomas." <u>Acta Neuropathol</u> **124**(3): 439-447.

Klemm, S. L., Z. Shipony and W. J. Greenleaf (2019). "Chromatin accessibility and the regulatory epigenome." <u>Nat Rev Genet</u> **20**(4): 207-220.

Koch, C. M., R. M. Andrews, P. Flicek, S. C. Dillon, U. Karaoz, G. K. Clelland, S. Wilcox, D. M. Beare, J. C. Fowler, P. Couttet, K. D. James, G. C. Lefebvre, A. W. Bruce, O. M. Dovey, P. D. Ellis, P. Dhami, C. F. Langford, Z. P. Weng, E. Birney, N. P. Carter, D. Vetrie and I. Dunham (2007). "The landscape of histone modifications across 1% of the human genome in five human cell lines." <u>Genome Research</u> **17**(6): 691-707.

Koering, C. E., A. Pollice, M. P. Zibella, S. Bauwens, A. Puisieux, M. Brunori, C. Brun, L. Martins, L. Sabatier, J. F. Pulitzer and E. Gilson (2002). "Human telomeric position effect is determined by chromosomal context and telomeric chromatin integrity." <u>EMBO Rep</u> **3**(11): 1055-1061.

Korber P1, H. W. (2004). "SWRred not shaken; mixing the histones." <u>cell</u> **117**(Korber P1, #526): 5-7.

Kornberg, R. D. (1974). "Chromatin structure: a repeating unit of histones and DNA." <u>Science</u> **184**(4139): 868-871.

Kouzarides, T. (2007). "SnapShot: Histone-modifying enzymes." Cell 131(4): 822.

Krogan, N. J., M. C. Keogh, N. Datta, C. Sawa, O. W. Ryan, H. Ding, R. A. Haw, J. Pootoolal, A. Tong, V. Canadien, D. P. Richards, X. Wu, A. Emili, T. R. Hughes, S. Buratowski and J. F. Greenblatt (2003). "A Snf2 family ATPase complex required for recruitment of the histone H2A variant Htz1." <u>Mol Cell</u> **12**(6): 1565-1576.

Krude, T. (1995). "Chromatin assembly factor 1 (CAF-1) colocalizes with replication foci in HeLa cell nuclei." <u>Exp Cell Res</u> **220**(2): 304-311.

Krude, T. (1999). "Chromatin assembly during DNA replication in somatic cells." European Journal of Biochemistry **263**(Korber P1, #526): 1-5.

Kwon, H., A. N. Imbalzano, P. A. Khavari, R. E. Kingston and M. R. Green (1994). "Nucleosome disruption and enhancement of activator binding by a human SW1/SNF complex." <u>Nature</u>**370**(6489): 477-481.

Langan, T. A. (1968). "Histone phosphorylation: stimulation by adenosine 3',5'monophosphate." <u>Science</u> **162**(3853): 579-580.

Laskey, R. A., B. M. Honda, A. D. Mills and J. T. Finch (1978). "Nucleosomes Are Assembled by an Acidic Protein Which Binds Histones and Transfers Them to DNA." <u>Nature</u> **275**(5679): 416-420.

Law, J. A. and S. E. Jacobsen (2010). "Establishing, maintaining and modifying DNA methylation patterns in plants and animals." <u>Nat Rev Genet</u> **11**(3): 204-220.

Lee, D. Y., C. Teyssier, B. D. Strahl and M. R. Stallcup (2005). "Role of protein methylation in regulation of transcription." <u>Endocr Rev</u> **26**(2): 147-170.

Lee, J., H. S. Park, H. H. Kim, Y. J. Yun, D. R. Lee and S. Lee (2009). "Functional polymorphism in H2BFWT-5'UTR is associated with susceptibility to male infertility." <u>J Cell Mol Med</u> **13**(8B): 1942-1951.

Lewis, P. W., S. J. Elsaesser, K. M. Noh, S. C. Stadler and C. D. Allis (2010). "Daxx is an H3.3-specific histone chaperone and cooperates with ATRX in replication-independent chromatin assembly at telomeres." <u>Proceedings of the National</u> Academy of Sciences of the United States of America **107**(32): 14075-14080.

Li, G. and D. Reinberg (2011). "Chromatin higher-order structures and gene regulation." <u>Curr Opin Genet Dev</u> **21**(2): 175-186.

Li, H., C. Leo, J. Zhu, X. Wu, J. O'Neil, E. J. Park and J. D. Chen (2000). "Sequestration and inhibition of Daxx-mediated transcriptional repression by PML." Mol Cell Biol **20**(5): 1784-1796.

Lin, C. J., F. M. Koh, P. Wong, M. Conti and M. Ramalho-Santos (2014). "Hiramediated H3.3 incorporation is required for DNA replication and ribosomal RNA transcription in the mouse zygote." <u>Dev Cell</u> **30**(3): 268-279.

Lin, D. Y., Y. S. Huang, J. C. Jeng, H. Y. Kuo, C. C. Chang, T. T. Chao, C. C. Ho, Y. C. Chen, T. P. Lin, H. I. Fang, C. C. Hung, C. S. Suen, M. J. Hwang, K. S. Chang, G. G. Maul and H. M. Shih (2006). "Role of SUMO-interacting motif in Daxx SUMO modification, subnuclear localization, and repression of sumoylated transcription factors." <u>Mol Cell</u> **24**(3): 341-354.

Ling, X., T. A. Harkness, M. C. Schultz, G. Fisher-Adams and M. Grunstein (1996). "Yeast histone H3 and H4 amino termini are important for nucleosome assembly in vivo and in vitro: redundant and position-independent functions in assembly but not in gene regulation." <u>Genes Dev</u> **10**(6): 686-699.

Liokatis, S., A. Stutzer, S. J. Elsasser, F. X. Theillet, R. Klingberg, B. van Rossum, D. Schwarzer, C. D. Allis, W. Fischle and P. Selenko (2012). "Phosphorylation of histone H3 Ser10 establishes a hierarchy for subsequent intramolecular modification events." <u>Nat Struct Mol Biol</u> **19**(8): 819-823.

Lo, W. S., L. Duggan, N. C. Emre, R. Belotserkovskya, W. S. Lane, R. Shiekhattar and S. L. Berger (2001). "Snf1--a histone kinase that works in concert with the histone acetyltransferase Gcn5 to regulate transcription." <u>Science</u> **293**(5532): 1142-1146.

Lomvardas, S. and D. Thanos (2001). "Nucleosome sliding via TBP DNA binding in vivo." <u>Cell</u> **106**(6): 685-696.

Loomis, R. J., Y. Naoe, J. B. Parker, V. Savic, M. R. Bozovsky, T. Macfarlan, J. L. Manley and D. Chakravarti (2009). "Chromatin binding of SRp20 and ASF/SF2 and dissociation from mitotic chromosomes is modulated by histone H3 serine 10 phosphorylation." Mol Cell **33**(4): 450-461.

Loppin, B., E. Bonnefoy, C. Anselme, A. Laurencon, T. L. Karr and P. Couble (2005). "The histone H3.3 chaperone HIRA is essential for chromatin assembly in the male pronucleus." <u>Nature</u>**437**(7063): 1386-1390.

Lorain, S., J. P. Quivy, F. Monier-Gavelle, C. Scamps, Y. Lecluse, G. Almouzni and M. Lipinski (1998). "Core histones and HIRIP3, a novel histone-binding protein, directly interact with WD repeat protein HIRA." <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> **18**(9): 5546-5556.

Lorain, S., J. P. Quivy, F. Monier-Gavelle, C. Scamps, Y. Lecluse, G. Almouzni and M. Lipinski (1998). "Core histones and HIRIP3, a novel histone-binding protein, directly interact with WD repeat protein HIRA." <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> **18**(9): 5546-5556.

Luger, K., A. W. Mader, R. K. Richmond, D. F. Sargent and T. J. Richmond (1997). "Crystal structure of the nucleosome core particle at 2.8 A resolution." <u>Nature</u> **389**(6648): 251-260.

Luger, K., T. J. Rechsteiner, A. J. Flaus, M. M. Y. Waye and T. J. Richmond (1997). "Characterization of nucleosome core particles containing histone proteins made in bacteria." Journal of Molecular Biology **272**(3): 301-311.

Luk, E., N. D. Vu, K. Patteson, G. Mizuguchi, W. H. Wu, A. Ranjan, J. Backus, S. Sen, M. Lewis, Y. Bai and C. Wu (2007). "Chz1, a nuclear chaperone for histone H2AZ." <u>Mol Cell</u> **25**(3): 357-368.

Maeshima, K., S. Hihara and M. Eltsov (2010). "Chromatin structure: does the 30-nm fibre exist in vivo?" <u>Current Opinion in Cell Biology</u> **22**(3): 291-297.

Mahadevaiah, S. K., J. M. Turner, F. Baudat, E. P. Rogakou, P. de Boer, J. Blanco-Rodriguez, M. Jasin, S. Keeney, W. M. Bonner and P. S. Burgoyne (2001). "Recombinational DNA double-strand breaks in mice precede synapsis." <u>Nat</u> <u>Genet</u> **27**(3): 271-276.

Maiti, A. and A. C. Drohat (2011). "Thymine DNA Glycosylase Can Rapidly Excise 5-Formylcytosine and 5-Carboxylcytosine POTENTIAL IMPLICATIONS FOR ACTIVE DEMETHYLATION OF CpG SITES." <u>Journal of Biological Chemistry</u> **286**(41): 35334-35338.

Malik, H. S. and S. Henikoff (2003). "Phylogenomics of the nucleosome." <u>Nat Struct</u> <u>Biol</u> **10**(11): 882-891.

Mansour, A. A., O. Gafni, L. Weinberger, A. Zviran, M. Ayyash, Y. Rais, V. Krupalnik, M. Zerbib, D. Amann-Zalcenstein, I. Maza, S. Geula, S. Viukov, L. Holtzman, A. Pribluda, E. Canaani, S. Horn-Saban, I. Amit, N. Novershtern and J. H. Hanna (2012). "The H3K27 demethylase Utx regulates somatic and germ cell epigenetic reprogramming." <u>Nature</u> **488**(7411): 409-413.

Margueron, R., P. Trojer and D. Reinberg (2005). "The key to development: interpreting the histone code?" <u>Curr Opin Genet Dev</u> **15**(2): 163-176.

Marheineke, K. and T. Krude (1998). "Nucleosome assembly activity and intracellular localization of human CAF-1 changes during the cell division cycle." <u>J Biol</u> <u>Chem</u> **273**(24): 15279-15286.

Marmorstein, R. and S. L. Berger (2001). "Structure and function of bromodomains in chromatin-regulating complexes." <u>Gene</u> **272**(1-2): 1-9.

Marzluff, W. F. and R. J. Duronio (2002). "Histone mRNA expression: multiple levels of cell cycle regulation and important developmental consequences." <u>Curr Opin Cell</u> <u>Biol</u> **14**(6): 692-699.
Mazurkiewicz, J., J. F. Kepert and K. Rippe (2006). "On the mechanism of nucleosome assembly by histone chaperone NAP1." <u>J Biol Chem</u> **281**(24): 16462-16472.

McBryant, S. J., Y. J. Park, S. M. Abernathy, P. J. Laybourn, J. K. Nyborg and K. Luger (2003). "Preferential binding of the histone (H3-H4)(2) tetramer by NAP1 is mediated by the amino-terminal histone tails." <u>Journal of Biological</u> Chemistry **278**(45): 44574-44583.

McEachern, M. J., A. Krauskopf and E. H. Blackburn (2000). "Telomeres and their control." <u>Annual Review of Genetics</u> **34**: 331-358.

McKittrick, E., P. R. Gaften, K. Ahmad and S. Henikoff (2004). "Histone H3.3 is enriched in covalent modifications associated with active chromatin." <u>Proceedings of</u> <u>the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America</u> **101**(6): 1525-1530.

Meergans, T., W. Albig and D. Doenecke (1997). "Varied expression patterns of human H1 histone genes in different cell lines." <u>DNA Cell Biol</u> **16**(9): 1041-1049.

Meneghini, M. D., M. Wu and H. D. Madhani (2003). "Conserved histone variant H2A.Z protects euchromatin from the ectopic spread of silent heterochromatin." <u>Cell</u> **112**(5): 725-736.

Messerschmidt, D. M. (2012). "Should I stay or should I go Protection and maintenance of DNA methylation at imprinted genes." <u>Epigenetics</u> **7**(9): 969-975.

Mizuguchi, G., X. Shen, J. Landry, W. H. Wu, S. Sen and C. Wu (2004). "ATP-driven exchange of histone H2AZ variant catalyzed by SWR1 chromatin remodeling complex." <u>Science</u> **303**(5656): 343-348.

Mizzen, C. A., X. J. Yang, T. Kokubo, J. E. Brownell, A. J. Bannister, T. Owen-Hughes, J. Workman, L. Wang, S. L. Berger, T. Kouzarides, Y. Nakatani and C. D. Allis (1996). "The TAF(II)250 subunit of TFIID has histone acetyltransferase activity." <u>Cell</u> **87**(7): 1261-1270.

Moggs, J. G., P. Grandi, J. P. Quivy, Z. O. Jonsson, U. Hubscher, P. B. Becker and G. Almouzni (2000). "A CAF-1-PCNA-mediated chromatin assembly pathway triggered by sensing DNA damage." <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> **20**(4): 1206-1218.

Mori, T., Y. Anazawa, M. Iiizumi, S. Fukuda, Y. Nakamura and H. Arakawa (2002). "Identification of the interferon regulatory factor 5 gene (IRF-5) as a direct target for p53." <u>Oncogene</u> **21**(18): 2914-2918.

Morillon, A., N. Karabetsou, A. Nair and J. Mellor (2005). "Dynamic lysine methylation on histone H3 defines the regulatory phase of gene transcription." <u>Mol Cell</u> **18**(6): 723-734.

Morillon, A., N. Karabetsou, J. O'Sullivan, N. Kent, N. Proudfoot and J. Mellor (2003). "Isw1 chromatin remodeling ATPase coordinates transcription elongation and termination by RNA polymerase II." <u>Cell</u> **115**(4): 425-435.

Morozov, V. M., E. V. Gavrilova, V. V. Ogryzko and A. M. Ishov (2012). "Dualistic function of Daxx at centromeric and pericentromeric heterochromatin in normal and stress conditions." <u>Nucleus</u> **3**(3): 276-285.

Mosammaparast, N., C. S. Ewart and L. F. Pemberton (2002). "A role for nucleosome assembly protein 1 in the nuclear transport of histones H2A and H2B." <u>EMBO J</u> **21**(23): 6527-6538.

Negorev, D. and G. G. Maul (2001). "Cellular proteins localized at and interacting within ND10/PML nuclear bodies/PODs suggest functions of a nuclear depot." <u>Oncogene</u> **20**(49): 7234-7242.

Nickel, B. E. and J. R. Davie (1989). "Structure of polyubiquitinated histone H2A." <u>Biochemistry</u> **28**(3): 964-968.

Niikura, Y., R. Kitagawa and K. Kitagawa (2017). "CENP-A Ubiquitylation Is Required for CENP-A Deposition at the Centromere." <u>Developmental Cell</u> **40**(Korber P1, #526): 7-8.

Nishibuchi, G. and J. Nakayama (2014). "Biochemical and structural properties of heterochromatin protein 1: understanding its role in chromatin assembly." <u>J</u> <u>Biochem</u> **156**(Korber P1, #526): 11-20.

Nishioka, K., S. Chuikov, K. Sarma, H. Erdjument-Bromage, C. D. Allis, P. Tempst and D. Reinberg (2002). "Set9, a novel histone H3 methyltransferase that facilitates transcription by precluding histone tail modifications required for heterochromatin formation." <u>Genes & Development</u> **16**(4): 479-489.

Noma, K., C. D. Allis and S. I. S. Grewal (2001). "Transitions in distinct histone H3 methylation patterns at the heterochromatin domain boundaries." <u>Science</u> **293**(5532): 1150-1155.

Oberg, C., A. Izzo, R. Schneider, O. Wrange and S. Belikov (2012). "Linker Histone Subtypes Differ in Their Effect on Nucleosomal Spacing In Vivo." <u>Journal of Molecular Biology</u> **419**(3-4): 183-197.

Ohno, M., D. G. Priest and Y. Taniguchi (2018). "Nucleosome-level 3D organization of the genome." <u>Biochem Soc Trans</u> **46**(3): 491-501.

Olins, A. L. and D. E. Olins (1979). "Stereo electron microscopy of the 25-nm chromatin fibers in isolated nuclei." <u>J Cell Biol</u> **81**(Korber P1, #526): 260-265.

Ors, A., C. Papin, B. Favier, Y. Roulland, D. Dalkara, M. Ozturk, A. Hamiche, S. Dimitrov and K. Padmanabhan (2017). "Histone H3.3 regulates mitotic progression in mouse embryonic fibroblasts." <u>Biochem Cell Biol</u> **95**(4): 491-499.

Ouararhni, K., R. Hadj-Slimane, S. Ait-Si-Ali, P. Robin, F. Mietton, A. Harel-Bellan, S. Dimitrov and A. Hamiche (2006). "The histone variant mH2A1.1 interferes with transcription by down-regulating PARP-1 enzymatic activity." <u>Genes Dev</u> **20**(23): 3324-3336.

Oudet, P., M. Grossbellard and P. Chambon (1975). "Electron-Microscopic and Biochemical Evidence That Chromatin Structure Is a Repeating Unit." <u>Cell</u> **4**(4): 281-300.

Palmer, D. K., K. O'Day and R. L. Margolis (1990). "The centromere specific histone CENP-A is selectively retained in discrete foci in mammalian sperm nuclei." <u>Chromosoma</u> **100**(Korber P1, #526): 32-36.

Papoulas, O., S. J. Beek, S. L. Moseley, C. M. McCallum, M. Sarte, A. Shearn and J. W. Tamkun (1998). "The Drosophila trithorax group proteins BRM, ASH1 and ASH2 are subunits of distinct protein complexes." <u>Development</u> **125**(20): 3955-3966.

Pehrson, J. R. and V. A. Fried (1992). "MacroH2A, a core histone containing a large nonhistone region." <u>Science</u> **257**(5075): 1398-1400.

Petryk, N., M. Dalby, A. Wenger, C. B. Stromme, A. Strandsby, R. Andersson and A. Groth (2018). "MCM2 promotes symmetric inheritance of modified histones during DNA replication." <u>Science</u> **361**(6409): 1389-1392.

Pham, A. D. and F. Sauer (2000). "Ubiquitin-activating/conjugating activity of TAFII250, a mediator of activation of gene expression in Drosophila." <u>Science</u> **289**(5488): 2357-2360.

Piazzesi, A., D. Papic, F. Bertan, P. Salomoni, P. Nicotera and D. Bano (2016). "Replication-Independent Histone Variant H3.3 Controls Animal Lifespan through the Regulation of Pro-longevity Transcriptional Programs." <u>Cell Reports</u> **17**(4): 987-996.

Poot, R. A., L. Bozhenok, D. L. C. van den Berg, N. Hawkes and P. D. Varga-Weisz (2005). "Chromatin remodeling by WSTF-ISWI at the replication site - Opening a window of opportunity for epigenetic inheritance?" <u>Cell Cycle</u> **4**(4): 543-546.

Postberg, J., S. Forcob, W. J. Chang and H. J. Lipps (2010). "The evolutionary history of histone H3 suggests a deep eukaryotic root of chromatin modifying mechanisms." <u>BMC Evol Biol</u> **10**: 259.

Prigent, C. and S. Dimitrov (2003). "Phosphorylation of serine 10 in histone H3, what for?" Journal of Cell Science **116**(18): 3677-3685.

Probst, A. V., E. Dunleavy and G. Almouzni (2009). "Epigenetic inheritance during the cell cycle." <u>Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol</u> **10**(3): 192-206.

Rai, T. S. and P. D. Adams (2012). "Lessons from senescence: Chromatin maintenance in non-proliferating cells." <u>Biochim Biophys Acta</u> **1819**(3-4): 322-331.

Ramakrishnan, V., J. T. Finch, V. Graziano, P. L. Lee and R. M. Sweet (1993). "Crystal structure of globular domain of histone H5 and its implications for nucleosome binding." <u>Nature</u>**362**(6417): 219-223.

Rasmussen, T. P., T. Huang, M. A. Mastrangelo, J. Loring, B. Panning and R. Jaenisch (1999). "Messenger RNAs encoding mouse histone macroH2A1 isoforms are expressed at similar levels in male and female cells and result from alternative splicing." <u>Nucleic Acids Res</u> **27**(18): 3685-3689.

Ray-Gallet, D., J. P. Quivy, C. Scamps, E. M. D. Martini, M. Lipinski and G. Almouzni (2002). "HIRA is critical for a nucleosome assembly pathway independent of DNA synthesis." <u>Molecular Cell</u> **9**(5): 1091-1100.

Reinke, H. and W. Horz (2003). "Histones are first hyperacetylated and then lose contact with the activated PHO5 promoter." <u>Mol Cell</u> **11**(6): 1599-1607.

Richmond, T. J., J. T. Finch, B. Rushton, D. Rhodes and A. Klug (1984). "Structure of the nucleosome core particle at 7 A resolution." <u>Nature</u> **311**(5986): 532-537.

Ricketts, M. D., B. Frederick, H. Hoff, Y. Tang, D. C. Schultz, T. Singh Rai, M. Grazia Vizioli, P. D. Adams and R. Marmorstein (2015). "Ubinuclein-1 confers histone H3.3-specific-binding by the HIRA histone chaperone complex." <u>Nat Commun</u> **6**: 7711.

Ridgway, P., K. D. Brown, D. Rangasamy, U. Svensson and D. J. Tremethick (2004). "Unique residues on the H2A.Z containing nucleosome surface are important for Xenopus laevis development." <u>J Biol Chem</u> **279**(42): 43815-43820.

Robzyk, K., J. Recht and M. A. Osley (2000). "Rad6-dependent ubiquitination of histone H2B in yeast." <u>Science</u> **287**(5452): 501-504.

Rodriguez-Paredes, M. and M. Esteller (2011). "Cancer epigenetics reaches mainstream oncology." <u>Nat Med</u> **17**(3): 330-339.

Rogakou, E. P., W. Nieves-Neira, C. Boon, Y. Pommier and W. M. Bonner (2000). "Initiation of DNA fragmentation during apoptosis induces phosphorylation of H2AX histone at serine 139." <u>Journal of Biological Chemistry</u> **275**(13): 9390-9395.

Rogakou, E. P., D. R. Pilch, A. H. Orr, V. S. Ivanova and W. M. Bonner (1998). "DNA double-stranded breaks induce histone H2AX phosphorylation on serine 139." <u>J Biol</u> <u>Chem</u> **273**(10): 5858-5868.

Rollins, R. A., F. Haghighi, J. R. Edwards, R. Das, M. Q. Zhang, J. Ju and T. H. Bestor (2006). "Large-scale structure of genomic methylation patterns." <u>Genome</u> <u>Res</u> **16**(2): 157-163.

Rosa-Garrido, M., D. J. Chapski and T. M. Vondriska (2018). "Epigenomes in Cardiovascular Disease." <u>Circ Res</u> **122**(11): 1586-1607.

Rowe, H. M., M. Friedli, S. Offner, S. Verp, D. Mesnard, J. Marquis, T. Aktas and D. Trono (2013). "De novo DNA methylation of endogenous retroviruses is shaped by KRAB-ZFPs/KAP1 and ESET." <u>Development</u> **140**(3): 519-529.

Rowe, H. M., J. Jakobsson, D. Mesnard, J. Rougemont, S. Reynard, T. Aktas, P. V. Maillard, H. Layard-Liesching, S. Verp, J. Marquis, F. Spitz, D. B. Constam and D. Trono (2010). "KAP1 controls endogenous retroviruses in embryonic stem cells." <u>Nature</u> **463**(7278): 237-240.

Ruhl, D. D., J. Jin, Y. Cai, S. Swanson, L. Florens, M. P. Washburn, R. C. Conaway, J. W. Conaway and J. C. Chrivia (2006). "Purification of a human SRCAP complex that remodels chromatin by incorporating the histone variant H2A.Z into nucleosomes." <u>Biochemistry</u> **45**(17): 5671-5677.

Sakai, A., B. E. Schwartz, S. Goldstein and K. Ahmad (2009). "Transcriptional and Developmental Functions of the H3.3 Histone Variant in Drosophila." <u>Current</u> <u>Biology</u> **19**(21): 1816-1820.

Sandman, K. and J. N. Reeve (1998). "Origin of the eukaryotic nucleus." <u>Science</u> **280**(5363): 501, 503.

Sandoval, J. and M. Esteller (2012). "Cancer epigenomics: beyond genomics." <u>Curr</u> <u>Opin Genet Dev</u> **22**(Korber P1, #526): 50-55.

Santisteban, M. S., T. Kalashnikova and M. M. Smith (2000). "Histone H2A.Z regulats transcription and is partially redundant with nucleosome remodeling complexes." <u>Cell</u> **103**(3): 411-422.

Sarma, K. and D. Reinberg (2005). "Histone variants meet their match." <u>Nature</u> <u>Reviews Molecular Cell Biology</u> **6**(2): 139-149.

Sassone-Corsi, P., C. A. Mizzen, P. Cheung, C. Crosio, L. Monaco, S. Jacquot, A. Hanauer and C. D. Allis (1999). "Requirement of Rsk-2 for epidermal growth factor-activated phosphorylation of histone H3." <u>Science</u> **285**(5429): 886-891.

Schalch, T., S. Duda, D. F. Sargent and T. J. Richmond (2005). "X-ray structure of a tetranucleosome and its implications for the chromatin fibre." <u>Nature</u> **436**(7047): 138-141.

Schenk, R., A. Jenke, M. Zilbauer, S. Wirth and J. Postberg (2011). "H3.5 is a novel hominid-specific histone H3 variant that is specifically expressed in the seminiferous tubules of human testes." <u>Chromosoma</u> **120**(3): 275-285.

Schoeftner, S. and M. A. Blasco (2008). "Developmentally regulated transcription of mammalian telomeres by DNA-dependent RNA polymerase II." <u>Nat Cell Biol</u> **10**(2): 228-236.

Schubeler, D., C. Francastel, D. M. Cimbora, A. Reik, D. I. Martin and M. Groudine (2000). "Nuclear localization and histone acetylation: a pathway for chromatin opening and transcriptional activation of the human beta-globin locus." <u>Genes</u> <u>Dev</u> **14**(8): 940-950.

Schurter, B. T., S. S. Koh, D. Chen, G. J. Bunick, J. M. Harp, B. L. Hanson, A. Henschen-Edman, D. R. Mackay, M. R. Stallcup and D. W. Aswad (2001). "Methylation of histone H3 by coactivator-associated arginine methyltransferase 1." Biochemistry **40**(19): 5747-5756.

Schwartz, B. E. and K. Ahmad (2005). "Transcriptional activation triggers deposition and removal of the histone variant H3.3." <u>Genes Dev</u> **19**(7): 804-814.

Schwartzentruber, J., A. Korshunov, X. Y. Liu, D. T. Jones, E. Pfaff, K. Jacob, D.
Sturm, A. M. Fontebasso, D. A. Quang, M. Tonjes, V. Hovestadt, S. Albrecht, M.
Kool, A. Nantel, C. Konermann, A. Lindroth, N. Jager, T. Rausch, M. Ryzhova, J. O.
Korbel, T. Hielscher, P. Hauser, M. Garami, A. Klekner, L. Bognar, M. Ebinger, M. U.
Schuhmann, W. Scheurlen, A. Pekrun, M. C. Fruhwald, W. Roggendorf, C. Kramm,
M. Durken, J. Atkinson, P. Lepage, A. Montpetit, M. Zakrzewska, K. Zakrzewski, P.
P. Liberski, Z. Dong, P. Siegel, A. E. Kulozik, M. Zapatka, A. Guha, D. Malkin, J.
Felsberg, G. Reifenberger, A. von Deimling, K. Ichimura, V. P. Collins, H. Witt, T.
Milde, O. Witt, C. Zhang, P. Castelo-Branco, P. Lichter, D. Faury, U. Tabori, C. Plass,
J. Majewski, S. M. Pfister and N. Jabado (2012). "Driver mutations in histone H3.3 and chromatin remodelling genes in paediatric glioblastoma." <u>Nature</u> 482(7384): 226-231.

Shain, A. H., C. P. Giacomini, K. Matsukuma, C. A. Karikari, M. D. Bashyam, M. Hidalgo, A. Maitra and J. R. Pollack (2012). "Convergent structural alterations define SWItch/Sucrose NonFermentable (SWI/SNF) chromatin remodeler as a central tumor suppressive complex in pancreatic cancer." <u>Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America</u> **109**(5): E252-E259.

Shen, X., G. Mizuguchi, A. Hamiche and C. Wu (2000). "A chromatin remodelling complex involved in transcription and DNA processing." <u>Nature</u> **406**(6795): 541-544.

Shi, L., H. Wen and X. Shi (2017). "The Histone Variant H3.3 in Transcriptional Regulation and Human Disease." <u>J Mol Biol</u> **429**(13): 1934-1945.

Shibahara, K. and B. Stillman (1999). "Replication-dependent marking of DNA by PCNA facilitates CAF-1-coupled inheritance of chromatin." <u>Cell</u> **96**(4): 575-585.

Shuaib, M., K. Ouararhni, S. Dimitrov and A. Hamiche (2010). "HJURP binds CENP-A via a highly conserved N-terminal domain and mediates its deposition at centromeres." <u>Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States</u> <u>of America</u> **107**(4): 1349-1354.

Sims, R. J., 3rd, K. Nishioka and D. Reinberg (2003). "Histone lysine methylation: a signature for chromatin function." <u>Trends Genet</u> **19**(11): 629-639.

Singleton, S., O. Mudrak, M. Morshedi, S. Oehninger, I. Zalenskaya and A. Zalensky (2007). "Characterisation of a human sperm cell subpopulation marked by the presence of the TSH2B histone." <u>Reprod Fertil Dev</u> **19**(2): 392-397.

Sirotkin, A. M., W. Edelmann, G. H. Cheng, A. Kleinszanto, R. Kucherlapati and A. I. Skoultchi (1995). "Mice Develop Normally without the H1(0) Linker Histone." Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of <u>America</u> **92**(14): 6434-6438.

Smith, M. M. (2002). "Centromeres and variant histones: what, where, when and why?" <u>Current Opinion in Cell Biology</u> **14**(3): 279-285.

Smith, S. and B. Stillman (1989). "Purification and characterization of CAF-I, a human cell factor required for chromatin assembly during DNA replication in vitro." <u>Cell</u> **58**(Korber P1, #526): 15-25.

Sobel, R. E., R. G. Cook, C. A. Perry, A. T. Annunziato and C. D. Allis (1995). "Conservation of deposition-related acetylation sites in newly synthesized histones H3 and H4." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **92**(4): 1237-1241.

Song, J. J. and Y. J. Lee (2004). "Daxx deletion mutant (amino acids 501-625)induced apoptosis occurs through the JNK/p38-Bax-dependent mitochondrial pathway." <u>Journal of Cellular Biochemistry</u> **92**(6): 1257-1270.

Strahl, B. D. and C. D. Allis (2000). "The language of covalent histone modifications." <u>Nature</u> **403**(6765): 41-45.

Strohner, R., A. Nemeth, P. Jansa, U. Hofmann-Rohrer, R. Santoro, G. Langst and I. Grummt (2001). "NoRC--a novel member of mammalian ISWI-containing chromatin remodeling machines." <u>EMBO J</u> **20**(17): 4892-4900.

Sudarsanam, P. and F. Winston (2000). "The Swi/Snf family nucleosome-remodeling complexes and transcriptional control." <u>Trends Genet</u> **16**(8): 345-351.

Sullivan, K. D., M. Steiniger and W. F. Marzluff (2009). "A Core Complex of CPSF73, CPSF100, and Symplekin May Form Two Different Cleavage Factors for Processing of Poly(A) and Histone mRNAs." <u>Molecular Cell</u> **34**(3): 322-332.

Szenker, E., N. Lacoste and G. Almouzni (2012). "A Developmental Requirement for HIRA-Dependent H3.3 Deposition Revealed at Gastrulation in Xenopus." <u>Cell</u> <u>Reports</u> **1**(6): 730-740.

Tachiwana, H., W. Kagawa, A. Osakabe, K. Kawaguchi, T. Shiga, Y. Hayashi-Takanaka, H. Kimura and H. Kurumizaka (2010). "Structural basis of instability of the nucleosome containing a testis-specific histone variant, human H3T." <u>Proc Natl Acad</u> <u>Sci U S A</u> **107**(23): 10454-10459.

Tachiwana, H., A. Osakabe, T. Shiga, Y. Miya, H. Kimura, W. Kagawa and H. Kurumizaka (2011). "Structures of human nucleosomes containing major histone H3 variants." <u>Acta Crystallographica Section D-Biological Crystallography</u> **67**: 578-583.

Tagami, H., D. Ray-Gallet, G. Almouzni and Y. Nakatani (2004). "Histone H3.1 and H3.3 complexes mediate nucleosome assembly pathways dependent or independent of DNA synthesis." <u>Cell</u>**116**(Korber P1, #526): 51-61.

Talbert, P. B. and S. Henikoff (2010). "Histone variants - ancient wrap artists of the epigenome." Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology **11**(4): 264-275.

Tang, J., L. K. Qu, J. Zhang, W. Wang, J. S. Michaelson, Y. Y. Degenhardt, W. S. El-Deiry and X. O. Yang (2006). "Critical role for Daxx in regulating Mdm2." <u>Nature Cell</u> <u>Biology</u> **8**(8): 855-U115.

Tang, M. C. W., S. A. Jacobs, D. M. Mattiske, Y. M. Soh, A. N. Graham, A. Tran, S. L. Lim, D. F. Hudson, P. Kalitsis, M. K. O'Bryan, L. H. Wong and J. R. Mann (2015). "Contribution of the Two Genes Encoding Histone Variant H3.3 to Viability and Fertility in Mice." <u>Plos Genetics</u> **11**(2).

Taverna SD, L. H., Ruthenburg AJ, Allis CD, Patel DJ. (2007). "How chromatinbinding modules interpret histone modifications: lessons from professional pocket pickers." <u>Nat Struct Mol Biol</u>**11**: 1025-1040.

Teperek-Tkacz, M., M. Meglicki, M. Pasternak, J. Z. Kubiak and E. Borsuk (2010). "Phosphorylation of histone H3 serine 10 in early mouse embryos Active phosphorylation at late S phase and differential effects of ZM447439 on first two embryonic mitoses." Cell Cycle **9**(23): 4674-4687.

Terranova, R., S. Sauer, M. Merkenschlager and A. G. Fisher (2005). "The reorganisation of constitutive heterochromatin in differentiating muscle requires HDAC activity." <u>Exp Cell Res</u> **310**(2): 344-356.

Th'ng, J. P. H., R. Sung, M. Ye and M. J. Hendzel (2005). "H1 family histones in the nucleus - Control of binding and localization by the C-terminal domain." <u>Journal of Biological Chemistry</u>**280**(30): 27809-27814.

Thiriet, C. and J. J. Hayes (2005). "Chromatin in need of a fix: phosphorylation of H2AX connects chromatin to DNA repair." <u>Mol Cell</u> **18**(6): 617-622.

Thompson, J. S., X. Ling and M. Grunstein (1994). "Histone H3 amino terminus is required for telomeric and silent mating locus repression in yeast." <u>Nature</u> **369**(6477): 245-247.

Tolstorukov, M. Y., J. A. Goldman, C. Gilbert, V. Ogryzko, R. E. Kingston and P. J. Park (2012). "Histone Variant H2A.Bbd Is Associated with Active Transcription and mRNA Processing in Human Cells." <u>Molecular Cell</u> **47**(4): 596-607.

Torres-Padilla, M. E., A. J. Bannister, P. J. Hurd, T. Kouzarides and M. Zernicka-Goetz (2006). "Dynamic distribution of the replacement histone variant H3.3 in the mouse oocyte and preimplantation embryos." <u>Int J Dev Biol</u> **50**(5): 455-461.

Truss, M., J. Bartsch, A. Schelbert, R. J. Hache and M. Beato (1995). "Hormone induces binding of receptors and transcription factors to a rearranged nucleosome on the MMTV promoter in vivo." <u>EMBO J</u> **14**(8): 1737-1751.

Tsukiyama, T., C. Daniel, J. Tamkun and C. Wu (1995). "ISWI, a member of the SWI2/SNF2 ATPase family, encodes the 140 kDa subunit of the nucleosome remodeling factor." <u>Cell</u> **83**(6): 1021-1026.

Tsukiyama, T. and C. Wu (1995). "Purification and properties of an ATP-dependent nucleosome remodeling factor." <u>Cell</u> **83**(6): 1011-1020.

Tumpel, S. and K. L. Rudolph (2012). "The role of telomere shortening in somatic stem cells and tissue aging: lessons from telomerase model systems." <u>Ann N Y Acad</u> <u>Sci</u> **1266**: 28-39.

Tyler, J. K., C. R. Adams, S. R. Chen, R. Kobayashi, R. T. Kamakaka and J. T. Kadonaga (1999). "The RCAF complex mediates chromatin assembly during DNA replication and repair." <u>Nature</u>**402**(6761): 555-560.

Tyler, J. K., K. A. Collins, J. Prasad-Sinha, E. Amiott, M. Bulger, P. J. Harte, R. Kobayashi and J. T. Kadonaga (2001). "Interaction between the Drosophila CAF-1 and ASF1 chromatin assembly factors." <u>Molecular and Cellular Biology</u> **21**(19): 6574-6584.

Udugama, M., M. C. FT, F. L. Chan, M. C. Tang, H. A. Pickett, R. M. JD, L. Mayne, P. Collas, J. R. Mann and L. H. Wong (2015). "Histone variant H3.3 provides the heterochromatic H3 lysine 9 tri-methylation mark at telomeres." <u>Nucleic Acids</u> <u>Res</u> **43**(21): 10227-10237.

Ura, K., M. Araki, H. Saeki, C. Masutani, T. Ito, S. Iwai, T. Mizukoshi, Y. Kaneda and F. Hanaoka (2001). "ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling facilitates nucleotide excision repair of UV-induced DNA lesions in synthetic dinucleosomes." <u>EMBO</u> J 20(8): 2004-2014.

Vafa, O., R. D. Shelby and K. F. Sullivan (1999). "CENP-A associated complex satellite DNA in the kinetochore of the Indian muntjac." <u>Chromosoma</u> **108**(6): 367-374.

Van Attikum, H., O. Fritsch, B. Hohn and S. M. Gasser (2004). "Recruitment of the INO80 complex by H2A phosphorylation links ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling with DNA double-strand break repair." <u>Cell</u> **119**(6): 777-788.

van Leeuwen, F. and D. E. Gottschling (2002). "Genome-wide histone modifications: gaining specificity by preventing promiscuity." <u>Current Opinion in Cell Biology</u> **14**(6): 756-762.

van Steensel, B., A. Smogorzewska and T. de Lange (1998). "TRF2 protects human telomeres from end-to-end fusions." <u>Cell</u> **92**(3): 401-413.

Vastenhouw, N. L. and A. F. Schier (2012). "Bivalent histone modifications in early embryogenesis." <u>Curr Opin Cell Biol</u> **24**(3): 374-386.

Verreault, A., P. D. Kaufman, R. Kobayashi and B. Stillman (1998). "Nucleosomal DNA regulates the core-histone-binding subunit of the human Hat1 acetyltransferase." <u>Curr Biol</u> **8**(2): 96-108.

Vicent, G. P., R. H. Wright and M. Beato (2016). "Linker histones in hormonal gene regulation." <u>Biochim Biophys Acta</u> **1859**(3): 520-525.

Vogelstein, B., N. Papadopoulos, V. E. Velculescu, S. Zhou, L. A. Diaz, Jr. and K. W. Kinzler (2013). "Cancer genome landscapes." <u>Science</u> **339**(6127): 1546-1558.

Volpe, T. A., C. Kidner, I. M. Hall, G. Teng, S. I. S. Grewal and R. A. Martienssen (2002). "Regulation of heterochromatic silencing and histone H3 lysine-9 methylation by RNAi." <u>Science</u>297(5588): 1833-1837.

Wade, P. A. (2001). "Methyl CpG-binding proteins and transcriptional repression." <u>Bioessays</u> **23**(12): 1131-1137.

Wade, P. A., A. Gegonne, P. L. Jones, E. Ballestar, F. Aubry and A. P. Wolffe (1999). "Mi-2 complex couples DNA methylation to chromatin remodelling and histone deacetylation." <u>Nat Genet</u>**23**(Korber P1, #526): 62-66.

Wang, Y. G. and M. Dasso (2009). "SUMOylation and deSUMOylation at a glance." Journal of Cell Science **122**(23): 4249-4252.

Weidtkamp-Peters, S., T. Lenser, D. Negorev, N. Gerstner, T. G. Hofmann, G. Schwanitz, C. Hoischen, G. Maul, P. Dittrich and P. Hemmerich (2008). "Dynamics of component exchange at PML nuclear bodies." <u>J Cell Sci</u> **121**(Pt 16): 2731-2743.

Widom, J. (1998). "Structure, dynamics, and function of chromatin in vitro." <u>Annu Rev</u> <u>Biophys Biomol Struct</u> **27**: 285-327. Wiedemann, S. M., S. N. Mildner, C. Bonisch, L. Israel, A. Maiser, S. Matheisl, T. Straub, R. Merkl, H. Leonhardt, E. Kremmer, L. Schermelleh and S. B. Hake (2010). "Identification and characterization of two novel primate-specific histone H3 variants, H3.X and H3.Y." J Cell Biol **190**(5): 777-791.

Wilkinson, K. D. (2000). "Ubiquitination and deubiquitination: targeting of proteins for degradation by the proteasome." <u>Semin Cell Dev Biol</u> **11**(3): 141-148.

Winston, F. and M. Carlson (1992). "Yeast SNF/SWI transcriptional activators and the SPT/SIN chromatin connection." <u>Trends Genet</u> **8**(11): 387-391.

Witt, O., W. Albig and D. Doenecke (1996). "Testis-specific expression of a novel human H3 histone gene." <u>Exp Cell Res</u> **229**(2): 301-306.

Wohlschlegel, J. A., E. S. Johnson, S. I. Reed and J. R. Yates, 3rd (2004). "Global analysis of protein sumoylation in Saccharomyces cerevisiae." <u>J Biol Chem</u> **279**(44): 45662-45668.

Wong, L. H., J. D. McGhie, M. Sim, M. A. Anderson, S. Ahn, R. D. Hannan, A. J. George, K. A. Morgan, J. R. Mann and K. H. Choo (2010). "ATRX interacts with H3.3 in maintaining telomere structural integrity in pluripotent embryonic stem cells." <u>Genome Res</u> **20**(3): 351-360.

Wong, L. H., J. D. McGhie, M. Sim, M. A. Anderson, S. Ahn, R. D. Hannan, A. J. George, K. A. Morgan, J. R. Mann and K. H. A. Choo (2010). "ATRX interacts with H3.3 in maintaining telomere structural integrity in pluripotent embryonic stem cells." <u>Genome Research</u> **20**(3): 351-360.

Wong, L. H., H. Ren, E. Williams, J. McGhie, S. Ahn, M. Sim, A. Tam, E. Earle, M. A. Anderson, J. Mann and K. H. A. Choo (2009). "Histone H3.3 incorporation provides a unique and functionally essential telomeric chromatin in embryonic stem cells." <u>Genome Research</u> **19**(3): 404-414.

Wood, A., J. Schneider and A. Shilatifard (2005). "Cross-talking histones: implications for the regulation of gene expression and DNA repair." <u>Biochem Cell</u> <u>Biol</u> **83**(4): 460-467.

Woodcock, C. L. and R. P. Ghosh (2010). "Chromatin higher-order structure and dynamics." <u>Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol</u> **2**(5): a000596.

Woodland, O. a. (1984). "Histone genes: not so simple after all." <u>cell</u> **38**(3): 624-626.

Wu, M. F., Y. Sang, S. Bezhani, N. Yamaguchi, S. K. Han, Z. Li, Y. Su, T. L. Slewinski and D. Wagner (2012). "SWI2/SNF2 chromatin remodeling ATPases overcome polycomb repression and control floral organ identity with the LEAFY and SEPALLATA3 transcription factors." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **109**(9): 3576-3581.

Xue, Y., R. Gibbons, Z. Yan, D. Yang, T. L. McDowell, S. Sechi, J. Qin, S. Zhou, D. Higgs and W. Wang (2003). "The ATRX syndrome protein forms a chromatin-remodeling complex with Daxx and localizes in promyelocytic leukemia nuclear bodies." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **100**(19): 10635-10640.

Xiong, C. Y., Z. Q. Wen, J. Yu, J. Chen, C. P. Liu, X. D. Zhang, P. Chen, R. M. Xu and G. H. Li (2018). "UBN1/2 of HIRA complex is responsible for recognition and deposition of H3.3 at cis- regulatory elements of genes in mouse ES cells." <u>Bmc Biology</u> **16**.

Yamamoto, Y., U. N. Verma, S. Prajapati, Y. T. Kwak and R. B. Gaynor (2003). "Histone H3 phosphorylation by IKK-alpha is critical for cytokine-induced gene expression." <u>Nature</u> **423**(6940): 655-659.

Yang, X., R. Khosravi-Far, H. Y. Chang and D. Baltimore (1997). "Daxx, a novel Fasbinding protein that activates JNK and apoptosis." <u>Cell</u> **89**(7): 1067-1076.

Yang, X. J., H. Han, D. D. De Carvalho, F. D. Lay, P. A. Jones and G. N. Liang (2014). "Gene Body Methylation Can Alter Gene Expression and Is a Therapeutic Target in Cancer." <u>Cancer Cell</u>**26**(4): 577-590.

Ye, X., B. Zerlanko, R. Zhang, N. Somaiah, M. Lipinski, P. Salomoni and P. D. Adams (2007). "Definition of pRB- and p53-dependent and -independent steps in HIRA/ASF1a-mediated formation of senescence-associated heterochromatin foci." <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> **27**(7): 2452-2465.

Yuen, B. T., K. M. Bush, B. L. Barrilleaux, R. Cotterman and P. S. Knoepfler (2014). "Histone H3.3 regulates dynamic chromatin states during spermatogenesis." <u>Development</u> **141**(18): 3483-3494.

Zalensky, A. O., J. S. Siino, A. A. Gineitis, I. A. Zalenskaya, N. V. Tomilin, P. Yau and E. M. Bradbury (2002). "Human testis/sperm-specific histone H2B (hTSH2B) - Molecular cloning and characterization." Journal of Biological Chemistry **277**(45): 43474-43480.

Zeitlin, S. G., R. D. Shelby and K. F. Sullivan (2001). "CENP-A is phosphorylated by Aurora B kinase and plays an unexpected role in completion of cytokinesis." <u>Journal of Cell Biology</u>**155**(7): 1147-1157.

Zhang, Y., H. H. Ng, H. Erdjument-Bromage, P. Tempst, A. Bird and D. Reinberg (1999). "Analysis of the NuRD subunits reveals a histone deacetylase core complex and a connection with DNA methylation." <u>Genes Dev</u> **13**(15): 1924-1935.

Zhong, S., P. Salomoni, S. Ronchetti, A. Guo, D. Ruggero and P. P. Pandolfi (2000). "Promyelocytic leukemia protein (PML) and Daxx participate in a novel nuclear pathway for apoptosis." <u>Journal of Experimental Medicine</u> **191**(4): 631-639. Zhou, L. Q., B. Baibakov, B. Canagarajah, B. Xiong and J. Dean (2017). "Genetic mosaics and time-lapse imaging identify functions of histone H3.3 residues in mouse oocytes and embryos." <u>Development</u> **144**(3): 519-528.

Zhou, Y. and I. Grummt (2005). "The PHD finger/bromodomain of NoRC interacts with acetylated histone H4K16 and is sufficient for rDNA silencing." <u>Curr Biol</u> **15**(15): 1434-1438.

Zlatanova, J. and A. Thakar (2008). "H2A.Z: View from the top." <u>Structure</u> **16**(2): 166-179.

Zofall, M. and S. I. Grewal (2006). "Swi6/HP1 recruits a JmjC domain protein to facilitate transcription of heterochromatic repeats." <u>Mol Cell</u> **22**(5): 681-692.







Résumé

La chaperone d'histones DAXX cible H3.3 à l'hétérochromatine péricentrique et télomérique d'une manière indépendante de la réplication. Le mécanisme qui assure le recrutement de DAXX dans les régions hétérochromatiques est largement inconnu. En utilisant des approches protéomiques et biochimiques, nous montrons qu'en plus du complexe bien connu ATRX/H3.3, DAXX forme un complexe alternatif avec CAF-1, ADNP, HP1 et Trim28. DAXX interagit physiquement avec la partie C-terminal de la sous-unité CAF1-p150 via son domaine N-terminal. Le domaine SIM de DAXX est essentiel a son ciblage aux corps PML et pour le recrutement de CAF-1 à l'hétérochromatine. Nos données génomiques montrent que DAXX cible CAF-1 au chromosome X et aux éléments répétés. L'inactivation de DAXX entraîne une déplétion importante de CAF-1 des éléments répétés SINEs et LINEs du chromosome X. Nos données révèlent une nouvelle fonction de DAXX et de CAF-1 dans le ciblage de H3.3 au chromosome X.

Mots-clés : Histone variante H3.3, Histone chaperonne DAXX, CAF-1, Chromosome X, Eléments répétés SINEs et LINEs.

Summary

The histone chaperone DAXX targets H3.3 to pericentric and telomeric heterochromatin in a replication independent manner. The mechanism that ensures appropriate recruitment of DAXX to heterochromatic region is largely unknown. Using proteomic and biochemical approaches, we show that in addition to the well-known ATRX/H3.3 complex, DAXX forms an alternative complex with CAF-1, ADNP, HP1 \checkmark and Trim28. DAXX physically interact with the C-terminus of CAF1-p150 subunit through its N-terminal domain. The DAXX SIM domain was found to be essential for targeting DAXX to PML-NBs, for the recruitment of CAF-1 to heterochromatin. Our genomic data further revealed that DAXX targets CAF-1 to X-chromosome and repetitive elements. Inactivation of DAXX results in major depletion of CAF-1 from X-chromosome SINEs and LINEs. Our data point to a novel function of DAXX and CAF-1 in targeting H3.3 to X-chromosome.

Keywords : Histone variant H3.3, Histone chaperone DAXX, CAF-1, X chromosome, repetitives elements SINEs and LINEs.